

Human Rights & Climate Change

21st Informal ASEM Seminar on Human Rights

16-18 March 2022 | Luxembourg | Online



Human Rights and Climate Change

Seminar Proceedings of the 21st Informal ASEM Seminar on Human Rights (ASEMHRS21)

16 - 18 MARCH 2022 | LUXEMBOURG | ONLINE

Co-organised by:















Hosted by:





Supported by the Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency





Published by:

Asia-Europe Foundation (ASEF)

31 Heng Mui Keng Terrace Singapore 119595

ISBN 978-981-18-1453-2

Cover, illustrations, and layout design by Michelle Flores-Santos Edited by Margaret Thomas

© Asia-Europe Foundation (ASEF) 2022

Human Rights and Climate Chage: Seminar Proceedings of the 21st Informal ASEM Seminar on Human Rights. The electronic version of this publication is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-Non Commercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0). This means that non-commercial use of text or parts of texts for educational purposes is allowed; attribution should be made for the work of both individual authors and to publishers, including ASEF's URL (www.asef.org). More information about the license can be found at http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/

Please inform ASEF about any non-commercial use. We also welcome inquiries for commercial use or translation at humanrights.seminar@asef.org

The contents of this document are the responsibility of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views or opinions of the organisers of the 21st Informal ASEM Seminar on Human Rights, namely the Asia-Europe Foundation (ASEF), the Raoul Wallenberg Institute, the French Ministry for Europe and Foreign Affairs, the Philippine Department of Foreign Affairs, the Swiss Federal Department of Foreign Affairs and the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the People's Republic of China. This publication was produced with the financial support of the European Union. Its contents are the sole responsibility of ASEF and do not necessarily reflect the views of the European Union.

Contents

1	Executive Summary	4
2	ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	6
3	HUMAN RIGHTS IS AN OBLIGATION, NOT AN OPTION, IN ALL CLIMATE ACTION David BOYD, United Nations Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and the Environment	8
4	WE MUST PLACE PEOPLE'S RIGHTS AT THE HEART OF THE RESPONSE TO CLIMATE CHANGE Michelle BACHELET, UN High Commissioner for Human Rights	11
5	RESPECT FOR HUMAN RIGHTS IS VITAL AS WE GET TO GRIPS WITH THE CLIMATE CRISIS Jean ASSELBORN, Minister of Foreign and European Affairs of the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg	14
6	THE GUIDELINES TO PROTECT HUMAN RIGHTS IN CLIMATE CHANGE ACTION ARE IN PLACE: IT IS NOW TIME TO ACT Report of the 21st Informal ASEM Seminar on Human Rights	17
7	BACKGROUND ON HUMAN RIGHTS AND CLIMATE CHANGE Annalisa SAVARESI	52
8	EUROPE AND ASIA HAVE A COMMON RESPONSIBILITY TO MANAGE CLIMATE CHANGE AND HELP THE MOST VULNERABLE Eamon GILMORE, EU Special Representative for Human Rights	98
9	HUMAN RIGHTS AND THE EFFECTS OF CLIMATE CHANGE GO HAND IN HAND Carole DIESCHBOURG, Minister for the Environment, Climate and Sustainable Development, Grand Duchy of Luxembourg	101
10	THE DISCUSSION ABOUT CLIMATE CHANGE AND HUMAN RIGHTS CANNOT TAKE PLACE IN SILOS Achsanul HABIB, Director for Human Rights and Humanitarian Affairs, Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Republic of Indonesia	104
11	Annex 1: Seminar Programme	107
12	Annex 2: List of Participants	110
13	Annex 3: Concept Note/End Notes	119
14	Glossary	139
15	Annex 4: About the Co-Organisers/ About the Host/About ASEM	141

Executive Summary

The 21st Informal ASEM Seminar on Human Rights discussed the importance of protecting human rights as the world tackles the challenges of climate change. Participants agreed that key guidelines for this are already in place, and it is now time to act. Human rights must be at the heart of all climate action – mitigation, adaptation, and addressing loss & damage. It is an obligation, not an option. The Seminar brought together more than 150 government officials, academics, and civil society experts, representing 47 ASEM Partner countries. It was a hybrid event held over three days in Luxembourg, with some attending physically and others virtually.

BACKGROUND

Climate change caused by human activity is denying or limiting the access of many people to a wide range of human rights. These include the right to adequate housing, food, water, and sanitation, the right to work, and even the right to life. Meanwhile, steps being taken to tackle climate change, such as cutting back on the use of natural resources, can drastically affect people's human rights. The Seminar participants discussed these issues and shared best practices and innovative ideas about how human rights can and should be taken into account in climate change policies and actions.

KEY MESSAGES

- A. Climate change is a pressing global challenge and has serious impact on human rights.
- B. We must address human rights violations that are caused by climate change and the steps taken to deal with it. The most urgent are the issues of loss and damage, and climate change-induced migration and internal displacement.
- C. Human rights treaties and other mechanisms at the national, regional, and international level can be used to monitor and sanction climate change-related human rights violations.
- D. These mechanisms must be strengthened to ensure state and corporate accountability for climate change.
- E. The switch away from fossil fuels and towards net-zero emissions must be managed with human rights in mind to ensure there is a fair and just transition and no one is left behind.

RECOMMENDATIONS

ASEM Member States should:

- Cooperate to ensure that human rights are taken into consideration in international, regional, and national climate action.
- Support the recognition of the right to a clean, healthy, and sustainable environment at the national, regional, and international level, including the upcoming recognition by the UN General Assembly.
- 3. Be alert to the human rights implications of climate policies and measures and ensure that there are no undesirable outcomes in the pursuit of climate objectives.

- 4. Engage with international **finance bodies** to ensure that their policies and funding criteria fully align with human rights. And scale up climate finance to address human rights violations associated with climate change.
- 5. Ensure greater accountability of state and **corporate actors** for climate action and train judges and lawyers to support this crucial mission.
- 6. Ensure that their official **development assistance** is targeted at climate-friendly activities which align with human rights obligations.
- 7. Note that **nationally determined contributions (NDCs)** submitted under the Paris Agreement contribute to the promotion and protection of human rights. Ensure that NDCs are prepared and implemented in a participatory manner.
- 8. Ensure that national climate policies and legislation are developed with meaningful and effective public participation, especially of vulnerable groups. Use international instruments such as the Aarhus Convention on Access to Information, Public Participation in Decision-making, and Access to Justice in Environmental Matters to facilitate the sharing of good practices and to protect the right to participate.
- 9. Recognise and address the entrenched drivers of vulnerability and inequality, and mainstream **gender equality** into climate policies, programmes, and action.
- 10. Empower National Human Rights Institutes (NHRIs) and other similar bodies to address human rights concerns associated with the impacts of climate change and climate change response measures.
- 11. Support civil society and youth-led initiatives, especially with adequate financing. Make sure civil society and communities participate in climate policymaking and enable them for this with training and capacity building.
- 12. Protect the rights of **future generations** and empower **youth representatives** in climate change decision-making processes at the national, regional, and international level. Make sure there are official youth delegations at relevant international forums.
- 13. Protect environmental human rights defenders (EHRDs) against harassment and prosecution.
- 14. Find durable intergovernmental solutions to address climate change-induced human displacement and migration. Commit to implementing the Global Compact for Safe, Orderly and Regular Migration, Global Compact on Refugees, and the Nansen Protection Agenda to address climate displacement.
- 15. Adopt mechanisms to recognise and integrate the skills of the indigenous communities in climate actions.
- 16. Engage with the **Special Rapporteur on the protection of human rights in the context of climate change** and support his mandate to promote and exchange views on lessons learned and best practices on human rights-based, gender-responsive, age-sensitive, disability-inclusive, and risk-informed approaches to climate change adaptation and mitigation.

Acknowledgements

In 2021, the United National Human Rights Council officially recognised that access to a healthy environment was a fundamental human right. This achievement, in no small measure, is seen as the culmination of decades-long endeavours by many communities around the world, civil society movements, NGOs, activists, and policymakers who continue to pursue environmental justice – where no individual is made to suffer rights violations as a result of environmental changes beyond their control.

Yet, the repercussions of climate change on the various fundamental rights of people, and how a human rights-based approach to climate change adaptation and mitigation can be implemented, continue to elicit differing opinions from various sectors of the community.

As a means of addressing challenges ensuing from climate change-led human rights violations via informal discourse, nearly 200 delegates gathered to discuss the issue of Human Rights and Climate Change at the 21st Informal ASEM Seminar on Human Rights (ASEMHRS21) held on 16-18 March 2022 as a hybrid event in Luxembourg.

The Seminar assembled an impressive group of experts, academics, and government officials from 47 countries in Asia and Europe. Over the course of three days, they discussed and shared experiences on the most pertinent issues related to this year's Seminar.

The findings and recommendations from the Seminar were invaluable in fostering international cooperation and knowledge-sharing, very much in the spirit of the Asia-Europe Foundation, which are pivotal to addressing the rights violations brought about by environmental degradation, and its impact on social and political stability.

On behalf of the ASEF, I would like to thank each and every participant for making the 21st Informal ASEM Seminar on Human Rights a success. Despite the hybrid nature of the event, we sincerely hope that the Seminar has met its objectives, especially that of providing a forum for exchange and network-building to carry forward the reinforcement of human rights in the course of climate action.

We are especially grateful to our host for ASEMHRS21, the Ministry of Foreign and European Affairs of the Government of the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg, for lending a hand in coordinating and planning the event.

We extend special thanks to our keynote speakers; Ms Michelle BACHELET, United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights; Dr David R. BOYD, United Nations Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and Environment, and finally; Mr Jean ASSELBORN, Minister of Foreign and European Affairs, Grand Duchy of Luxembourg. Their long-standing commitment to the causes enabled them to lend their expertise to the Seminar, enriching the whole experience.

Our deep gratitude goes to Dr Annalisa SAVARESI for her tireless work as the lead rapporteur and for providing the Seminar with a comprehensive background paper which was instrumental in orienting discussions. We also thank Dr Stellina JOLLY, Dr Linda Yanti SULISTIAWATI and Mr Sebastien DUYCK for their expertise and commitment as rapporteurs and for their contributions to this publication.

We would like to express our sincere appreciation to our four moderators, Dr Sabin BIERI, Professor Robert HARMSEN, Ms Caleen C. OBIAS, and Mr Md. Ekhtekharul ISLAM for their adept facilitation of the working groups. We would also like to thank Mr Eamon GILMORE, European Union's Special Representative for Human Rights; Ms Irum AHSAN, Lawyer and environmental and climate rights specialist; Mr Roberto Eugenio CADIZ, Commissioner from the Commission of Human Rights of the Philippines; and Ms Marie-Claire GRAF, Swiss representative of Youth Constituency of the UNFCCC (YOUNGO) for their insightful contributions to the closing discussion. We are also grateful to Ms Carole DIESCHBOURG, Minister for the Environment, Climate and Sustainable Development of Luxembourg, and Mr Achsanul HABIB, Director for Human Rights and Humanitarian Affairs, Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Republic of Indonesia, for delivering the closing remarks.

Once again, our sincere gratitude goes to the co-organisers of the Seminar series, the Raoul Wallenberg Institute, the French Ministry for Europe and Foreign Affairs, the Philippine Department of Foreign Affairs, the Federal Department of Foreign Affairs Switzerland, and the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the People's Republic of China, who continue to provide valuable support and assistance at each Human Rights Seminar. We would also like to convey our deep appreciation to our Steering Committee for providing their invaluable commitment and counsel that ensure each Seminar is able to focus on issues at the forefront of human rights.

Finally, I would like to thank my staff from the Asia-Europe Foundation, in particular: Ambassador Leon FABER, Ms Armi Hannele AARNI, Mr Simon PIOLDI, and Ms Elizabeth DY. Their tireless work and dedication in the planning and execution of ASEMHRS21 is truly commendable.

Ambassador Toru MORIKAWA

Executive Director

Asia-Europe Foundation (ASEF)

HUMAN RIGHTS IS AN OBLIGATION, NOT AN OPTION, IN ALL CLIMATE ACTION

Dr David BOYD, United Nations Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and the Environment (Keynote address at the 21st Informal ASEM Seminar on Human Rights)

Ladies and gentlemen

Good morning! Delighted to be joining you in person for this important conference!

The latest reports from the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) confirm that we are living in a climate emergency. Last August's WGI (Working Group I) report on physical climate science described the unexpectedly rapid intensification of impacts, including extreme weather events. The UN Secretary General said this is code red for humanity.

In February, the IPCC's WGII issued a report on adaptation, outlining 127 key risks to human health and well-being. The UN Secretary General described this report as an atlas of human suffering.

On Canada's west coast, where I live, temperatures in a 'heat dome' reached 50 degrees Celsius. More than 600 people died, mainly older persons and persons living in poverty. Two months later we endured an 'atmospheric river' that inflicted unprecedented volumes of rain, destroying infrastructure at a cost of many billions of dollars.

The global climate crisis is also a human rights crisis. The rights to life, health, food, water, cultural rights, the rights of the child and of course the right to a healthy environment are all being jeopardised and violated on a daily basis. The adverse impacts fall disproportionately upon the shoulders of poor, vulnerable, and marginalised populations.

In my role as special rapporteur, I have witnessed the devastation caused by climate change. I visited Vunidogoloa, a village in Fiji that had to be completely relocated because of rising sea levels, storm surges, and saltwater contamination of their drinking water and agricultural lands. I met other Fijians who lost their homes in tropical cyclones. They were living in rough informal settlements, suffering from typhoid fever outbreaks because of flooding exacerbated by climate change.

I've met pastoralists in Kenya whose livestock starved to death because of drought, pushing people into extreme poverty. I met Indigenous Sami people in northern Norway whose traditional culture based on reindeer herding is jeopardised by warm and erratic winter weather.

It is clear that the people of Fiji, Kenya, and other climate-vulnerable nations and Indigenous people have almost zero responsibility in causing climate change. And yet, they are bearing the costs of losing their homes and livelihoods, relocating, and rebuilding their communities. I share these stories because most of the people at this conference are likely from G20 nations, nations that cause 80%

of emissions today, and an even higher proportion historically. The G20 must lead the way in cutting emissions, and in paying for both adaptation and loss and damage.

In addition to the terrible COVID-19 pandemic, we face a second pandemic whose effects, if you can imagine it, may be even more devastating. I'm referring to the massive increase in mental health problems, particularly afflicting young people. An article published in The Lancet in December described a study of 10,000 youths and their attitudes related to the climate crisis. It found 77% are frightened of the future, 56% believe humanity is doomed, and 40% do not want to bring children into the dystopian world they envision.

Three decades ago, governments negotiated the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change, pledging to prevent dangerous anthropogenic interference with the Earth's climate system.

Twenty-six COPs later, this commitment has not been met. The burning of coal, natural gas, and oil have all skyrocketed. Global GHG emissions have jumped more than 65% since 1992. Humanity is nowhere near achieving the promises of the Paris Agreement.

The Achilles heel of international environmental law is a lack of effective compliance and enforcement mechanisms, resulting in a lack of accountability.

The world's leading scientific bodies are calling for rapid, systemic, and transformative changes.

This is where human rights have a potentially powerful role to play. We know from events of recent centuries that human rights can be a catalyst for transformative changes in society. The abolitionists invoked freedom and equality in successfully ending slavery. Women, the civil rights movement, the anti-apartheid movement, and Indigenous peoples have all used human rights to catalyse societal transformations. Human rights are not an instant, easy, or omnipotent solution, but history proves that rights can be powerful game changers.

I am excited to report that last October, the UN Human Rights Council adopted a resolution recognising, **for the first time at the global level**, that everyone, everywhere, has the right to live in a clean, healthy, and sustainable environment, a right that includes a safe climate.

Although not legally binding, this resolution will be a catalyst for more ambitious action at the national level. We can look back at the 2010 UN resolution on the right to water to see what kind of impacts these resolutions have. A number of countries, including Costa Rica, Fiji, Mexico, Slovenia, and Tunisia added the right to water to their constitutions, their highest and strongest laws. Other nations, from Colombia to France, added this right to legislation.

And most importantly, nations accelerated efforts to fulfil the right to water. Mexico has extended clean drinking water to more than 1,000 rural communities in the past decade. Slovenia has prioritised securing water for Roma communities living in informal settlements. In Canada, safe drinking infrastructure has been built in partnership with 117 Indigenous communities that suffered without clean water for decades.

Human rights are beginning to spark positive change in climate action:

- · Powerful new climate legislation with a HR focus, e.g. in the Philippines, Mexico and Fiji.
- An inspiring fusion of human rights experts and climate experts to develop Uruguay's climate
 action plan. I note that Uruguay has gone from being primarily dependent on imported fossil
 fuels for generating electricity to being almost exclusively dependent on domestic renewables.
- A growing number of States incorporating human rights into their Nationally Determined Contributions, including leaders where HR are at the heart of their plans, such as Costa Rica, the Maldives, and the Marshall Islands. I note that Costa Rica generates 99% of its electricity from renewables and prohibits oil and gas development.
- More than 40 nations joining the Powering Past Coal Coalition, pledging to end coal use for electricity by 2030.
- At least 10 states that generate 95-100% of their electricity from renewables Albania, DRC, Costa Rica, Iceland, Namibia, Norway, Paraguay, Tajikistan, Uruguay, Zambia.
- A growing number of cases where courts have used human rights to hold governments and businesses responsible for taking much more ambitious climate action – in the Netherlands, Germany, Colombia, and more. Two cases in recent month – in Argentina and South Africa – where courts have struck down offshore oil and gas exploration permits as violating the right to a healthy environment because of adverse impacts on whales and other marine mammals.

The bottom line is this. Human rights must be at the heart of all climate action – mitigation, adaptation, and addressing loss & damage. This must be recognised as an obligation, not an option.

We must all seize the moment and use the right to a healthy environment as a battering ram to knock down the walls of resistance that are holding us back from making the rapid, systemic, and transformative changes necessary to address the climate crisis and accelerate progress toward the 2030 Sustainable Development Goals.

The time for talk is over. It's time for action.

Thank you for listening and I hope we can work together in the months and years ahead.

WE MUST PLACE PEOPLE'S RIGHTS AT THE HEART OF THE RESPONSE TO CLIMATE CHANGE

Michelle BACHELET, UN High Commissioner for Human Rights

(Keynote address at the 21st Informal ASEM Seminar on Human Rights)

Ambassador Morikawa, Excellencies, Colleagues and friends,

It is a pleasure to be with you all today. I want to thank the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg, along with the co-organisers, for hosting this seminar, and for your principled leadership to advance international solidarity in our climate crisis.

The ASEM is exactly the kind of multilateral platform that we need at a time when the world is facing multiple human rights challenges, including the triple planetary crises of climate change, pollution, and biodiversity loss.

As the United Nations Secretary-General has outlined in **Our Common Agenda**, multilateralism is key to advancing human rights and sustainable development for all, in a world that is better able to handle interlinked challenges such as climate change, the continuing pandemic, growing hunger, extreme poverty, and injustice.

Environmental degradation is among the greatest threats that humanity faces, and addressing it must be at the core of all policy making. We are running out of time.

In terms of global policymaking, 2021 saw two milestones related to human rights, climate change, and the environment at the Human Rights Council:

The Council recognized that a clean, healthy, and sustainable environment is a universal human right. Its **resolution 48/13** recognised environmental degradation and climate change as interconnected human rights crises, and acknowledged the massive damage inflicted by climate change and environmental destruction on millions of people worldwide.

The Council's resolution 48/14 also created a Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and Climate Change. This will contribute to increased expert knowledge and awareness about the range and severity of human rights impact from climate change. It will support the resilience and adaptive capacities of people in vulnerable situations to respond to these adverse impacts.

Environmental degradation affects a wide range of human rights, including the rights to life, to self-determination, to development, to health, to food, water and sanitation, adequate housing, and cultural rights. It can lead to social tensions and fuel conflict over resources. Its heaviest burdens are shouldered by those who are always least protected from harm – people and communities who are already in vulnerable situations, because of poverty, sex, age, disability, migration status, or any other factor leading to discrimination. This harms all of society.

Across Asia, Europe and every other region of the world, climate change is already damaging lives, affecting livelihoods, and curtailing rights. In such a context, States have an obligation under international human rights law to take mitigating measures to prevent human rights harms caused by climate change, and to provide people with the means to adapt. They have a responsibility to mobilise the maximum available resources for sustainable, human rights-based development. And they have a duty to support climate action.

Many low-income countries are among the hardest hit – and they cannot do this work alone. International cooperation and assistance for climate change mitigation, adaptation, and loss and damage is essential to address the effects of climate change on those who face its worst impacts.

I therefore welcome recent commitments by a number of States, including Luxembourg, to bolster international climate finance, particularly mitigation and adaptation assistance. Luxembourg's International Climate Finance Strategy for 2021-2025 doubles its international climate funding to 200 million Euro – a significant step in the right direction. In 2020, the European Investment Bank committed 37 per cent of its financing to fight climate change.

At the regional level, the European Climate Law requires all European Union member States to significantly reduce net greenhouse gas emission by 2030 and achieve climate neutrality by 2050. The recently launched ASEAN State of Climate Change Report presents a number of climate action measures needed to move towards the ASEAN 2050 Climate Vision and transit towards net-zero greenhouse gas emissions.

A wide number of countries are taking climate action. In January, the government of Indonesia announced the revocation of 192 palm oil and forestry permits, as part of its efforts to reach its net carbon sink target by 2030.

But far more needs to be done to fulfil existing climate finance commitments, and to meaningfully address the loss and damage that is already being suffered by so many. We are dangerously close to the crucial 1.5° temperature threshold established by the Paris Agreement. If Europe and Asia can work together to meaningfully combat climate change through human rights-based action, they can bring much needed relief to our entire planet.

We need to place people's rights at the heart of the response to climate change, and ensure that no one is left behind. This means prioritising the views, the needs, and the protection of marginalised groups and others in vulnerable situations.

They, like everyone, have a right to meaningful and informed participation in climate policymaking, and to access justice for the harms they suffer. Together with the right to access information about climate change, these are critical elements of the human rights-based approach to policymaking.

According to the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, risks from climate change can be reduced through rights-based approaches that focus on capacity-building, meaningful participation of the most vulnerable groups, and their access to key resources, including financing.

By empowering the people and communities at the forefront of the climate crisis, human-rights based climate action increases their resilience and effectiveness as agents of change. Women, youth, and indigenous peoples – many of whom act as environmental human rights defenders – are crucial partners in the efforts to protect the environment.

Human Rights Council resolution 40/11 highlighted the critical linkages between the work of environmental human rights defenders and the public's enjoyment of human rights, environmental protection and sustainable development – and it called for States to better protect their lives and rights.

The UN Secretary-General has also called for better protection for environmental human rights defenders, who face increasing threats to their lives and work in numerous countries, often with little hope for accountability. My Office is assisting the development of detailed, practical guidance on this issue. We stand ready to support States in their efforts to address all aspects of the climate crisis through a human rights-based approach.

For example, OHCHR's South-East Asia Regional Office strongly advocates a human rights-based approach in States' climate actions, with a focus on the right to participation. With South East Asia among the world's most lethal regions for environmental human rights defenders, protecting their valuable work is a priority.

Recommendations to be issued by the first dedicated forum for environmental human rights defenders in the Asia-Pacific region – which we were honoured to organise – provide useful guidance regarding accountability for threats or violence against environmental human rights and recognition of the value of their work, among other points.

Children are also profoundly impacted by climate change and environmental damage, and we have partnered with UNEP and UNICEF in publishing **Principles and Policy Guidance on Children's Rights to a Safe, Clean, Healthy and Sustainable Environment in the ASEAN Region.** In May, we will host an Asia Regional Dialogue on Climate Justice for Children, Youth and Future Generations.

Excellencies,

Failure to adopt human rights-based policy to fight climate change will increase people's suffering; fuel greater grievances; undermine development policy; and lead to greater poverty, greater displacement, and higher risks of conflict.

There is a better way. This seminar can make a difference, by contributing to deeper, more meaningful collaboration between Asia and Europe to advance human rights-based environmental action towards our joint goal of stopping the triple planetary crisis.

Please know that my Office is committed to supporting you in this work. I wish you productive and action-oriented discussions.

Thank you.

RESPECT FOR HUMAN RIGHTS IS VITAL AS WE GET TO GRIPS WITH THE CLIMATE CRISIS

Jean ASSELBORN, Minister of Foreign and European Affairs of the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg (Keynote address at the 21st Informal ASEM Seminar on Human Rights)

Excellencies, Ladies and Gentlemen,

It's a great honour for me to welcome you to the Asia-Europe Meeting's 21st Informal Seminar on Human Rights, here in Luxembourg. This gathering of two regions representing 60% of the world's population could not be timelier. In the face of the ongoing war against Ukraine, we must remember that some of the most serious human rights violations are perpetrated during armed conflict. Luxembourg strongly condemns the military aggression against Ukraine and urges Russia to fold back.

While the world has changed over the last two weeks, the geopolitical nature of it has not: Russia remains our neighbour in the East and must therefore ensure a return to peace and stability in the future.

At last year's ASEM Summit, our leaders came together to show their commitment to a strengthened multilateralism between Asia and Europe. They made it clear that no country, no region, can deal with challenges such as the COVID-19 pandemic, protectionism, and climate change alone. This rings particularly true today. Now, more than ever, it is imperative to foster even greater cooperation between our two regions.

While threats to peace and stability and humanitarian crises are undeniably at the top of our agenda, we cannot overlook more underlying concerns. The impacts of climate change continue to have disastrous consequences on people's lives and livelihoods, particularly in Asia. Rising temperatures and changes in the intensity of rainfall, river flow, floods, and droughts are already affecting the livelihoods of millions of people that rely on natural resources. No one is immune to the impact of climate change, pollution, and biodiversity loss.

What is more, climate change is a direct threat to human rights. Last October, the UN Human Rights Council formally recognised the universal human right to a clean, healthy, and sustainable environment, calling on all countries to work together, with all partners involved, to implement this ground-breaking resolution. The Council also established a new Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and Climate change. Luxembourg supported this mandate from the beginning. As we face the drastic effects of the climate crisis, we must consider the protection of every human being's human rights, at any time, in any place.

As a newly elected member of the Human Rights Council, Luxembourg intends to do just that. Along with our three priorities on the support for rule of law, civic space, and human rights defenders; on gender equality and the fight against discrimination; and the protection and promotion of children's

rights, my country strives to promote sustainable development and climate action based on human rights. Luxembourg is committed to adopting an approach that is guided by solidarity, multilateral cooperation, and adherence to the rights-based international order in all climate action projects.

In that respect, Luxembourg is proud to host this year's Seminar on human rights and climate change. By providing an interregional platform that allows all parties to connect beyond the existing multilateral fora, the ASEM process operates as a backbone to the Human Rights Council's work. Here, we can exchange views and best practices in an informal setting, adopting a whole-of- society approach. This is why I am particularly honoured to welcome delegates from the academic, private, and civil society sectors, who will join the conversation along with State officials and government representatives. Together, they will discuss the resilience of communities through information and public participation and come up with innovative ideas to fight climate change at the international level. They will address the protection of human rights of all persons affected and take a look at the national and international human rights regimes in place to protect against the consequences of climate change.

This cross-sector dialogue is key to the ASEM process. Only through mutual understanding, respect, and cooperation between States and sectors can ASEM's objectives of peace and stability, economic growth, and sustainable partnership be realised.

Luxembourg is a reliable partner on that path. As an outspoken promoter of peace, and through our mandate at the Human Rights Council, we want to ensure that the dialogue happening here results in concrete and concerted actions worldwide, securing benefits for our two regions and beyond.

Ladies and Gentlemen, as the host of this Seminar, Luxembourg wants to highlight the impacts of climate change on human rights. This is a field that remains overlooked even if slowly gaining traction. Indeed, as the lands continue to dry out and the sea levels continue to rise, the inhabitants of the affected regions, often among the poorest on the planet, are increasingly forced to leave their homes. It will be, if it isn't already, a matter of survival – nothing less.

In that regard, Luxembourg is honoured to have been nominated, together with Bangladesh, co-facilitators of the Progress Declaration on the Global Compact for Safe, Orderly and Regular Migration. This Declaration will be an opportunity to assess our achievements so far and to share a vision for the future, embedded in international frameworks such as the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, which will help us to continuously improve the rights and well-being of migrants and host countries. It is therefore with great honour that Luxembourg will present a panel discussion on the situation of human rights in climate change-induced migration later this morning.

Luxembourg is driven by its commitment to protecting human rights, specifically in the area of climate change. As we make our way towards a post-COVID economic recovery, the role of the financial sector is key. It will help channel sustainable investment and finance the green and digital transition. The development of sustainable finance is, therefore, a key priority for Luxembourg.

In 2017, Luxembourg set up a joint Climate Finance Platform with the European Investment Bank to mobilise and support investment in international climate finance, focusing on climate change mitigation and adaptation. Following in these footsteps, Luxembourg committed €220 million to international climate finance, half of which will go to adaptation to climate change in the most vulnerable countries. This is the highest amount per capita of any country.

Additionally, thanks to the Luxembourg Green Exchange, Luxembourg is the listing centre for half the world's listed green bonds, providing transparency and access to sustainable securities for global investors, accounting for more than 20% of global assets in ESG funds.

As ASEM comes together today, we must continue our common commitment to ambitious climate goals, underlining the strong link between sustainable development, the fight against climate change, and respect for human rights. Especially today, ASEM takes on new importance in creating a bridge of dialogue, solidarity, and trust between our two regions.

Thank you.

SEMINAR REPORT

THE GUIDELINES TO PROTECT HUMAN RIGHTS IN CLIMATE CHANGE ACTION ARE IN PLACE: IT IS NOW TIME TO ACT

(Report of the 21st Informal ASEM Seminar on Human Rights)

Introduction

Human induced climate change affects the enjoyment of a wide range of internationally recognised human rights – including the right to life, the right to adequate food, the right to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health, the right to adequate housing, the right to self-determination, the right to safe drinking water and sanitation, the right to work, and the right to development. At the same time, measures adopted to tackle climate change and its impacts (often called 'climate change response measures') may themselves negatively affect the enjoyment of human rights. This is especially the case for measures constraining access to, and use of, natural resources – such as land, water, and forests – which can in turn hinder the enjoyment of rights – such as the right to culture, food, access to safe drinking water and sanitation, and to respect for private and family life. So, while climate change is a major aggravating factor hindering the enjoyment of human rights, at times human rights considerations may be perceived to stand in the way of climate change response measures and projects. And even if in principle there is no incompatibility between action to tackle climate change and the protection of human rights, in practice policy conflicts between the two do emerge.

The 21st Informal ASEM Seminar on Human Rights engaged with the topical theme of 'Human Rights and Climate Change'. The Seminar was organised by the Asia-Europe Foundation (ASEF), the Raoul Wallenberg Institute (nominated by the Swedish Ministry of Foreign Affairs), the French Ministry for Europe and Foreign Affairs, the Philippine Department of Foreign Affairs, the Swiss Federal Department of Foreign Affairs, and the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the People's Republic of China. The Seminar brought together over 150 official government representatives and civil society experts, representing 47 ASEM Partner countries, to discuss and share best practices and innovative ideas to better integrate human rights in climate change policies and actions.

The Seminar was held in hybrid format on 16-18 March 2022 and was hosted by the Ministry of Foreign and European Affairs of the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg. A background paper for the Seminar was prepared by Dr Annalisa SAVARESI (University of Eastern Finland).

Participants heard from a number of speakers who reflected on the importance of focusing on human rights when dealing both with the impacts of climate change and of climate change response measures. These included:

- o Ms Michelle BACHELET, United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights
- o Dr David R. BOYD, United Nations Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and the Environment
- o Mr Jean ASSELBORN, Minister of Foreign and European Affairs, Grand Duchy of Luxembourg
- o Mr Eamon GILMORE, European Union's Special Representative for Human Rights
- o Ms Irum AHSAN, Lawyer and environmental and climate rights specialist
- o Mr Roberto Eugenio CADIZ, Commissioner, Commission of Human Rights of the Philippines
- o Ms Marie-Claire GRAF, Swiss representative of Youth Constituency of the UNFCCC (YOUNGO)
- o Ms Carole DIESCHBOURG, Minister for the Environment, Climate and Sustainable Development, Grand Duchy of Luxembourg

The Seminar included a hybrid panel discussion on the theme Migration, Human Rights and Climate Change with the following expert speakers:

- o Professor Vitit MUNTARBHORN, Chulalongkorn University
- o Dr Sara VIGIL, Stockholm Environment Institute (SEI)
- o Ms Maria Theresa LAURON, Rosa Luxemburg Stiftung
- o Mr Atle SOLBERG, Platform on Disaster Displacement (PDD)
- o Moderator: Ms Elissa JOBSON, International Crisis Group

The Seminar also convened four working groups, each of which discussed a number of cross-cutting questions and a specific thematic topic.

This report summarises and synthesises the Seminar presentations, discussions, and conclusions. The report includes reports by the four rapporteurs assigned to each of the Seminar working groups:

- o Mr Sébastien DUYCK: Reinforcing socio-ecological resilience of communities through information and public participation
- o Dr Stellina JOLLY: Promoting the full enjoyment of human rights by all persons affected by climate change
- o Dr Linda Yanti SULISTIAWATI: Green, equitable and inclusive: Innovative ideas on international cooperation to address the impacts of climate change on human rights
- o Dr Annalisa SAVARESI: Taking stock of national and international human rights regimes to protect against the consequences of climate change

Key Messages

There is an urgent need to address human rights violations associated with the impacts of climate change, particularly loss and damage, and climate change-induced migration and internal displacement.

- Human rights mechanisms at the national, regional, and international level can be used as
 institutionalised pathways to monitor and sanction human rights violations associated with
 climate change, and with the implementation of climate change response measures.
- There is a need to bolster mechanisms to ensure state and corporate accountability for climate change at the international, regional, and national level.
- There is a need to ensure just transitions away from fossil fuels and towards net-zero emission societies in line with human rights.
- Climate change is a pressing global challenge in the areas of development and the environment and has serious impact on human rights.

General Recommendations

ASEM Member States should:

- Cooperate to ensure that human rights are taken into consideration in international, regional, and national climate action
- Support the recognition of the right to a clean, healthy, and sustainable environment at the national, regional, and international level, including the upcoming recognition by the UN General Assembly
- Be vigilant of the human rights implications of climate policies and measures, ensuring that there are no undesirable outcomes in the pursuit of climate objectives
- Engage with international **finance bodies** to ensure that their policies and funding criteria fully align with human rights. Furthermore, scale up **climate finance** to address human rights violations associated with the impacts of climate change
- Ensure greater accountability of state and corporate actors for climate action and train judges and lawyers to support this crucial mission
- Ensure that their official development assistance targets climate-friendly activities, which align with human rights obligations
- Note that nationally determined contributions (NDCs) submitted under the Paris Agreement contribute to the promotion and protection of human rights.
 Ensure that NDCs are prepared and implemented in a participatory manner
- Ensure that national climate policies and legislation are developed with meaningful

- and effective public participation, especially of vulnerable groups. Make use of international instruments such as the Aarhus Convention on Access to Information, Public Participation in Decision-making, and Access to Justice in Environmental Matters to facilitate the sharing of good practices and to protect the right to participate
- Recognise and address the entrenched drivers of vulnerability and inequality, and mainstream gender equality into climate policies, programmes, and action
- Empower National Human Rights
 Institutes (NHRIs) and other similar
 bodies to address human rights concerns
 associated with the impacts of climate
 change and climate change response
 measures
- Support civil society and youth-led initiatives, including with adequate financing, and foster the ability for civil society and communities to participate in climate policymaking through training and capacity building for civil society advocates, community leaders, civil servants, and policymakers
- Protect the rights of future generations and empower youth representatives in climate change decision-making processes at the national, regional, and international level

 including through official youth delegate programmes in relevant international forums
- Protect environmental human rights defenders (EHRDs) against harassment and prosecution. Facilitate protection for individuals and groups in accordance

General Recommendations

- with the **United Nations Environment Programme's (UNEP)** guidelines for defending environmental rights and for solutions to mitigating abuses related to environmental rights
- Find durable intergovernmental solutions to address climate change-induced human displacement and migration. Commit to implementing the Global Compact for Safe, Orderly and Regular Migration, Global Compact on Refugees, and the Nansen Protection Agenda to address climate displacement
- Adopt mechanisms to recognise and integrate the traditional knowledge and skills of the Indigenous communities in climate actions
- Engage with the Special Rapporteur on the protection of human rights in the context of climate change and support his mandate to promote and exchange views on lessons learned and best practices on human rights-based, gender-responsive, age-sensitive, disability-inclusive, and riskinformed approaches to climate change adaptation and mitigation.

WORKING GROUP REPORTS



Working Group 1 Report

Reinforcing socio-ecological resilience of communities through information and public participation¹

The first working group considered the role of public participation and inclusion in strengthening local and national responses to environmental crises such as climate change. The working group participants attempted to identify lessons learned and good practices across a wide range of countries and reviewed the opportunities offered by cross-regional cooperation in these matters.

The topics discussed during the session included:

- Standards for truly effective and meaningful public participation
- The inclusion of all in participatory processes, including that of persons in vulnerable situations
- Linkages between participation and education / awareness-raising as well as the role of youth and children
- Principles and mechanisms for the effective protection of environmental

- human rights defenders
- The benefits but also the limits of new technologies in supporting effective participation.

The discussions were informed by cross-cutting questions that participants sought to reflect upon across their responses. The discussions were rooted in the need to address, through public participation, specific vulnerabilities of local communities as well as to respect the rights of all women and of Indigenous Peoples. Participants were also encouraged to reflect upon the consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic. The discussions considered the added value of human rights and the role of States' obligations with regard to participation. The potential role of cross-regional cooperation and forums such as the Asia-Europe Meeting (ASEM) was considered throughout the discussions.

Rapporteur: Sébastien DUYCK, Senior Attorney, Center for International Environmental Law (CIEL)

Working Group 1 Report

Lessons learned with regard to public participation and opportunities to capitalise on them in the context of increased global public awareness of climate change

While the importance of public participation has been recognised internationally for decades, including through international frameworks, participants noted that the track record of governmental practices demonstrates mixed commitments and results. Often, an initial commitment from decision-makers to inclusive decision-making is undermined by the lack of sufficient planning and the perceived need to take rapid and decisive action.

instance, the European context, for discussions related to future policy frameworks included significant participatory components, for instance in the context of the European Green Deal and the conference on the future of Europe. In practice, however, the extent to which these participatory processes are meaningful in shaping final policy outcomes remains questionable. Civil society actors often have the feeling that participation is approached more like a box-ticking exercise. Discussants highlighted that where public participation is mandatory, the impact of these processes is often difficult to discern. The outcome of participatory processes must have policy or legal implications so that decision-makers are compelled to review policies according to the outcomes of consultations.

Effective and meaningful public participation requires implementing some common standards, for instance, the participation of a variety of stakeholders. Also, for public participation to be meaningful, the public must have access to information so they are made aware of projects

in which they will have a stake. The information must be communicated in a timely manner and in the language appropriate for the communities affected. Finally, the ability for members of the public to access legal recourse offers a very strong incentive for decision-makers to respect the right to public participation.

In this context, international legally binding instruments can play a crucial role in protecting the right to public participation. The UNECE Convention on Access to Information, Public Participation in Decision-making, and **Access to Justice in Environmental Matters** (Århus Convention) contributes to laying out key principles and standards for effective participation and to sharing relevant experiences across governments in Europe and Central Asia. This convention has demonstrated the added value for governments and stakeholders of such instruments and States in other regions should consider the opportunity to adopt similar regional frameworks.

While the exchange of expertise and experiences across regions is important, one must also consider socio-cultural factors. The participants noted that cultural bias might play a role in facilitating or hindering the ability of members of local communities to interact proactively with governmental representatives. In some countries, decision-makers may be seen as being less appreciative of the expertise and experiences of local communities.

In Europe, several countries have experimented with innovative approaches to addressing the need for consultations with regard to climate policy, such as the **climate assembly** established in **France**. The **Luxembourgish Klimabiergerrot** (Luxembourg Civil Society Climate Council) is another example of such an ad-hoc consultative structure. In this case, the

participants were selected across demographic and socio-economic factors. Participants noted, however, that the outcome of these ad-hoc processes did not always result in significant policy changes. When such mechanisms rely on the random selection of participants, there might not be representation of segments of society with specific vulnerability. In that context, the focus should not necessarily be on securing a large number of participants in consultative processes but on ensuring their diversity and guaranteeing that the right individuals can participate.

Across Asia, there are also many models of experimentation regarding community engagement in climate responses and climate resilience. These practices are increasingly seeking to foster dialogue and mutual recognition between local governments and stakeholders at the community level. Such practices have a particularly important role to play with regard to resilience against risks associated with climate impacts. In Bangladesh, City Budget Monitoring

Committee offers one form of participation in local governance fostering the accountability of decision-makers. The participation of young people in such mechanisms is particularly encouraged.

Some good practices can be drawn from both regions with regard to the participation of Indigenous peoples in decision-making. The case of specific requirements regarding the respect of Indigenous peoples' Free, Prior and Informed Consent (FPIC) in the context of the extractive industry in Finland was highlighted as an example. The model of the Sámi Council in Finland was highlighted as a strong precedent to ensure the institutionalisation of the representation of Indigenous peoples and the protection of their right to participate in decisions affecting their environment.

Even the existence of consultative mechanisms does not preclude challenges for members of the public seeking to participate effectively in decision-making. In many instances, consultative

While the exchange of expertise and experiences across regions is important, one must also consider socio-cultural factors. The participants noted that cultural bias might play a role in facilitating or hindering the ability of members of local communities to interact proactively with governmental representatives. In some countries, decision-makers may be seen as being less appreciative of the expertise and experiences of local communities.

Working Group 1 Report

mechanisms are designed to support the participation of stakeholders who are already empowered or involved in decision-making processes, and they do not provide adequate opportunities to lift the voices and perspectives of grassroots representatives or to bridge across social classes. Lack of adequate resources and linguistic barriers might also further hinder the effective participation in existing participatory mechanisms. Furthermore, corruption and the lack of accountability for corporate actors in many countries means that laws providing a legal basis for public participation are not adequately implemented and it can even be dangerous for individuals to claim such rights.

In many instances, CSOs have a critical role to play to enable the effective participation of communities' representatives in decision-making. Participants discussed the example of networks established in **Bangladesh** to lift and amplify the voices of the 60% of the population living in areas particularly vulnerable to climate impacts. The experience of **Chinese** NGOs acting as enablers of public participation through a **VIP Model** (Voices, Ideas, Policy) was mentioned as another example of participatory practice.

Participation in many high-level policy processes is out of reach for many representatives from the communities most impacted – for instance, rural communities – owing to a lack of understanding of the processes as well as to barriers related to accreditation.

The 26th Conference of the Parties to the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change (COP26) was highlighted as one example of these challenges. It was noted that, despite public commitments to ensuring an inclusive process, representatives of civil society faced many hindrances to their meaningful participation at the conference and that the transparency of the

process had been undermined as a result. In such an environment, NGOs have an important role to play to facilitate contact between climate decision-makers and representatives from local communities. Policymakers participating in these forums seldom have the opportunity to be confronted directly with these perspectives. In such governance spaces, it is important for NGOs to rely on the participation of local staff who can actively participate and channel the testimony of the most vulnerable.

Facilitating the participation of those most vulnerable while guaranteeing participatory processes inclusive of all voices

Civil society organisations have an especially important role to play in mobilising the participation of segments of the population in particularly vulnerable situations. This role must be recognised and supported by governments. To guarantee inclusive participatory processes, specific groups of stakeholders should be identified, and measures put in place to consider their constraints and to facilitate their engagement. In relation to the participation of women, for instance, this might require offering opportunities for participation during times compatible with the care work that remains disproportionately undertaken by women. Quotas of representatives from different constituencies would help to ensure balanced representation.

Local media has an important role to play in raising awareness and informing communities about decision-making opportunities. Journalists, including those in community-based media, should be considered key actors with a role to play in promoting public participation.

Non-formal education and youth-led programmes have an essential role to play to complement the information provided through formal education. Limited resources are often the main obstacle to the scaling up of youth-led initiatives promoting climate literacy and empowerment. Access to financial support must be made available for young people so as to favour bottom-up initiatives over top-down approaches.

Promoting the empowerment of the most vulnerable raises the question of who is in a position to act as their representative. Additionally, engaging in consultative processes is more challenging for those struggling on a daily basis. The most marginalised may not feel sufficiently empowered to share their opinions openly with decision-makers. Decision-makers and civil servants often use a semantic language different from that used by communities, further hampering effective exchanges. Consequently, the role of capacity building for both those consulted and those leading the consultation is essential. In particular, decision-makers and civil servants must recognise the added value of 'citizens science' and sometimes 'unlearn' some of their processes and values in order to conduct truly inclusive and participatory processes.

Linkages between public participation and climate education, opportunities to strengthen youth and child participation

The importance of the participation of children and youth in climate-related decision-making is recognised by many governments. In fact, article 6 of the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change provides an obligation for States to promote climate education, awareness-raising and public participation with a particular focus on young people. While some governments have worked to integrate systematically climate change in the educational curricula across age groups, several participants mentioned that many countries had yet to make progress towards greater climate literacy through the public education system. This can be done most effectively when climate information is mainstreamed across all relevant education subjects. In this context, due account must be taken of additional mental health hazards related to the burden of eco-anxiety among youths.

Non-formal education and youth-led programmes have an essential role to play to complement the information provided through formal education. Limited resources are often the main obstacle to the scaling up of youth-led initiatives promoting

Working Group 1 Report

As demonstrated since the beginning of the pandemic, new information technologies can facilitate interactions between stakeholders who might otherwise not be able to interact directly. These technologies can enable a wider range of stakeholders to engage in public participation processes remotely.

climate literacy and empowerment. Access to financial support must be made available for young people so as to favour bottom-up initiatives over top-down approaches.

Public participation of children and young people in climate-related decision-making may be appealing to decision-makers but it raises methodological challenges. To avoid any tokenism in interactions between decision-makers and the youth, processes must ensure some accountability to guarantee that input provided by younger generations is being considered. Encouraging the participation of young people and guaranteeing that those who engage can see the impact of their interventions is important to empower new generations of citizens. This calls for capacity building for decision-makers about the effective participation of young people in decision-making.

Fostering cooperation between youth across countries is also essential to increase their personal commitment and understanding of the issues at stake. Exchange programmes between Indian, Nepali and Luxembourgish students were mentioned as particularly impactful, as were web-based partnerships between classes in France and in Bangladesh.

Support and protection of environmental human rights defenders, especially women environmental human rights defenders, and the fight against impunity

Mitigating threats faced by those seeking to exercise their right to public participation and protecting the rights of environmental human rights defenders should be a key priority to strengthen the civil society space. While there is a wide difference between individual countries in Europe and in Asia, harassment of environmental advocates happens on both continents. Women and Indigenous peoples are among those most at risk of being targeted when speaking up for the right of their community to healthy ecosystems and a toxic-free environment. Activism in defence of the environment is often stigmatised and individuals run higher risks as a consequence of being targeted. This is particularly the case when individuals exercise their rights to freedom of expression and of assembly to oppose development projects supported by local governments and corporate actors.

Effective mechanisms must be put in place to end impunity and to provide adequate protection measures for those who are targeted because of their engagement for the environment. The Rapid Response Mechanism established under the Aarhus Convention is an example. It allows an individual to reach out to governments through the bilateral channel and also to potentially raise public awareness in relation to specific cases. The European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights, meanwhile, is seeking to protect more proactively environmental activists who might be exposed to threats. There is, however, no such regional mechanism for the protection of environmental defenders in Asia.

To respond to immediate threats, **foreign embassies** can play an important role in protecting environmental defenders, including by intervening with the government to raise concerns. To promote more long-term changes and address systemic issues, fact-finding missions can prove impactful. The first line of defence for environmental activists targeted because of their engagement remains, however, with civil society networks. Adequate financial support of civil society organisations is therefore essential.

New information technologies, knowledge-sharing platforms, and their impact on public participation

As demonstrated since the beginning of the pandemic, new information technologies can facilitate interactions between stakeholders who might otherwise not be able to interact directly. These technologies can enable a wider range of stakeholders to engage in public participation processes remotely.

But it is essential to recognise the limits of such technologies. Internet literacy and

the generational gap associated with such technologies limit the ability of many to be fully empowered through such approaches to consultative processes. In this context, community centres and grass-roots structures can play an important role in promoting the sharing of know-how that is a prerequisite for the use of new technologies for public participation. To promote the use of technology for public participation, governments can work with established 'influencers' – the example of the **mobilisation of YouTubers** by the government in **Pakistan** was, cited as an example.

While new technologies should be used, this could lead to the further marginalising of the views of traditional knowledge holders. Avoiding this requires full recognition of the value of such knowledge among other forms of science, and to use new technologies in support of the diffusion and respect of traditional knowledge. There should be community-led initiatives to respect the rights of traditional knowledge holders.

Other aspects of new technology have to be considered, such as weak internet connectivity in some areas. There is also the danger of misinformation, which means people need to be educated about identifying reliable information.

Finally, the use of the internet raises important privacy and confidentiality risks in many countries. When safe use of the internet cannot be guaranteed, new technologies do not offer a credible alternative to other forms of public participation.

Recommendations

Empowering civil society requires the promotion of meaningful and effective participation.

 Legal standards for public participation must be respected to ensure meaningful

Working Group 1 Report

- and effective participation including, for example, a reasonable timeline for input, and an inclusive process taking into account linguistics requirements of the groups affected.
- International instruments such as the UNECE Convention on Access to Information, Public Participation in Decision-making and Access to Justice in Environmental Matters (Århus Convention) have an important role to play in facilitating the sharing of good practices among States and protecting the right to participate through an intergovernmental process.
- Meaningful participation requires identifying how civil society input will be fed into the decision-making process and what modalities are in place to ensure that it is meaningfully taken into consideration.
- Participation in decision-making must be meaningful and not considered a symbolic process to validate decisions already made.
- To ensure accountability and to strengthen the confidence of the public in participatory processes, governments should communicate how input provided through such processes was duly taken into consideration and how it actually informed decision-making, for instance by responding to comments provided and highlighting what alternative policy options or information might have been considered as a result.
- Community-led budget monitoring can serve as an example of a mechanism to ensure accountability.

Working with – and strengthening – civil society is key to socio-ecological resilience through grassroots and community-based participation

- To guarantee effective participation of the public, governments should rely on existing independent civil society structures.
- A vibrant civil society sector is a prerequisite for public participation.
 Consequently, governments should ensure that civil society benefits from adequate resources – both at the domestic level and in third countries through development assistance.
- National and cross-national civil society networks can play a key role in the sharing of good practices among organisations.
- Training and capacity building is essential both for communities and for decisionmakers. Civil servants need to learn how to conduct inclusive consultations.

Ensuring inclusive public participation requires an intersectional approach, including the participation of all through a gender lens, the respect for the rights of indigenous peoples, and a focus on the participation of children and youth.

- The full recognition of the value of traditional knowledge and the knowledge of women is a prerequisite for effective participation so that input provided is not unfairly discarded.
- The application of a gender lens at every stage of the process is essential to guarantee the meaningful participation of women.
- Community and youth-led initiatives, as well as independent media and formal

- and non-formal education, are essential to overcome age and socio-cultural barriers to participation.
- Youth-led initiatives and structures should be recognised and supported, including through independent national youth council and youth delegate programmes.

New technologies provide opportunities to strengthen public participation, but their limits should also be recognised.

- Addressing the digital divide is a prerequisite to enabling technologies to play a more inclusive role and support public participation. Doing so requires ensuring adequate and reliable access to networks but also promoting internet literacy across segments of society.
- Safety and privacy issues must be recognised and solved adequately so that new technologies can play a role in further promoting public participation without undermining trust in the process and creating new risks for those participating.

The effective protection of environmental human rights defenders – in particular that of Indigenous and women environmental defenders – is imperative in both regions.

- States must uphold as a matter of priority their duty to protect defenders against threats from corporate actors.
- Regional protection mechanisms such as the newly established Rapid Response Mechanism of the Aarhus Convention are essential and should be considered.
- Respect for civil society and accountability for abuses are key to deterring threats to defenders.

 Protecting and strengthening the civil society space is key to enabling NGOs and civil society networks to contribute to the effective protection of defenders.



Working Group 2 Report

Promoting the full enjoyment of human rights by all persons affected by climate change²

This working group addressed the questions and the cross-cutting issues in the concept note relating to protecting the vulnerable segments of populations in climate change. These are young and older people, disabled people, the LGBTIQ community, and informal sector workers.

The discussions covered these topics:

- Addressing forced climate migration/ displacement
- Promoting indigenous peoples' rights in the fight against climate change
- Protecting environmental rights defenders
- Advancing the interests of populations vulnerable to the effects of climate change

The group discussed three focal areas:

- Implementation gaps in national/regional/ international policies and programmes concerning climate vulnerability
- Best practices examples of reducing climate vulnerability and promoting the rights of affected people

 Priorities and recommendations for concrete actions.

Addressing Forced Climate Migration and Revitalisation of International Law

The participants noted the extent and challenges of climate displacement and migration and their impact on the vulnerable and marginalised populations in various jurisdictions. The discussion concentrated on understanding the challenges faced by the climate migrants, the measures taken to slow down the migration, and, finally, the steps for facilitating a dignified relocation. The group members acknowledged the gap in migration governance consisting of bilateral agreements and refugee laws.

Participants pointed to the many challenges that climate-displaced populations face, citing examples from various jurisdictions. For instance, the challenges faced by the Philippines

² Rapporteur: Dr Stellina JOLLY, Associate Professor at the Faculty of Legal Studies, South Asian University (SAU)

Working Group 2 Report

to deal with at least 20 typhoons each year. Sixty percent of the population lives in coastal areas, which exacerbates the Philippines' vulnerability. There is a need for more effective measures, like permanent relocation with adequate protection of human rights. In the absence of permanent relocation with sufficient livelihood options, the affected population would return to their place of origin once the disaster subsided, repeating the cycle of displacement.

Participants also stressed the need to differentiate the types of migration (internal or cross-border), mainly because most migrations currently are internal and temporary. The categorisation is also crucial due to the different protective frameworks. They emphasised the need to evolve robust strategies considering regions' specific and unique vulnerabilities like coastal and mountainous terrains.

Some members highlighted that socio-economic factors influence climate displacement, and

the risk of climate migration contributes to the trafficking of human beings; hence policy responses should be multipronged.

The key strategies and messages discussed focused on the need for more empirical work to gather the lived experience and testimonies of the people about relocation. The participants felt that the examples of resilience shown by nations like India, the Philippines, and Indonesia to address climate change challenges offer a rich model which supports the arguments for public participation in decision-making to minimise and manage migration. The group highlighted that the policymakers should consider that most people prefer to stay in their homes linked to their social and cultural identity. Participants also pointed to the need to scale up climate finance by banks and other institutions to provide short-term and long-term loans to assist with relocation and the purchase of land.

Participants observed that adequate

Similarly, the Regional Mobility Framework with dedicated displacement and relocation policies and standard operating procedures operating in the Pacific is an excellent template for scaling up across regions. Another leading initiative in this regard is the Action Plan dealing with the impact of climate change on mobility in the Pacific adopted by the New Zealand Parliament. It has increased the financial support in research, building upon critical actions of averting, delaying, and preparing for such mobility.

opportunities exist in human rights law where countries can consider scenarios in which States cannot return migrants. Measures to secure and protect human rights would also directly protect migrants within a changing climate by affecting their reasons to migrate and enabling migration 'with a human face'. A regional refugee convention can also be leveraged to ensure protection for climate migrants. **The Cartagena Declaration on Refugees (1984)** operating in Latin America, and **Kampala Convention in Africa** are examples that can serve as templates for other regional organisations to craft legal instruments

Similarly, the **Regional Mobility Framework** with dedicated displacement and relocation policies and standard operating procedures operating in the Pacific is an excellent template for scaling up across regions. Another leading initiative in this regard is the **Action Plan** dealing with the impact of climate change on mobility in the Pacific adopted by the **New Zealand** Parliament. It has increased the financial support in research, building upon critical actions of averting, delaying, and preparing for such mobility. The freedom of movement protocols operating bilaterally could also be very useful to help manage orderly migration.

Finally, the very complex causes of migration warrant attention. The effort should be to avoid simple-sounding solutions that might lead to harm. The point was discussed in the context of land-sparing initiatives, based on the assumption that human beings are a threat to the environment. Considering the close relationship and dependence of forest communities and Indigenous people on natural resources, such an assumption could be problematic. One participant noted that the drive for profit dominates the socio-economic system. Unless there is a fundamental change in the way

economic structures are addressed, the problem of climate change and migration will not go away. Hence, the need is to address the causes of disasters, not only to reduce the threat from natural elements but also to target and combat marginalisation and inequality. Though there is no magic formula, adequate attention should be paid to analysing the interplay between climate actions and loss and damage.

While acknowledging the governance gap in global legal frameworks on migration and refugees, some members felt that the policy instruments listed in the Global Compact offer a possibility to protect and assist people displaced across boundaries, whether as a result of sudden onset or slow onset of climate-induced disasters and catastrophes. The Global Compact adopted by the United Nations General Assembly commands support from countries. Members also stressed the vital effort played by the Nansen Initiative, which started as a consultative initiative and was adopted as the Nansen Protection Agenda in 2015. The need is to reaffirm the willingness to commit to implementing the Global Compact and the Nansen Protection Agenda based on averting, minimising, and addressing climate displacement.

The discussion stressed that interdisciplinary research needs to fill the scientific gaps concerning the definition, causes, and protection strategies of climate migration by considering a specific reference for forced migration and evolving a comparative way of monitoring legal standards.

Indigenous people as vital agents in the fight against climate change

The working group recognised the enormous threat climate change poses to Indigenous peoples' livelihoods, cultures, and identities,

Working Group 2 Report

despite the communities' most minuscule contribution in terms of greenhouse emissions. The working group felt that the Indigenous communities could be powerful agents in humanity's fight against climate change. The best practices and legal initiatives existing in many parts of the world to protect the Indigenous population can be replicated or scaled up.

Examples of such practices include:

- · Legislation in Finland is being amended to make it mandatory to consult with Sámi people on climate matters. The consultative dialogue entered into by the Finland Government with the Sámi community, located in the North of Finland, has brought the Indigenous people to the centre stage of climate governance. The consultation process took place in three different Sámi languages. In addition, at the insistence of the Sámi community, a new Sámi climate council is being established. The council consists of six to seven Sámi members and has representation from climate change and Indigenous researchers. The council will share their traditional knowledge in evolving strategies for fighting climate change. Importantly the Sámi council incorporates gender and geographical factors. At international climate negotiations, Sámi representation is ensured.
- Similarly, efforts have been made in New Zealand to engage with the Mãori and consider their perspective in climate change responses.
- The **Philippines** has specific legislation for Indigenous people, and one of the characteristics of the provision is for the Indigenous people to be represented in legislative bodies, which they call Indigenous

- people mandatory representations.
- The Supreme Court of the Philippines recognised the Indigenous people's rights to use traditional resources (cut and collect trees). Similarly, Indonesia categorises the forests into the state, private, and Indigenous.
- Civil society plays a significant role in protecting the people affected by climate change in **Bangladesh**. There is a victim association mainly composed of Indigenous people.

The participants also pointed out that the current understanding of Disaster Risk Reduction (DRR) follows Western notions. However, indigenous communities already have their concept of DRR, which they have been implementing for generations. The need is to consider these practices and evaluate the possibility of scaling up in other regions. The working group participants recognised the Indigenous communities' mistrust of the legal and political system given the historical land abuse and exploitation. They emphasised trust-building and communication with the Indigenous communities as the cornerstone of any engagement. Earning trust in these communities is necessary. It is a long-term process that requires time and energy, but it helps long-term relationships.

Protecting environmental human rights defenders and breaking patterns of impunity

The working group expressed concern about the extent of risks environmental human rights defenders (EHRD) face across jurisdictions. The working group members felt that proliferating **Strategic Lawsuits Against Public Participation (SLAPP)** cases threaten EHRD. The members evaluated the practices and

initiatives adopted in jurisdictions to protect EHRD. Such initiatives include:

- Organising training programmes for judicial officers to enhance understanding of SLAPP cases in Southeast Asian jurisdictions. It aims to expand its scope to include enforcement officers and prosecutors.
- The Supreme Court of the Philippines
 has created a liberal separated rule of
 procedure for environmental causes.
- Indian Human Right Commission has a focal point for environmental human rights defenders, and the Philippines Human Rights Commission has investigated the protection options for EHRD.
- Italy has stepped up the coordination with civil society to highlight the issue of the protection of EHRD. It includes the creation of an Inter-Ministerial Committee for Human Rights (CIDU) under the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and International Cooperation in charge of submitting the National Action Plan (NAP) on Business and Human Rights to the UN. As part of their preparation for the first NAP for 2016-2021, CIDU organised advisory sessions with several civil society groups, business enterprises, and a network of human rights defenders. The Human Rights Council considered the issue of collaboration and partnership with EHRD an exciting development. The second NAP, which is under preparation, includes monetary mechanisms based on indicators, including the protection of environmental rights defenders, as significant parameters.

Key strategies and messages deliberated by the group focused on the need for more research on the role of EHRD and measures to effectively

protect them from malicious suits and threats to their life. The United Nations Environmental Programme (UNEP) guidelines on EHRD promote protection for individuals and groups and provide a valuable framework for policy development by the government and others. There is a need to develop a network of human rights defenders as a rallying point for solidarity and advocacy around issues relating to the protection of environmental rights defenders. There is an excellent Asian network of EHRD where they share information and express solidarity. The members also felt that adequate funding for climate change adaptation plans would be critical in protecting EHRD.

Protecting vulnerable populations from the effects of climate change

Based on the background paper and concept note that enumerated the population categories vulnerable to climate change, the working group addressed the protection strategies. Participants noted that climate change had exacerbated existing patterns of vulnerability and discrimination worldwide. Vulnerable populations often face discrimination in accessing climate information, and their perspectives are excluded from climate actions.

The working group members highlighted the best practice adopted in jurisdictions to integrate the active participation of vulnerable communities in climate governance. For example, in Finland, the councils for elders, young people, and people with disabilities actively engaged and participated in **Finland**'s mid-term review of Climate Action Plan. Discussions about transition-related issues are held at a new climate change roundtable, led by Finland's prime minister and members of NGOs. The meetings, which have been held virtually, have gathered over 18,000

Working Group 2 Report

participants so far. The unique **Sign Language Act of Finland** that recognises the aspirations of cultural identity is relevant for Indigenous people and differently abled populations to gather information about climate change measures taken by the government. Italy has undertaken similar consultation and coordination with youth representatives, and the youth is empowered to engage in the dialogue. **Italy** also co-hosted an event, **Youth 4 Climate**, before **COP26**. Gender Impact Assessment for climate policies is obligatory in Finland.

The members observed that the pandemic revealed an increase in the marginalisation of certain groups of people. The same situation will be repeated in the context of climate change as well. It is imperative to educate the youth to make them climate change actors. The members also highlighted the potential of social media and the need to include climate change in the educational curriculum. For example, social media can replicate the model of Greta Thunberg and her ability to mobilise a considerable number of people to generate awareness among people.

Similarly, the requirement is to have a better evacuation plan for disabled persons because of their inherent vulnerability to access humanitarian relief. We need to better dialogue with civil society and have a local-based approach to including these vulnerable people in climate change actions. Similarly, advocacy groups should explore the possibility of collaborating with other human rights or advocacy groups to bring broad-based challenges. At the same time, the participation of the communities at the national level needs to be extended from an international perspective because these are global issues.

Participants identified several areas where action might be taken. National human rights institutions and other administrative bodies could play a heightened role in the promotion and remedial role to address systemic and structural discrimination. Participants emphasised the need for good practice, technological innovation, and education policy measures. There is also a need to raise critical reflection on the extent of the vulnerabilities, with a view to human rights, and to improve levels of protection to ensure the full realisation of human rights for all.

Recommendations

- Explore ways of making better use of existing international, regional, and national laws and frameworks (Global Compact and Nansen initiative) to avert, delay, and address climate displacement. Work collaboratively with international and national bodies to improve the knowledge base regarding climate change impacts and vulnerability and ensure that vulnerable populations and their representative organisations are represented in the formulation of climate policies and actions.
- Ensure that policy response to climate displacement prioritises the assumption that everybody intends to stay home linked to their social and cultural identity.
- Ensure that national policies and legislation addressing issues of climate displacement have adequate participation of vulnerable populations.
- Ensure that any dialogue on climate vulnerability covers different levels of governance, involving extensive consultations at the national and community levels.
- Explore the possibility of scaling up the Regional Mobility Framework, with

- dedicated displacement and relocation policies and standard operating procedures, in the regions across the Pacific.
- Encourage empirical research to understand the lived experience and testimonies of the people about their perspectives on relocation and to consider the specific and unique characteristics and vulnerabilities of regions.
- Adopt measures to scale up climate finance by banks, multilateral funds, and bilateral donors to provide short-term and long-term loans to assist relocation of climate displaced populations and ensure that vulnerable groups have access to these schemes.
- Adopt specific legislation or policy initiatives to recognise the rights of Indigenous people and their representation in legislative and institutional bodies. Adopt mechanisms to recognise and integrate the traditional knowledge and skills of the Indigenous communities in climate actions and take necessary steps to build up trust and communication with the Indigenous communities as the cornerstone of engagement with the community.
- Assess how national human rights institutions and other administrative bodies can do more to address systemic and structural discrimination in society. Review the mandates of the national human rights institutions or other similar bodies to ensure that those mandates cover the rights of environmental human rights defenders and other issues of human rights concerning climate change.
- Take measures to develop a network of environmental human rights defenders (EHRD) as a rallying point for solidarity and

- advocacy around issues relating to the protection of environmental human rights defenders. There should be adequate funding for climate change adaptation plans as this will help protect EHRDs.
- Take all necessary steps to encourage better dialogue with civil society and have a local-based approach by including vulnerable people in climate change actions.
- Identify the entrenched drivers of vulnerability and gender inequality in order to remove barriers to successful adaptation and adopt an obligatory Gender Impact Assessment for climate policies.
- Consider ways to incorporate climate change into educational curriculums and make climate information available through social media channels in a way that it is accessible for all.
- Take all necessary measures to have a specific evacuation plan for disabled persons due to their inherent vulnerability to accessing humanitarian relief.



Working Group 3 Report

Green, equitable and inclusive: Innovative ideas on international cooperation to address the impacts of climate change on human rights³

Working group participants started the discussion with a conversation about just transition. There were different perspectives because of the mix of the group – academics, students, youth representatives, diplomats, and government officials from both developed countries in Europe and developing countries in Asia.

The concept of a 'just transition' was originally conceived as a programme of support for workers who lost their jobs due to environmental protection policies. The International Labour Organisation's (ILO) 'Guidelines for a Just Transition towards Environmentally Sustainable Economies and Societies for All' provides a framework for a systemic and whole-of-economy approach to sustainability that addresses

environmental, social, and economic issues together. Developed countries' perspective on just transition focuses on shifting from the fossil fuel industry to renewable industries and reaching a net-zero society. Developing countries' perspectives on just transition focus more on the inclusion and participation of the people directly affected by the transition, and how to take advantage of the tools available to engender a just transition. But each perspective has a common understanding, that in just transition it is important that nobody is left behind.

Green development pathways help countries to move away from an economy dependent on fossil fuel. These green development pathways should include human rights approaches in dealing

³ Rapporteur: Dr Linda SULISTIAWATI, Senior Research Fellow at Asia-Pacific Center for Environmental Law at National University of Singapore and Associate Professor of Law in Universitas Gadjah Mada (Indonesia)

Working Group 3 Report

with climate impacts to reach a just transition. Fossil fuel industries need to acknowledge their responsibility for the impacts caused by the industry, but also need to be assisted in terms of green development pathways and just transition. Many businesses and industries were hit hard by the pandemic, and they need to be reminded that survival is more sustainable when engaging in green and renewable pathways, rather than getting back to the fossil fuel bandwagon. It is important not to lose focus on the important nexus between climate impact and human rights during the troubled time of the pandemic and war in Europe.

Currently, the mechanisms to integrate human rights issues into the climate change regime are fragmented and incomplete. The working group agreed that the current instruments on climate change are not yet adequate for this. Collaboration and identification of stakeholders, the inclusion of the business sector, youth, and directly impacted communities are necessary

through international cooperation. Gender issues are also a focus that need to be discussed and implemented.

Opinion varies on whether hard law or soft law is needed for this endeavour. Some agree with more stringent and binding measures being enacted and implemented to speed the integration of human rights issues in climate change action, but others think that more flexible instruments such as action plans and strategic plans, even at the lowest level, would compel countries, business sectors, and communities to strive harder for this integration. The working group agreed that both methods are needed when dealing with highly complex issues such as human rights and climate change. In some sense, stringent hard law is needed to create sanctions and deterrence, but more flexible soft law forms are also needed to empower stakeholders to take action. Offering incentives (e.g., a system of points, subsidies, and tax breaks) would be one way to encourage

The working group agreed that both methods are needed when dealing with highly complex issues such as human rights and climate change. In some sense, stringent hard law is needed to create sanctions and deterrence, but more flexible soft law forms are also needed to empower stakeholders to take action.

compliance by certain parties. Businesses play an important role in the transition effort. At this stage, there is no binding treaty so companies are not liable at the international level but can be held accountable at the national level.

The idea of a 'Green Court' or an 'International **Environmental** Tribunal' to settle environmental issues (including human rights issues in climate impacts) at the international level was also discussed. Many members wondered whether another institution is needed. But the idea of environmental courts and/or tribunals is already in practice at the national level. There are, to date, at least 67 countries with environmental courts and/or tribunals. These courts and tribunals are supposedly better prepared to handle human rights issues in climate impacts since they already have the mandate, expertise, support, and facility to provide justice for environmental cases.

National human rights institutes (NHRI) were discussed as one of the main actors in the integration of human rights issues in climate impacts. NHRI's efforts are not without many challenges, especially when the respondents are big corporations. Therefore, there needs to be sharing of resources between NHRIs to achieve more gravitas regionally and more resonance globally. Support is needed for NHRIs that have less capacity, resources, and networking.

The working group agreed that a priority is human rights issues during climate emergencies. More needs to be done about this by the government, the private sector, and other stakeholders. A collective commitment is needed. Support for developing countries must be prioritised so they can address the situation on the ground and improve their own capacity. Europe has the expertise, know-how, and technology that can be beneficial to Asia's developing countries.

Recommendations

- Green development pathways will help developing countries to disengage from their dependence on fossil fuel. This green transition movement should include human rights approaches in dealing with climate impacts.
- Developed countries should support developing countries with financial assistance, capacity building, technology transfer, networking, and communication of best practices in the effort to achieve just transition.
- The current international mechanisms for climate change (United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, Paris Agreement) are adequate to facilitate the inclusion of human rights issues in the climate change regime. More robust, inclusive, and detailed mechanisms are needed.
- The business sector must be included in the global and regional mechanism to integrate human rights into the climate change regime.
- Both hard and soft laws are needed.
 Legally binding instruments would push
 this agenda further, but soft laws such as
 National Action Plans and other national
 and regional commitments are also
 important to develop momentum and
 political will to further human rights issues
 in the climate regime.
- An international green court could help less powerful countries in disputes with giant corporations over environmental issues.
- NHRIs are important to highlight the nexus between human rights and climate impacts. Support and assistance are needed to empower NHRIs in developing countries.



Working Group 4 Report

Taking stock of national and international human rights regimes to protect against the consequences of climate change⁴

This working group addressed cross-cutting questions related to national and international human rights regimes to protect against the consequences of climate change. The discussion covered the following topics:

- · Human rights in climate legislation
- The role of national human rights institutions
- The right to a healthy environment
- · Climate change litigation
- The rights of future generations
- The UN Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and Climate Change

Human rights in climate legislation

Participants in the working group noted that there is limited practice in this area and that more

knowledge sharing is needed. They learnt that Bangladesh has formally adopted a National Strategy on the Management of Disaster and Climate Induced Internal Displacement, which is aimed at preventing displacement and provides durable solutions to displacement induced by climate change. This strategy follows a consultative and multi-sectorial approach with the involvement of numerous stakeholders and an emphasis on international standards and guidelines. The participants heard that the Philippines NHRI plans to adopt recommendations prompting businesses with high carbon emissions to respect human rights. Some called for closer collaboration between governments and NHRIs on this matter.

Participants discussed the importance of sub-

⁴ Rapporteur: Dr Annalisa SAVARESI, Associate Professor of International Environmental Law at the University of Eastern Finland Center for Climate Change

Working Group 4 Report

national entities, which often are in a position to deliver concrete positive impacts on the ground, even in states where there is some reluctance to explicitly embrace a rights-based approach in national laws and regulations.

Participants heard that some countries subject all legislative proposals to an assessment of potential impacts on biodiversity, the climate, and human rights.

Some noted that, if States do not adopt a human rights approach to climate change-induced human displacement, then each country will take individual approaches, without necessarily connecting to the vast body of international standards and guidelines on the matter.

The role of national human rights institutions (NHRIs)

Participants noted that NHRIs should work independently from governments and thus have the freedom to cooperate with local actors and initiate local programmes. At the same time, they acknowledged that NHRIs need to receive adequate support to perform their activities.

Participants noted that NHRIs should coordinate and be informed about initiatives on human rights and climate change. They emphasised NHRIs' important monitoring role in ensuring the implementation of human rights policies, especially in cases of natural disasters. Some flagged the possibility of joint NHRI inquiries, which would allow pooling resources, especially as a lot of climate change issues are of a transboundary nature.

Participants recognised that NHRIs play an important educational role and that they should aim toward making the process of climate law and policy-making more inclusive and focused on

human rights. They noted that, while it might be difficult to undertake rights-based approaches in certain countries, creating good working relationships with the relevant Ministries and international partners could help to address this challenge.

The right to a healthy environment

Participants considered **Resolution 48/13** adopted in 2021 by the **UN Human Rights Council** on the right to a clean, healthy, and sustainable environment. Some noted that it might take a long time before the resolution produces concrete effects. Others noted that there already is a demonstrated correlation between the recognition of this right in national law and the development of environmental policies, even though measurable statistical causation is hard to prove. They added that the recognition of the right to a healthy environment within constitutional frameworks helps to accelerate other initiatives related to this right and to raise awareness.

Some participants noted that soft law can also produce numerous beneficial impacts and inspire lawmakers and courts interpreting legally binding norms. They added that over time soft law can evolve into customary international law or function as a first step towards the adoption of legally binding international treaties.

Others referred to the **Universal Periodic Review (UPR)** as a unique process involving the review of the human rights records of all 193 UN Member States. They said that the UPR provides an opportunity for all States to set out plans to improve their human rights records and overcome challenges. They emphasised that the UPR enables the sharing of best practices and enables states to make recommendations to improve their performance and include

environmental consideration in their human rights policies.

Climate change litigation

Participants acknowledged that climate litigation is on the rise and that some court decisions have ordered states to adopt more ambitious climate change laws and policies or provided the basis for concrete political action. However, some noted that court decisions are very context specific and sometimes are not properly enforced.

Participants noted the media attention generated by court decisions, which may be used as a tool to reform climate policies and laws. Participants noted that there are extant processes training judges and lawyers in adjudicating climate change cases. These processes provide information about the scientific aspects of climate change, equipping practitioners with the knowledge that is necessary to implement the law properly and protect against infringements.

The rights of future generations

Participants noted that civil society, including human rights defenders, plays an important role in flagging issues of concern on behalf of communities without a strong voice in the public debate. Thus, it is crucial to create conditions for civil society to operate safely, as their work has a direct impact on future generations and in informing governments' activities on climate change. Some remarked that the international should community support developing countries to acquire the necessary financial and technological resources to tackle climate change.

Others underscored that 'future generations' are already here and are already impacted by

the consequences of climate change. Some participants noted that there are some positive developments in this area, as numerous young people are actively involved in devising climate change solutions.

Participants agreed that more youth participation should be encouraged, for example by involving youth in legislative processes (e.g., Youth parliaments) or including them in official delegations at international negotiations or supporting youth initiatives. Participants emphasised that it is important to include the youth in decision-making processes and to listen to their suggestions as they are the ones who will be most impacted by climate change.

The UN Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and Climate Change

Participants considered Resolution 48/14 adopted by the UN Human Rights Council in 2021, establishing a Special Rapporteur on the promotion and protection of human rights in the context of climate change. They noted that the human rights of vulnerable groups will be most adversely affected both by climate change and by climate change response measures.

Some suggested that the Special Rapporteur should focus on the impact of climate change on vulnerable groups and consider the gender dimension of the negative impacts of climate change. Others emphasised the need to work closely together with actors other than States, such as multinational corporations, in order to raise awareness of the impacts of their activities on the enjoyment of human rights.

Some underscored the need to bolster action on loss and damage, and the importance to continue to share best practices in this regard.

Working Group 4 Report

Others noted the need to consider human mobility and to find solutions to major population movements caused by climate change on a regional or cross-border level.

Participants agreed that the Special Rapporteur should work closely with other Special Rapporteurs and create synergistic relationships. They emphasised, as a priority, the importance of protecting human rights defenders who suffer from harassment and prosecution by governments in some parts of the world.

Some participants lamented that financial commitments under the Paris Agreement are insufficient to address the impacts of climate change. They underscored the need to ensure that climate funding is distributed equitably according to the specific needs of the regions most impacted by climate change. They noted that transparency is a key factor during the distribution process of climate funds and resources. Others noted that technological progress is a key factor to counteract the adverse effects of climate change and that helping to guarantee access to technology for vulnerable communities is a priority.

Participants agreed on the need for timely action. What the world needs is clear and direct action towards achieving the goal of protecting human rights and the climate.

Recommendations

 Respect, promote, and consider human rights obligations when taking action to address climate change. Empower NHRIs and other similar bodies to address human rights concerns associated with the impacts of climate change and climate change response measures.

- Use extant international human rights mechanisms to monitor and sanction human rights violations associated with climate change and with the implementation of climate change response measures.
- Support the recognition of the right to a clean, healthy, and sustainable environment at the national, regional, and international level.
- Ensure greater accountability of state and corporate actors for climate action and train judges and lawyers to support this crucial mission.
- Protect the rights of future generations and empower youth representatives in climate change decision-making processes and at the national, regional, and international level.
- Ensure that climate finance is adequate, transparent, and equitably distributed.
- Protect human rights defenders against harassment and prosecution.
- Find durable intergovernmental solutions to address climate change-induced human displacement and migration.
- Engage with the UN Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and Climate Change and support him in his mandate to promote and exchange views on lessons learned and best practices on human rightsbased, gender-responsive, age-sensitive, disability-inclusive, and risk-informed approaches to climate change adaptation and mitigation policies.

Conclusion

The Seminar underlined the urgent need to consider the interplay between human rights and climate change law in Asia and Europe, as well as all over the world. While the circumstances in countries vary both between and within the regions (as well as within countries for different population groups), there are many commonalities. In both regions, the impacts of climate change on the enjoyment of human rights are increasingly visible, and the adoption of climate change response measures is disproportionately affecting the most vulnerable.

We need to take into serious consideration human rights in climate action and recognise that the pursuit of climate objectives could have consequences such as rising energy and commodity prices. It is vital that there are mechanisms, such as global social protection floors, minimum wages, and effective public health services, to buffer the less privileged from these outcomes. The Paris Agreement has engendered a paradigm shift, but there is a very long way to go to reach net-zero emissions. The global energy transition away from fossil fuels requires mutual learning and cooperation, including sharing lessons learned through innovative practices discussed at the Seminar.

Many human rights bodies at the subnational, national, regional, and international level have already started to engage with climate change. Extant processes, such as the Universal Periodic Review, and new bodies, like the newly established Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and Climate Change, must be supported to facilitate the integration of human rights into climate action.

A major theme of the Seminar was the need to tackle the catastrophic impacts of climate change on the enjoyment of human rights. Participants noted that climate change-induced human displacement and migration are a major concern. There was consensus that much more concerted international cooperation is needed to address this unfolding emergency and deliver durable and equitable solutions. The Seminar emphasised the need to ensure greater accountability for human rights violations associated with the impacts of climate change. Participants pointed to the role of human rights bodies, instruments, and processes in bridging this gap. Ongoing law- and policymaking processes at the national, regional, and international level provide new opportunities to address this matter.

The Seminar has taken place at an important juncture when the COVID-19 pandemic and the armed conflict in Europe reminded us that, in times of emergency, bold measures are needed. The discussions at the Seminar revealed that there already is a growing body of human rights practice and guidance concerning the impacts of climate change and of climate change response measures. The challenge is for governments, collectively and individually, along with stakeholders, international bodies, and the private sector, to strengthen their efforts towards implementing these guidelines and deliver human rights-based, genderresponsive, age-sensitive, disability-inclusive, and risk-informed approaches to climate change adaptation and mitigation.

BACKGROUND ON HUMAN RIGHTS AND CLIMATE CHANGE

Dr Annalisa SAVARESI

Associate Professor of International Environmental Law at the University of Eastern Finland

Contents

l.	INTRODUCTION	54
	a. Background	54
	b. ASEM Seminar on Human Rights and Climate Change	59
	c. Paper structure	59
II.	INTERNATIONAL AND REGIONAL PROTECTION	60
	a. Human Rights and Climate Change at the International Level	60
	b. Human Rights and Climate Change at the regional level: Asia	65
	c. Human Rights and Climate Change at the regional level: Europe	68
III.	THEMATIC FOCI	72
	a. Reinforcing socio-ecological resilience of communities through information and public participation	72
	b. Promoting the full enjoyment of human rights by all persons affected by climate change	74
	c. Green, equitable and inclusive: Innovative ideas on international cooperation to address the impacts of climate change on human rights	77
	d. Taking stock of national and international human rights regimes to protect against the consequences of climate change	80
IV.	THE WAY FORWARD	84
	a. Future prospects for better integration of human rights in climate change action	84
	b. Recognising new human rights	84
	c. Areas for future collaboration	86
V.	CONCLUSION	87
	References	89
	Endnotes	92

I. Introduction

a) Background

Human-induced climate change¹ affects the enjoyment of a wide range of internationally recognised human rights – including, inter alia, the right to life, the right to adequate food, the right to the enjoyment of highest attainable standard of physical and mental health, the right to adequate housing, the right to self-determination, the right to safe drinking water and sanitation, the right to work, and the right to development.² For example, the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) has listed as the causes of climate-related deaths: extreme weather events, heat waves, floods, droughts, wildfires, water-borne and vector-borne diseases, malnutrition, and air pollution.³

At the same time, measures adopted to tackle climate change and its impacts (often called 'climate change response measures') may themselves negatively affect the enjoyment of human rights.⁴ This is especially the case for measures constraining access to, and use of, natural resources – such as land, water, and forests – which can in turn hinder the enjoyment of rights – such as that to culture, food, access

to safe drinking water and sanitation, and to respect for private and family life.⁵ For example, the Business & Human Rights Resource Centre has identified hundreds of alleged human rights abuses related to renewable energy projects, including: killings, threats, and intimidation; land grabs; dangerous working conditions and poverty wages; and harm to indigenous peoples' lives and livelihoods.⁶

So, while climate change is a major aggravating factor hindering the enjoyment of human rights, at times human rights considerations may be perceived to stand in the way of climate change response measures and projects. And even if in principle there is no incompatibility between action to tackle climate change and the protection of human rights, in practice policy conflicts between the two do emerge.⁷

States and international instruments have increasingly acknowledged this complex relationship between climate change and human rights law. The preamble of the **Paris Agreement** specifies that parties "...should, when taking action to address climate change,

While climate change is a major aggravating factor hindering the enjoyment of human rights, at times human rights considerations may be perceived to stand in the way of climate change response measures and projects. And even if in principle there is no incompatibility between action to tackle climate change and the protection of human rights, in practice policy conflicts between the two do emerge.

respect, promote, and consider their respective obligations on human rights".8

At the same time, international human rights bodies have increasingly devoted attention to the matter of climate change. The **UN Human Rights Council (HRC)** has adopted 11 resolutions on human rights and climate change. As this paper will show in further detail, these resolutions emphasise the relevance of human rights obligations to climate change action, and the need to systemically interpret States' obligations and corporate responsibilities in this connection, both at the national and at the international levels. ¹⁰

Over the years, the HRC has established first an Independent Expert on human rights obligations relating to the enjoyment of a safe, clean, healthy and sustainable environment (2012-2015)11 and then a UN Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and the Environment (2015-2024).12 The rapporteur has been tasked to, amongst others, study the human rights obligations relating to the enjoyment of a safe, clean, healthy, and sustainable environment and to identify, promote, and exchange views on good practices on this matter. As part of their mandate, these rapporteurs have produced two dedicated reports articulating the implications of human rights obligations in relation to climate change. 13 Rather than formulating new obligations, these reports provide authoritative guidance on how to interpret existing human rights obligations, vis-à-vis climate change. Specifically, the reports articulate States' substantive obligations as follows:

- States have positive duties to adopt adequate measures, including legislation, concerning climate change adaptation and mitigation.
- States have positive duties to enforce said legislation, and to provide redress to

- those suffering from the impacts of climate change.
- States have negative duties to refrain from authorising activities (such as, for example, oil concessions) and from themselves undertaking activities that contribute to human rights violations associated with climate change and climate change response measures.
- States have duties to cooperate with one another and share resources, knowledge, and technology in order to address climate change.¹⁴

The UN Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and the Environment has articulated States' procedural obligations as follows:

- States must assess the impacts both of climate change and of climate change response measures and make such information public.
- States must provide access to remedies for climate-change related human rights violations.
- States must facilitate public participation in decision-making over climate change response measures, especially by those likely to be affected.
- States must protect individuals and groups against abuse by third parties, including business enterprises, by taking steps to prevent, investigate, punish, and redress such abuse through effective policies, legislation, regulations, and adjudication.¹⁵

Furthermore, in recent years there has been a growing recognition of businesses' human rights responsibilities in relation to climate change. According to the UN Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and the Environment, corporate human rights responsibilities have two main facets. On the one hand, businesses have a responsibility to reduce greenhouse gas

I. Introduction

emissions — including those produced by their own activities and by their subsidiaries, their products, and services — and to minimise emissions from their suppliers — as well as to support, rather than oppose, public policies intended to effectively address climate change. On the other, businesses also have a responsibility to publicly disclose their emissions, climate vulnerability and the risk of stranded assets; and to ensure that people affected by corporate human rights violations have access to effective remedies. 16

As this paper will show, the UN Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and the Environment's authoritative guidance is increasingly influencing state and corporate practice at the national and the regional level.

Simultaneously, the **Office of the High Commissioner on Human Rights (OHCHR)** has undertaken a series of activities to better integrate human rights concerns in international climate negotiations. ¹⁷ Its activities include formal submissions on matters under consideration at the negotiations, which have specific human rights implications, like loss and damage ¹⁸ and climate finance. ¹⁹

In 2021, these UN activities culminated with the adoption of HRC Resolution 48/14, creating a new UN Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and Climate Change.²⁰ The mandate holder will be appointed in 2022 and will be tasked, amongst others, to develop recommendations on how to address and prevent the adverse effects of climate change on the enjoyment of human rights, and on ways to strengthen the integration of human rights concerns into climate policymaking and legislation. The mandate holder will also develop recommendations concerning the promotion of human rights in the design and implementation of mitigation and adaptation policies, practices, investments, and projects. Finally, the Rapporteur will identify good practices, strategies, and policies on the matters above, and promote and exchange views on a 'human rights-based approach to climate change adaptation and mitigation policies.'21 Resolution 48/14 has therefore further institutionalised the intergovernmental process to articulate a shared understanding of the interplay between States' obligations and corporate responsibilities concerning climate change and human rights - see Textbox 1.

Textbox 1

Mandate of the UN Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and Climate Change

Human Right Council Resolution 48/14 (2021), requests the Special Rapporteur:

(a) To study and identify how the adverse effects of climate change, including sudden and slow onset

disasters, affect the full and effective enjoyment of human rights and make recommendations on how to address and prevent these adverse effects, in particular ways to strengthen the integration of human rights concerns into policymaking, legislation and plans addressing climate change;

- (b) To identify existing challenges, including financial challenges, in States' efforts to promote and protect human rights while addressing the adverse effects of climate change, and make recommendations regarding respect for, and promotion of, human rights, including in the context of the design and implementation of mitigation and adaptation policies, practices, investments and other projects;
- (c) To synthesize knowledge, including indigenous and local traditional knowledge, and identify good practices, strategies and policies that address how human rights are integrated into climate change policies and how these efforts contribute to the promotion and protection of all human rights and poverty alleviation;
- (d) To promote and exchange views on lessons learned and best practices related to the adoption of human rights-based, gender-responsive, age-sensitive, disability-inclusive and risk-informed approaches to climate change adaptation and mitigation policies, with a view to contributing to the achievement of the Paris Agreement and the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, which could help in the realisation of the Sustainable Development Goals, in particular Goals 13 and 14, to address the economic, cultural, environmental and social challenges that climate change poses for the full enjoyment of human rights for all and in particular to

- support the resilience and adaptive capacities of people in vulnerable situations to respond to the adverse impact of climate change:
- (e) To raise awareness on the human rights affected by climate change, especially of persons living in developing countries particularly vulnerable to climate change, such as least developed countries, small island developing States and landlocked developing States, and encourage increased global cooperation in this regard;
- (f) To seek views and contributions from States and other relevant stakeholders, including international organizations, United Nations institutions, agencies, funds and programmes, regional economic commissions, international and regional financial institutions. regional human rights mechanisms. national human rights institutions, civil society, children and young people, older persons, Indigenous Peoples, local communities, women's rights organizations, organizations of persons with disabilities, peasants and other people working in rural areas, academia, scientific institutions and non-governmental organizations, in the discharge of the mandate and develop a regular dialogue and A/HRC/RES/48/14 4 consultation on measures at the domestic and international levels on effective and sustainable climate action that respects, promotes and protects human rights;
- (g) To facilitate and contribute to the

I. Introduction

- exchange of technical assistance, capacity building and international cooperation in support of national efforts, actions and measures to address the adverse impact of climate change on the enjoyment of human rights, in collaboration with Governments, international organizations, civil society, the technical and academic communities, the private sector and all relevant stakeholders, including by using new and emerging digital technologies;
- (h) To work in close coordination, while avoiding duplication of efforts, with the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, other special procedures and other human rights mechanisms of the Human Rights Council, the treaty bodies and other relevant United Nations agencies, funds and programmes, including those related to climate change and the environment; (i) To conduct country visits and to respond promptly to invitations from States:
- (i) To participate in, and contribute to, a human rights perspective to relevant international conferences and events with the aim of promoting a systematic and coherent approach to issues pertaining to the mandate;
- (j) To integrate a gender-responsive, age-sensitive, disability-inclusive

- and social inclusion perspective throughout the work of the mandate;
- (k) To work closely with States and relevant stakeholders, including business enterprises, both transnational and others, to adopt a human rights perspective in accordance with the Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights to mitigate potential adverse effects of their activities, including investment projects, on human rights in the context of climate change;
- (I) To closely coordinate with the Special Rapporteur on the issue of human rights obligations relating to the enjoyment of a safe, clean, healthy and sustainable environment. the Special Rapporteur on the implications for human rights of the environmentally sound management and disposal of hazardous substances and wastes and the Special Rapporteur on the human rights to safe drinking water and sanitation and to consider every possibility to coordinate his or her work with these mandate holders in the most effective way, including through joint undertakings;
- (m) To report annually to the Human Rights Council, starting from its fiftieth session, and to the General Assembly at its seventy-seventh session.

b) Informal ASEM Seminar on Human Rights and Climate Change

The 21st Informal ASEM Seminar on Human Rights (ASEMHRS21) provides a platform for various stakeholders working in the area of human rights and climate change across ASEM Partner countries with the aim of contributing to a better understanding of the interplay between human rights and climate change and sharing best practices and innovative ideas for better integration of human rights in climate change policies and actions.

ASEMHRS21 will be hosted by the Ministry of Foreign and European Affairs of the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg and is scheduled to take place on 16-18 March 2022. The Seminar will be followed by outreach and capacity-building activities to disseminate the outcomes of the Seminar and to improve the knowledge and capacity of relevant actors in Asia and Europe. The follow-up activities will also be delivered in 2022.

This paper lays background for ASEMHRS21 to guide discussions for the Seminar's four Working Groups, namely:

 Reinforcing socio-ecological resilience of communities through information and public participation

- Promoting the full enjoyment of human rights by all persons affected by climate change
- Green, equitable and inclusive: Innovative ideas on international cooperation to address the impacts of climate change on human rights
- 4. Taking stock of national and international human rights regimes to protect against the consequences of climate change

c) Paper structure

This paper is structured as follows. Part II summarises developments concerning human rights and climate change that have occurred at the international level, as well as at the regional level, in Europe and in Asia. Part III considers in further detail specific developments concerning the reports' working group themes. Part IV provides suggestions on the way forward, including the prospects for better integration of human rights in climate change action and areas for future collaboration. Part V provides concluding observations and summarises key take away points.

II. INTERNATIONAL AND REGIONAL PROTECTION

Various intergovernmental processes and bodies have recognised the relevance of human rights obligations to climate change, and the need to mainstream human rights considerations in climate action. This section takes stock of these developments, considering first initiatives undertaken at the international level (a), and then those at the regional level, focussing on Asia (b) and Europe (c), respectively.

a. Human Rights and Climate Change at the International Level

The human rights dimensions of climate change are recognised in a series of resolutions, decisions, and reports, adopted under international climate treaties and by international human rights bodies.²² While it is not possible to exhaustively analyse all these developments in detail here, this section provides a summary of the most salient ones, starting with those that occurred under the climate treaties, and then those under human rights bodies.

Climate Treaties

The 1992 UN Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) defines the contours of international climate change cooperation and has been updated and complemented with obligations and procedures established under two subsequent treaties - the 1997 Kyoto Protocol and the 2015 Paris Agreement. The UNFCCC's overarching objective is to 'stabilise greenhouse gas concentrations at a level that would prevent dangerous human induced interference with the climate system'.23 The Paris Agreement has specified that this level entails 'holding the increase in the global average temperature to well below 2°C above pre-industrial levels and pursuing efforts to limit the temperature increase to 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels'.²⁴ In 2021 Parties to the Agreement decided to pursue efforts to limit the temperature increase to 1.5 °C.²⁵ In order to achieve this temperature goal, all Parties to the Paris Agreement must periodically submit plans – so called 'nationally determined contributions' (NDCs) – detailing, among others, planned and adopted measures to reduce emissions and adapt to climate change. NDCs therefore provide a yardstick to assess Parties' compliance with the Paris Agreement, and, more generally, progress to meet its temperature goal.

While the UNFCCC does not refer to human rights directly, over the years its parties have progressively recognised that States must ensure that their responses to climate change do not themselves violate human rights. The 2010 **Cancún Agreements** were the first UNFCCC decision to refer to human rights explicitly. The Agreements say that Parties 'should, in all climate change related actions, fully respect human rights.'²⁶ Furthermore, they mention the rights of Indigenous Peoples and local communities in safeguards for climate change response measures aimed to reduce emissions from the forest sector in developing countries (REDD+).²⁷

While ex se not legally binding, these and similar references to human rights in decisions adopted by Parties to the climate treaties have influenced the practice of international organisations. For example, programmes established to support, fund, guide, or certify the development and implementation of climate mitigation activities have, to various extents, incorporated human rights standards in their operational rules and safeguards. One of the international agencies facilitating REDD+ activities – the UN-REDD Programme – has adopted a human rights-based approach to its work and elaborated guidelines

on the rights of indigenous peoples to free, prior, and informed consent.²⁹ Furthermore, standards adopted by climate finance institutions – such as the **Green Climate Fund** – specifically refer to human rights as one of the criteria that States should satisfy to access funding for mitigation and adaptation projects.³⁰ See *further below, under III* (c).

As noted above, the **Paris Agreement** has given further impetus to the integration of human rights concerns in international climate cooperation. The agreement is the first international environmental treaty to explicitly acknowledge that:

"Parties should, when taking action to address climate change, respect, promote and consider their respective obligations on human rights, the right to health, the rights of Indigenous Peoples, local communities, migrants, children, persons with disabilities and people in vulnerable situations and the right to development, as well as gender equality, empowerment of women and intergenerational equity." 31

This preambular reference draws attention to States' human rights obligations as enshrined in national law, as well as in any international law instruments that they have ratified. The operative part of the Paris Agreement furthermore makes implicit reference to human-rights-related considerations, such as gender-responsiveness, public participation, and access to information.³² Timid though they are, these references are an entry point for greater cross-fertilisation between climate change and human rights law, especially in relation to matters with glaring implications for the enjoyment of human rights, such as loss and damage associated with the impacts of climate change.³³ See further below, under III (b).

So even though ultimately the reference to human rights is confined to the preamble, parties to the climate treaties have taken concrete steps to turn this broad statement into practice. For example, they established a **Local Communities and Indigenous Peoples** Platform (LCIPP) to strengthen the climate efforts of local communities and Indigenous Peoples, identify and share best practices for doing so, and enhance the engagement of these stakeholders in UNFCCC processes.34 They have furthermore adopted a **Gender Action** Plan, which aims to advance understanding of gender-responsive approaches to climate action, promote gender mainstreaming in the development and implementation of climate policies, and to ensure the full, equal, and meaningful participation of women in the UNFCCC process, as well as in national and local climate processes.35 See further below, under III (a).

The need to adopt a rights-based approach to climate change has been underscored in the context of the debate on the finalisation of the so-called **Paris Agreement's rulebook** – i.e., the set of decisions aimed to operationalise and implement the obligations and governance architecture designed with the Paris Agreement.³⁶ The rulebook was meant to be finished in 2018, but negotiations on contentious matters – such as the so-called market mechanisms envisioned under Article 6 – dragged on until 2021. The final set of rules adopted in 2021 have attracted some criticism from civil society over the integrity of agreed arrangements and their potential impacts on human rights.³⁷

Finally, some NDCs submitted under the Paris Agreement include information regarding the human and social dimensions of the implementation of climate response measures,

II. INTERNATIONAL AND REGIONAL PROTECTION

and underscore the States' commitment to implement climate change response measures in a rights-based manner. Others mention human rights as elements of the legal framework providing the context for the implementation of the NDC.³⁹ In addition, many NDCs refer to concepts closely related to human rights, such as public participation, food security, gender equality or the participation of women, and indigenous peoples and traditional knowledge. Several States therefore already recognise, explicitly or implicitly, the link between climate action and the protection of human rights in their NDCs.⁴⁰

Human Rights Bodies

In 2008, the HRC adopted the first resolution recognising that climate change 'poses an immediate and far-reaching threat to people

and communities around the world and has implications for the full enjoyment of human rights.'⁴¹ It has since adopted 10 more resolutions that stress, among other things, the importance of adopting a rights-based approach to climate policy-making, the role of international cooperation for protecting human rights in a changing climate, and the disproportionate impacts of climate change on people in vulnerable groups, specifically children, women, migrants, older persons, and persons with disabilities.⁴²

Using various phraseologies, these resolutions clearly state that 'human rights obligations, standards and principles have the potential to inform and strengthen international, regional, and national policymaking in the area of climate change, thereby promoting policy coherence, legitimacy and sustainable outcomes'⁴³ – see *Textbox 2*.

Textbox 2

HRC Resolutions on Human Rights and Climate Change

Resolution 47/24 (July 2021): The Council recognised that the rights of people in vulnerable situations were disproportionately affected negative impact of climate change. It requested the Secretary-General to prepare a report on the issue and decided that a panel discussion on the topic be held at the 50th Council session. The Council also decided to incorporate into its annual programme of work, beginning in 2023, a panel discussion on different themes related to climate change and human rights. It encouraged continued discussions among States and relevant stakeholders on the possible creation

of a new special procedure mandate on climate change and human rights.

Resolution 44/7 (July 2020): The Council recognised that the negative impacts of climate change disproportionately affected the rights of older persons. It requested OHCHR to conduct a study on the issue and decided that a panel discussion on this topic be held at the 47th session of the Council.

Resolution 42/21 (July 2019): The Council recognised that the rights of persons with disabilities are disproportionately affected by the negative impacts of climate change. It requested the Office to prepare an analytical study on the promotion and

the protection of the rights of persons with disabilities in the context of climate change and a panel discussion at its 44th session on the same topic.

Resolution 38/4 (July 2018): The Council recognised that the integration of a gender-responsive approach into climate policies would increase the effectiveness of climate change mitigation and adaptation, requesting an analytical study and a panel discussion on the topic.

Resolution 35/20 (July 2017): The Council noted the urgency of protecting and promoting the human rights of migrants and persons displaced across international borders in the context of the adverse impact of climate change. It called for an intersessional panel discussion on the issue as well as a report on human rights protection gaps in the context of migration and displacement of persons across international borders.

Resolution 32/33 (July 2016): The Council urged Parties to integrate human rights in climate change mitigation and adaptation and called for a panel discussion on the adverse impact of climate change on the rights of the child to be held at its 34th session.

Resolution 29/15 (July 2015): The Council emphasised the urgency of continuing to address the adverse consequences of climate change for all and called for a panel discussion and analytical study on the impacts of

climate change on the enjoyment of the right to health.

Resolution 26/27 (July 2014): The Council emphasised the need for all States to enhance international dialogue and cooperation to address the adverse impacts of climate change on the enjoyment of human rights including the right to development. It called for dialogue, capacity-building, mobilisation financial resources. technology transfer, and other forms of cooperation to facilitate climate change adaptation and mitigation, in order to meet the special needs and circumstances of developing countries.

Resolution 18/22 (September 2011): The Council affirmed that human rights obligations, standards, and principles have the potential to inform and strengthen international and national policy-making in the area of climate change, promoting policy coherence, legitimacy, and sustainable outcomes.

Resolution 10/4 (March 2009): The Council noted that 'climate change-related impacts have a range of implications, both direct and indirect, for the effective enjoyment of human rights ...' and that such effects 'will be felt most acutely by those segments of the population who are already in a vulnerable situation ...'.

Resolution 7/23 (March 2008): The Council expressed concern that <u>climate change</u> 'poses an immediate

II. INTERNATIONAL AND REGIONAL PROTECTION

and far-reaching threat to people and communities around the world' and requested OHCHR to prepare a study on the relationship between climate change and human rights.

SOURCE: https://www.ohchr.org/EN/ Issues/HRAndClimateChange/Pages/ Resolutions.aspx

International bodies entrusted to monitor the implementation of UN human rights treaties have also clarified the human rights obligations of States in relation to climate change. For example, in its General Comment on the Right to Life, the **UN Human Rights Committee** – which is the body of independent experts monitoring the implementation of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights – asserts that climate change constitutes one of the most pressing and serious threats to the ability of present and future generations to enjoy the right to life. The General Comment adds:

"Implementation of the obligation to respect and ensure the right to life, and in particular life with dignity, depends, inter alia, on measures taken by States parties to preserve the environment and protect it against harm, pollution and climate change caused by public and private actors."

Furthermore, in a 2020 decision over an individual complaint, the Committee concluded that:

"...without robust national and international efforts, the effects of climate change in receiving States may expose individuals to a violation of their rights under articles 6 or 7 of the Covenant, thereby triggering the non-refoulement obligations of sending States. Furthermore, given that the risk of

an entire country becoming submerged under water is such an extreme risk, the conditions of life in such a country may become incompatible with the right to life with dignity before the risk is realized."⁴⁵

Along similar lines, the **Committee of the Rights of the Child** – which is the body of independent experts monitoring implementation of the Convention on the Rights of the Child – has highlighted the impacts of climate change and environmental degradation on children's right to health. ⁴⁶ In its first ever decision concerning a complaint associated with the impacts of climate change on younger generations, the Committee made clear that the Convention gives rise to extra-territorial obligations to address climate change:

"...when transboundary harm occurs, children are under the jurisdiction of the State on whose territory the emissions originated for the purposes of article 5 (1) [jurisdiction] of the Optional Protocol if there is a causal link between the acts or omissions of the State in question and the negative impact on the rights of children located outside its territory, when the State of origin exercises effective control over the sources of the emissions in question."⁴⁷

The Committee further elaborated that due to the particular impact on children, and the recognition by States parties to the Convention that children are entitled to special safeguards, including appropriate legal protection, States have heightened obligations to protect children from foreseeable harm. Even though the Committee declared the complaints inadmissible, as domestic remedies had not been exhausted, it left the door open for future complaints concerning the impacts of climate change on children.

The Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW) which is the body of independent experts that monitors implementation of the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women - has specifically highlighted the need to ensure gender responsiveness in climate change, and disaster management, emphasising women's participation.⁵⁰ Its General Recommendation on gender-related dimensions of disaster risk reduction in the context of climate change underscores the need for gender responsive climate change mitigation and adaptation policies founded on the principles of non-discrimination, participation and empowerment.51

This swelling body of international practice well illustrates how climate change concerns are increasingly brought to the attention of international human rights bodies and complaint mechanisms, generating a common understanding of the interplay between human rights and climate change obligations. This common understanding increasingly influences regional and national human rights practice. See further below, under III (d).

b. Human Rights and Climate Change at the regional level: Asia

Some Asian countries have reasonably well-developed dedicated climate legislation, like **Indonesia**, **Lao PDR**, Nepal, **Pakistan**, the

Philippines, and South Korea with corresponding institutional arrangements. The majority of Asian countries, however, address climate action via policy response frameworks. For example, India's international legal commitments are implemented through the National Action Plan on Climate Change. However, these instruments make scant efforts to include human rights considerations and provide limited state accountability for failure to meet pledged climate action.

Several regional organisations that represent groups of Asian countries are increasingly focusing on human rights and climate change.

The Association of South-East Asian Nations (ASEAN) brings together ten Southeast Asian States – Brunei, Cambodia, Indonesia, Laos, Malaysia, Myanmar, the Philippines, Singapore, Thailand, and Vietnam. ASEAN has developed a regional human rights framework. In 2012 ASEAN adopted the Action Plan on Joint Response to Climate Change, with a view to implement the ASEAN Leaders' Statement on Joint Response to Climate Change. The action plan, however, does not mention human rights.

The **ASEAN Intergovernmental Commission** on **Human Rights (AICHR)** was established in 2009 to promote and protect the human rights and fundamental freedoms of the peoples of the ASEAN. The 2012 ASEAN Human Rights Declaration established a framework for cooperation between member countries. Article 28(f) of the Declaration guarantees that "every person has the right to an adequate standard of living for himself or herself and his or her family including {...} the right to a safe, clean, and sustainable environment."⁵³ Though not legally binding, the Declaration can be used as an entry point to address the human rights, environment, and climate change nexus. However, unlike

II. INTERNATIONAL AND REGIONAL PROTECTION

regional institutions in Africa and Europe, AICHR does not have the power to investigate and consider complaints of human rights violations. ASEAN also lacks a regional court to adjudicate human rights complaints.

Nevertheless, AICHR has been active in scoping the human rights implications of climate change by organising a series of workshops.⁵⁴ The first workshop on Environment Human Rights and Climate Change was organised in 2014, with a focus on the development of regional responses to address the relationships between human rights, the environment, and climate change. The workshop noted that a human rights-based approach that encompasses the principles of equality, nondiscrimination, participation, accountability, and access to justice is essential to address environmental concerns at international, regional, and national levels.55 In 2021, a workshop organised in collaboration with UN agencies highlighted that the implementation of procedural rights of access to information. public participation, and access to justice as the foundation of rights-based approaches to environmental decision-making.56

The UN Environmental Programme (UNEP) has adopted principles and policy guidance for promoting and protecting children's rights to a healthy environment in the ASEAN region. The 33 principles include:

- the right to environment,
- · right to environmental education,
- participation of children in environmental decision making,
- access to child-friendly information strategies,
- protection of children from climate change and damage to the natural environment,

- protection from harmful business activities and
- protection from violence.⁵⁷

The principles are a signpost for governments, civil society, businesses, and the media to protect children from climate change impacts.

Furthermore, many specific climate change programmes – including the ASEAN Multi-Sectoral Framework on Climate Change: Agriculture, Fisheries, and Forestry towards Food Security – require member States to formulate and implement rights-based and gender-sensitive policies in different sectors. ⁵⁸ In the Joint Statement on Climate Change to the 26th UNFCCC Conference of the Parties, ASEAN recognised the negative impacts of climate change on human life, including on food, water, energy, clean and green environment, and health. ⁵⁹

The Bay of Bengal Initiative for Multi-**Sectoral Technical and Economic Cooperation** (BIMSTEC) was established in 1997 and comprises seven Member States, namely Bangladesh, Bhutan, India, Nepal, Sri Lanka, Myanmar, and Thailand. BIMSTEC is a sectordriven cooperative organisation and has expanded its mandate to climate change. The 4th BIMSTEC Summit agreed to create an inter-governmental expert group for developing a collective response plan of action to climate change on the basis of common but differentiated responsibilities and respective capabilities, taking into account different national circumstances and equity. 60 This group could become the entry point for incorporating human rights concerns missing from the BIMSTEC agenda.

The South Asian Association for Regional Cooperation (SAARC) is a geopolitical organisation established in 1985, bringing

together Afghanistan, Bangladesh, Bhutan, India, Maldives, Nepal, Pakistan, and Sri Lanka. SAARC has facilitated cooperation among its member States to address climate change. SAARC member States have often stressed regional cooperation on climate action, including in the Thimphu Statement on Climate Change. 61 The statement takes note of the adverse effects of climate change and its impact on the lives and livelihoods of the South Asian people. Furthermore, the SAARC Social Charter requires State parties to "establish a people-centred framework [...] to respond to the immediate needs of those who are most affected by human distress".62 These are a few examples of how SAARC countries have cooperated on environmental issues and climate change. However, the human rights angle is missing in SAARC initiatives, and, unlike ASEAN, SAARC has not adopted any specific declaration on human rights.63

The **Asian Development Bank (ADB)** has played a proactive role in highlighting the linkage between climate change and human rights through numerous reports and capacity-building projects. ⁶⁴ In 2020 the ADB's Law and Policy Reform Program and the UNEP co-organised the 'Asia Pacific Judicial Conference on Climate Change: Adjudication in the Time of COVID-19'.

The conference, supported by the Asian Judges Network on Environment, especially focused on the potential role of climate litigation for elevating the human impacts of climate change to centre stage.⁶⁵

Finally, some corporate social and environmental responsibility initiatives have been undertaken in the region. ASEAN has established a regional network, **Responsible and Inclusive Business Alliance (ARAIBA)**, which promotes responsible, inclusive, resilient, and sustainable enterprises. The network's code of conduct details that businesses should commit to:

- · supporting the precautionary approach
- undertaking initiatives to promote greater environmental responsibility
- encouraging the development and diffusion of environmentally friendly technologies.⁶⁶

The code also imposes an obligation on businesses to respect internationally proclaimed human rights such as the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights and ensure that they are not complicit in human rights abuses.⁶⁷

Some countries have adopted corporate social and environmental responsibility measures at the national level. For example, in India it

...the National Guidelines on the Economic, Social and Environmental Responsibilities of Business recognise that environmental responsibility is a prerequisite for economic growth and social wellbeing. However, these guidelines are only voluntary.

II. INTERNATIONAL AND REGIONAL PROTECTION

is mandatory for project proponents seeking environmental clearance to specify the cost of Corporate Environmental Responsibility (CER) in addition to the basic cost envisaged for the EIA and Environment Management Plan (EMP).⁶⁸ Furthermore, the National Guidelines on the Economic, Social and Environmental Responsibilities of Business recognise that environmental responsibility is a prerequisite for economic growth and social wellbeing.⁶⁹ However, these guidelines are only voluntary.⁷⁰

c. Human Rights and Climate Change at the regional level: Europe

In recent years several European institutions and bodies have paid increasing attention to the interplay between human rights and climate law and policy. While it is not possible to exhaustively cover all related initiatives and developments, this section flags those that are most relevant, both at the level of the European Union and of the Council of Europe.

Council of Europe

The Council of Europe (COE) is Europe's leading regional human rights organisation and comprises 47 Member States. Even though the main COE human rights instrument – the **European Convention on Human Rights** – does not include an explicit reference to the right to a healthy environment, the COE has stepped up its activities in this area in recent years.

The Final Declaration of the **High-level Conference on Environmental Protection and Human Rights**, held on 27 February 2020, acknowledges that 'climate change, extinction of species, loss of biodiversity, pollution and the overall degradation of the earth's ecosystems have a profound global impact on the enjoyment of human rights and require the widest possible cooperation by all Council of Europe

Member States,' and that 'the protection of the environment and the protection of human rights are interconnected: one cannot be achieved without the other, nor at the expense of the other.'⁷¹ The Declaration further notes that the COE 'has a key role to play in mainstreaming the environmental dimension into human rights and pursue a rights-based approach to environmental protection.'⁷²

In September 2021, the **COE Parliamentary Assembly** passed a resolution⁷³ supporting the adoption of an additional protocol to the European Convention on Human Rights to anchor the right to a safe, clean, healthy, and sustainable environment in the European human rights system. However, the COE's Committee of Ministers has the final say on this matter. In the meantime, the COE Parliamentary Assembly has launched a Parliamentary Network for a Healthy Environment, bringing together parliamentarians from 20 COE members to demand the explicit recognition of right to a healthy environment and take other urgent steps to deal with the climate crisis.⁷⁴

The third edition of the **COE Manual on Human Rights and the Environment**, published in February 2022, summarises the principles emerging from the case law of the European Court of Human Rights, as well as the conclusions and decisions on the same matter adopted by the European Committee of Social Rights, concerning the protection of environmental interests, which are framed in terms of human rights concerns. The manual also includes a summary of best practices aimed at protecting the environment and respecting the obligations stemming from the European Convention on Human Rights and the European Social Charter. These include:

o Embedding environmental rights in the

- national policy and legal framework;
- Establishing control over potentially harmful environmental activities;
- Requiring environmental impact assessments (EIAs);
- Ensuring public participation and access to information on environmental matters;
- o Making environmental rights judiciable and the environment a public concern;
- Providing education on environmental sustainability;
- o Protecting environmental activists and whistle-blowers.⁷⁶

Finally, the European Court of Human Rights (ECtHR) has recently been asked to hear four complaints, concerning member States' responsibility for human rights breaches associated with climate change.

Duarte Agostinho and Others v Portugal and Others was brought by a group of six Portuguese children and young people against Portugal and another 32 COE member States.77 The case was taken directly to the ECtHR, without exhausting domestic remedies. The applicants claim that the respondent States have breached their human rights protected by the ECHR, including the right to life (Article 2), by failing to adopt urgent deep cuts to greenhouse gas emissions which are necessary to comply with the Paris Agreement. They point to the increased temperatures and lethal forest fires in Portugal, and to the impact of climate change on their lives and their physical and mental health. In addition, the applicants argue that the respondent States have failed to take responsibility for their contribution to greenhouse gas emissions overseas, through various activities.

Verein Klimaseniorinnen Schweiz and Others v Switzerland was brought by an association of senior women and four individual applicants against Switzerland.⁷⁸ The association has more than 1,800 members, all women over the age of 64. The applicants complained about breaches of the Swiss constitution resulting from inadequate climate policies which do not adequately address the risk of heat related deaths, which occur more frequently in older people, particularly older women. Their application to the ECtHR follows domestic judicial proceedings, in which the Swiss highest court rejected the applicants' complaint.⁷⁹

Müllner v Austria was lodged by an individual applicant, after an unsuccessful appeal to the Austrian Supreme Court. The applicant suffers from Uhthoff's syndrome, which affects most sufferers of multiple sclerosis when temperatures rise above 25 degrees Celsius. He alleges that increasing temperatures will severely affect him, and that Austria is failing to take reasonable and appropriate measures to protect his health and wellbeing.

In Greenpeace Nordic and Others v Norway, two organisations and six individuals have challenged the Norwegian authorities' decision to issue new petroleum production licences in the Barents Sea. The applicants allege violations of the right to respect for private and family life and contest the Norwegian authorities' refusal to set aside the licenses. Their application to the ECtHR also follows domestic proceedings, where Norway's highest court rejected the applicants' complaint.⁸¹

All four complaints remain pending at the time of writing and are awaiting the court's decision over their admissibility. At this stage, the court typically considers whether it can go ahead and hear the merits of the case and rejects the vast majority of applications it receives.⁸²

II. INTERNATIONAL AND REGIONAL PROTECTION

European Union

The European Union (EU) has adopted a large range of measures to address climate change, most recently as part of its so-called '2030 Climate and Energy Framework' for the decade 2020 – 2030.83 Relatedly, with the so-called **European Green Deal**, the EU is adopting a set of legislative measures to ensure that sustainability is better embedded into EU corporate governance frameworks.84

First, the EU is planning legislation on **mandatory corporate environmental and human rights due diligence**. The legislative proposal published in 2022 has the objectives to:

 improve corporate governance practices to better integrate risk management and mitigation processes of human rights and environmental risks and impacts, including

- those stemming from value chains, into corporate strategies;
- avoid fragmentation of due diligence requirements in the EU single market and create legal certainty for businesses and stakeholders as regards expected behaviour and liability;
- increase corporate accountability for adverse impacts, and ensure coherence for companies regarding obligations under existing and proposed EU initiatives on responsible business conduct;
- improve access to remedies for those affected by adverse human rights and environmental impacts of corporate behaviour;
- complement other measures in force, or proposed, which directly address some specific sustainability challenges or apply

The proposal now needs to be scrutinised by other EU institutions, as part of the EU law-making process. Civil society organisations have criticised it for targeting only a small percentage of EU-operating businesses and for restricting victims' access to justice. In the meantime, a few European States have already passed national legislation on due diligence, including France and Germany, whereas others, including Austria, Belgium, and the Netherlands, announced that they would do so.

in some specific sectors, mostly within FII 85

The proposal now needs to be scrutinised by other EU institutions, as part of the EU law-making process. Civil society organisations have criticised it for targeting only a small percentage of EU-operating businesses and for restricting victims' access to justice. 86 In the meantime, a few European States have already passed national legislation on due diligence, including **France** and **Germany**, whereas others, including **Austria**, **Belgium**, and the **Netherlands**, announced that they would do so.

In 2021 the European Commission also published a legislative proposal to introduce mandatory due diligence for products sold on the EU market to make sure they are not linked to deforestation or forest degradation.⁸⁷ The proposed regulation suggests requiring that products sold into the EU internal market comply with labour, environmental, and human rights laws applicable in the country of production.

The EU is also considering a Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive, which is set to introduce more detailed reporting, as well as a requirement to report according to mandatory EU sustainability reporting standards.88 The proposal published by the European Commission includes requirements to provide information concerning the respect for the human rights, fundamental freedoms, democratic principles and standards established in the International Bill of Human Rights and other UN human rights conventions, the International Labour Organization's Declaration on Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work, and the ILO fundamental conventions and the Charter of Fundamental Rights of the European Union.89 The proposal furthermore includes sustainability reporting standards specifying the information that undertakings are to disclose about environmental factors, including information about climate change litigation and adaptation.⁹⁰

At the time of writing, the legislative process on this and other initiatives described above remains ongoing. Instead, the already adopted **EU Taxonomy Regulation**⁹¹ harmonises the criteria for determining whether an economic activity qualifies as environmentally sustainable. These criteria include ensuring alignment with the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises and the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights.⁹² The Regulation also includes specific criteria to determine the sustainability of corporate contributions to climate change mitigation and adaptation.⁹³

These recently concluded and ongoing legislative initiatives are symptomatic of the EU's increasing efforts to try and regulate corporate activities, so as to better encompass climate and human rights impacts, not only of actors operating in the EU, but also of their value chains. At the time of writing, it is not possible to assess the precise contents and the impacts of said initiatives. It seems however clear that presently there is an appetite in the region to regulate corporate activities, so as to better take into consideration concerns that sit at the interface between climate change and human rights law and policy.

III. THEMATIC FOCI

ASEMHRS21 will be articulated around four thematic foci, which were selected by the Seminar host, in consultation with the meeting's Steering Committee. This section lays out the background to guide discussions during the Seminar's four Working Groups, providing examples from ASEM countries.

a. Reinforcing socio-ecological resilience of communities through information and public participation

States' obligations under human rights law to protect against environmental harm include procedural obligations to provide information, facilitate participation, and provide access to remedies. 94 These procedural obligations require that States assess environmental impacts in new policies and projects, and that they make such information public. 95 Obligations associated with the right to take part in the conduct of public affairs require that States facilitate public participation in decision-making over environmental matters, especially by those likely to be affected. 96

At the national level, these procedural obligations are typically associated with the right to a healthy environment, which is recognised in the constitutions of more than 150 States.⁹⁷ At the international level, these obligations are derived from the catalogue of human rights enshrined in human rights treaties.

In Europe, the **1998 Convention on Access to Information, Public Participation in Decision-Making and Access to Justice in Environmental Matters (Aarhus Convention)** provides more specific obligations in this connection. ⁹⁸ All States in the world can ratify the Convention, which so far has been joined by 42 COE member States, as well as by the EU and by Guinea Bissau. The Aarhus Convention includes

obligations concerning public authorities' duty to share information on environmental matters, ⁹⁹ as well as to enable the general public and affected citizens to participate in environmental decision-making. ¹⁰⁰ These obligations are at the heart of a rich body of regional jurisprudence, ¹⁰¹ which, as further illustrated below, is already expanding to cover climate change-related concerns.

In Asia, there is no regional instrument concerning access to environmental information. Efforts towards establishing a regional framework for EIA are underway in ASEAN. 102 A 2019 consultation advocated for a rights-based approach to EIA and recommended the establishment of a Task Force to develop an ASEAN Framework for EIA. 103

Information

Public access to environmental information enables individuals and groups to understand how environmental harm may undermine their rights, such as the rights to life and health, and supports the exercise of other rights, such as the rights to freedom of expression and association.

The UN Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and the Environment has clarified that access to environmental information has two dimensions. 104 First, States should regularly collect, update and disseminate environmental information, including information about the quality of the environment; pollution, waste, chemicals and other potentially harmful substances introduced into the environment; threatened and actual environmental impacts on human health and well-being; and relevant laws and policies. In situations involving imminent threat of harm to human health or the environment, States furthermore have the specific obligation to ensure that all information that would enable the public to take protective measures is disseminated immediately to all affected persons. Second, States should provide affordable, effective, and timely access to environmental information held by public authorities, upon the request of any person or association, without the need to show a legal or other interest. Grounds for refusal of a request should be set out clearly and construed narrowly, in light of the public interest in favour of disclosure. States should also provide guidance to the public on how to obtain environmental information. ¹⁰⁵

With specific reference to climate change, **States**' human rights obligations require that they assess the impacts of both climate change and of climate change response measures and that they make such information public. At the same time, **businesses** have a responsibility to publicly disclose their emissions, climate vulnerability and the risk of stranded assets.¹⁰⁶

A number of initiatives at the regional and at the national level have been launched to enable greater and better implementation of state obligations and corporate responsibilities in this area. Best practices include the use of **human rights impact assessments** and **due diligence assessments**, the creation of **safeguards** and other mechanisms that prevent tensions and maximise synergies between human rights and climate change response measures, and the adoption of a rights-based approach for developing, implementing, monitoring, and evaluating climate policies and programmes.¹⁰⁷

Public authorities are increasingly asked to publish information concerning the impacts of their activities and policies on climate change. For example, the Philippines National Environmental Education Plan, initiated with the support of the ASEAN Secretariat, established an information centre in Manila to facilitate the dissemination of information on climate change. 108

The contours of public authorities' obligations in this connection are being contested through litigation. For example, in Greenpeace Luxembourg v. Schneider, the applicants complained that the public authorities had failed to respond to a request for information how the national concerning sovereign pension fund planned to align investments with the objectives of the Paris Agreement and concerning the climate-related risks associated investments. 109 with said Luxembourg's Administrative Court declared that the Minister in question had not respected the obligation to respond to Greenpeace and that the information requested could be considered as environmental information. The Court, however, found that the Minister did not have an obligation to comply with the Paris Agreement or to possess the information requested by Greenpeace. 110

At the same time, national legislation increasingly demands that businesses are more transparent about the human rights and the climate impacts of their operations. National Contact Points (NCP) established under the Organisation for Economic **Co-operation and Development** (OECD) Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises are increasingly asked to look into complaints concerning the corporate duty to provide information. In one of these cases, a Polish NGO lamented the lack of information concerning corporate emissions and the financial impacts of insuring coal mining. In response, the Polish NCP recommended that the company disclose the relevant non-financial information and adopt policies that respect human rights.111 Similar complaints have been recorded also in Asia. For example, a Japanese NGO has complained that three banks have failed to require the sponsors

III. THEMATIC FOCI

of coal-fired power plants to disclose information about the projects' emissions and measures to mitigate these. 112 The applicants also lament the banks' failure to exercise their leverage to ensure that communities affected by the power stations were adequately consulted during the project development.

Participation

Under human right law, **States** have an obligation to provide for and facilitate public participation in decision-making related to the environment and take the views of the public into account in the decision-making process. The UN Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and the Environment has clarified that all relevant information about proposals and the related decision-making process should be made available to the affected public in an objective, understandable, timely, and effective manner. 113 At the same time **businesses** should entertain 'meaningful consultation' with potentially affected groups and other stakeholders, and also take into account the findings from impact assessments and take appropriate action. 114 With specific reference to climate change. States must facilitate public participation in decisionmaking over climate change response measures and, at the same time, strengthen the capacity of citizens and communities to participate in climate decision-making. 115

In Europe, some countries have experimented with different forms of institutionalised participation in climate governance and policymaking. For example, in 2020 UK organised 'climate assemblies', where citizens were invited to make recommendations about what the UK should do to get to net zero emissions by 2050. The assemblies' final report¹¹⁶ has informed parliamentary debates and had an influence on the setting of the UK lawmakers' agenda. ¹¹⁷ National-level Climate Assemblies

have also been undertaken in **Austria**, **Denmark**, **France**, and **Spain** and in many other countries at the local and regional level, including with the support of initiatives such as the Global Assembly Project. ¹¹⁸ Some countries have also adopted '**future generations legislation**', which requires law- and policy-makers to assess the long-term impact of their decisions, and to prevent problems affecting particularly the youth and the unborn, such as climate change. ¹¹⁹

State obligations concerning public participation are increasingly enforced, by means of human rights complaints, as well as formal litigation. For example, the **Aarhus Convention Compliance Committee** has found both the UK and the EU to have breached their obligations, for having adopted renewable energy law and policy without adequate public participation. As a result, the EU has recently revised its own legislation to allow for better public scrutiny of EU environmental laws, 121 which is however still subject to limitations concerning state aid measures. 122

This type of complaints emphasises the importance of safeguarding procedural and substantive rights, and of protecting individuals and groups who are most likely to be adversely affected by climate change response measures or projects. Going forward, greater understanding of this litigation is necessary to appreciate tensions associated with the transition towards zero carbon societies, and ways in which such tensions may be resolved. 123

b. Promoting the full enjoyment of human rights by all persons affected by climate change

The Paris Agreement is the first climate treaty to specifically deal with the matter of loss and damage. Article 8 recognises 'the importance of averting, minimising and addressing loss and

damage associated with the adverse effects of climate change, including extreme weather events and slow onset events.'124 The decision adopting the Paris Agreement states that the Parties agree Article 8 'does not involve or provide a basis for any liability or compensation'. 125 As a result, to date the intergovernmental work on loss and damage has focused on technical studies and information gathering, while reporting under the transparency, review and compliance mechanisms of the Paris Agreement remains voluntary. 126 This means that the Paris Agreement's 2023 Global Stocktake is unlikely to include a rigorous analysis of actions and commitments with respect to loss and damage and how they stack up.127 Equally, there is no dedicated facility for financing loss and damage. In 2021, the Glasgow Dialogue was launched with the specific aim to 'discuss the arrangements for the funding of activities to avert, minimize and address loss and damage associated with the adverse impacts of climate change'.128 With an end date of June 2024, this initiative has been described by some NGOs as 'grossly insufficient'.129 Some countries have made financial pledges specifically to address loss and damage, partnering with the Climate Change and Resilience Fund. 130

Under human rights law, all States must undertake measures to protect all persons within their jurisdiction, particularly those most endangered by the negative impacts of climate change, such as those living in vulnerable areas. Specifically, the UN Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and the Environment has noted how state human rights obligations entail taking measures to support people to adapt to changes that are foreseeable – such as rising sea levels or increased floods, wildfires, etc. States have positive duties to adopt adequate adaptation measures, including legislation, and to ensure that these measures do not themselves

contribute to human rights violations. 131 States furthermore have positive duties to enforce said legislation, and to provide redress to those suffering from the impacts of climate change. Finally, human rights obligations require that States engage in international cooperation to deal with the impacts of climate change. 132 These obligations are especially crucial to protect individuals and groups most likely to be affected by climate change, such as women, children, the elderly, Indigenous Peoples, persons with disabilities, the poor, and displaced persons and refugees. The UN Special Rapporteur on Extreme Poverty and Human Rights has underscored the risk that in the future 'the wealthy pay to escape overheating, hunger, and conflict, while the rest of the world is left to suffer'. 133

Not dealing with climate loss and damage within the UN climate regime has shifted the burden of treating this thorny matter on to other national and international law systems. ¹³⁴ This is evident, for example, in climate litigation in Asia, which well illustrates the glaring gaps of extant arrangements to deal with the human impacts of climate change.

For example, in 2015 a group of national and international civil society organisations and individuals, led by Greenpeace, complained before the Human Rights Commission of the Philippines about the role of the world's largest corporate emitters – so-called 'Carbon Majors' – in triggering climate change-induced human rights violations. The petition was filed following the widespread loss of life and harm to property and persons associated with increasingly extreme weather events in the Philippines. Seven years on, the Commission has yet to release its findings.

The issue of human displacement associated with climate change has also been at the centre

III. THEMATIC FOCI

of a high-profile complaint to the UN Human Rights Committee. In Teitiota v. New Zealand, 136 the applicant claimed that New Zealand should not return him to his country of origin, Kiribati, as the impacts of climate change put him at risk of being exposed to life-threatening events and living conditions. The Committee rejected Mr Teitiota's complaint, finding that the applicant had not sufficiently substantiated his claims that he faced a real risk to life if deported to Kiribati. 137 Nevertheless, the Committee made additional important observations, clarifying that 'environmental degradation, climate change and unsustainable development constitute some of the most pressing and serious threats to the ability of present and future generations to enjoy the right to life'.138 It furthermore stated that conditions 'may become incompatible with the right to life with dignity before the risk is realized', which suggests that one should not need to wait for high rates of mortality or generalised violence for the non-refoulement obligation to kick in.

These considerations might influence the Committee's decision of another pending complaint lodged by a group of islanders in relation to climate-induced rising seas, tidal surges, coastal erosion, and inundation of the Torres Strait Islands, North Australia. ¹³⁹ The applicants claim that Australia's failure to reduce emissions, combined with the absence of adequate climate adaptation measures, has violated their human rights to life and culture. They claim that climate change will forcibly displace them to mainland Australia, away from their ancestral land, to which their culture is inextricably linked. ¹⁴⁰

Finally, the disproportionate impacts of climate change on women have been recognised in *BELA v. Bangladesh*, where a national court explicitly noted the impact of salinity intrusion resulting

from climate change on women's access to natural resources. 141

These complaints well exemplify how human rights obligations potentially enable applicants to link climatic harms to state obligations and corporate responsibilities. By highlighting principles of universality and non-discrimination, the rights of future generations, and of those living outside a state's territory, human rights give a voice to the voiceless. In this connection, human rights often provide the only means to complain about harm produced by climate change and bridge the climate accountability gap left by the Paris Agreement.¹⁴²

This is, however, an area where human rights also present clear limitations. Human rights remedies provide declaratory relief to name and shame abusers, but this makes little difference if is not followed by action to prevent further harm and remedy the harm caused. Similarly, human rights remedies offer little, if any, compensatory relief for the impacts of climate change, and limited means to deter further harm and emissions. As in other cases of environmental harm, the viability of litigation reliant on human rights concerning climate change depends on both 'legal and social variables'.143 It requires that rules about standing be interpreted in a way to enable individuals or groups to be heard, and an independent and sympathetic judiciary. As section III(d) will discuss in greater detail, while some significant climate litigation milestones have been set, much more needs to be done to address the plight of those most vulnerable to the impacts of climate change. 144

While human rights law is limited in its capacity to redress human rights abuses and address their structural roots, it is nevertheless an important complement to counter the significant shortfalls in the treatment of loss and damage

in national and international law. It emphasises States' obligation to adopt legislation, enforce it properly, and provide access to adequate remedies and sanction corporate misbehaviour. Given the climate accountability gap left by the Paris Agreement, human rights law and remedies represent an 'essential term of reference' to address justice and equity questions arising in the context of climate change.¹⁴⁴

c. Green, equitable and inclusive: Innovative ideas on international cooperation to address the impacts of climate change on human rights

Human rights principles and standards help to clarify the steps that States and corporations must take to ensure not only that climate measures are effective but also that they work for all persons, without discrimination, and that they contribute to fulfil their rights, rather than undermine them.

The concept of a 'just transition' was originally conceived as a programme of support for workers

who lost their jobs due to environmental protection policies. Over time, the term has been used by trade unions and intergovernmental organisations more broadly to refer to deliberate efforts to plan for and invest in a transition to environmentally and socially sustainable jobs, sectors, and economies. A just transition away from fossilfuel based economies is faced with challenges associated with economic restructuring, resulting in the displacement of workers and possible job losses; the need for enterprises, workplaces and communities to adapt to climate change to avoid loss of assets and livelihoods and involuntary migration: and the adverse effects on the incomes of poor households from higher energy and commodity prices.

The International Labour Organisation (ILO)'s 'Guidelines for a Just Transition Towards Environmentally Sustainable Economies and Societies for All' provide a framework for a systemic and whole-of-economy approach to sustainability that addresses environmental, social, and economic issues together 145 – see Textbox 3.

Textbox 3

ILO Guidelines for a just transition towards environmentally sustainable economies and societies for all

The following principles should guide the transition to environmentally sustainable economies and societies:

(a) Strong social consensus on the goal and pathways to sustainability is fundamental. Social dialogue has to be an integral part of the institutional framework for policymaking and implementation at all levels.

- Adequate, informed, and ongoing consultation should take place with all relevant stakeholders.
- (b) Policies must respect, promote, and realise fundamental principles and rights at work.
- (c) Policies and programmes need to take into account the strong gender dimension of many environmental challenges and opportunities. Specific gender policies should be considered in order to promote equitable outcomes.

III. THEMATIC FOCI

- (d) Coherent policies across the economic, environmental, social, education/training, and labour portfolios need to provide an enabling environment for enterprises, workers, investors, and consumers to embrace and drive the transition towards environmentally sustainable and inclusive economies and societies.
- (e) These coherent policies also need to provide a just transition framework for all to promote the creation of more decent jobs, including as appropriate: anticipating impacts on employment, adequate and sustainable social protection for job losses and displacement, skills development and social dialogue, including the effective

- exercise of the right to organise and bargain collectively.
- (f) There is no 'one size fits all'. Policies and programmes need to be designed in line with the specific conditions of countries, including their stage of development, economic sectors, and types and sizes of enterprises.
- (g) In implementing sustainable development strategies, it is important to foster international cooperation among countries.
 In this context, we recall the outcome document of the United Nations Conference on Sustainable Development (Rio +20), including section VI on means of implementation.

NGOs, such as Amnesty International, have expressed support for the ILO Guidelines and consider just transition a central aspect of human rights-consistent climate action. 146 They emphasise the need to ensure that the transition to decarbonised economies and resilient societies is just and fair for all, in line with States' human rights obligations, and creates opportunities to combat existing inequalities both within and between countries, including promoting gender, racial, ethnic, disability, and intergenerational equality.

In Europe, some countries have created institutions – like Scotland's **Just Transition Commission** – providing scrutiny and advice on the national government's transition plans, engaging with those groups most likely to be impacted by the transition, and advising on how

to ensure these can shape and contribute to just transition planning. $^{\rm 147}$

Similarly, parties to the UNFCCC have progressively referred to the notion of a just transition. At UNFCCC COP24, 55 heads of state and government adopted the **Solidarity and Just Transition Silesia Declaration**. At UNFCCC COP25, the UN Secretary-General and the ILO Director-General launched the **Climate Action for Jobs Initiative**. This initiative is designed to support countries in implementing their national climate action commitments, while ensuring that jobs, well-being, and a just transition remain at the heart of climate responses.

In 2021, ILO's General Conference adopted resolution 'Global Call to Action for a Human-centred Recovery from the COVID-19 Crisis'.

The resolution commits members to enhanced international and regional cooperation, global solidarity, and policy coherence across the economic, social, environmental, humanitarian, and health domains. The objective is that of enabling States to overcome the crisis and expedite progress towards the achievement of the 2030 Agenda, the Paris Agreement of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, and the Addis Ababa Action Agenda of the Third International Conference on Financing for Development. 48 Yet, an analysis by the International Trade Union Confederation (ITUC) has found that most NDCs submitted by governments under the Paris Agreement lack sufficient ambition, just transition plans, and social dialogue.149

At the same time, international development finance institutions are being increasingly called on to better mainstream human rights consideration in their activities. For example, human rights and development NGOs have called on the European Investment Bank to adopt concrete steps to ensure that its funding respects human rights and leads to social and environmental justice, especially in the context of the EU economic recovery plans and the implementation of the European Green Deal. 150 Similarly, in its comments on the review and update of the Asian Development Bank's Safeguard Policy Statement, the OHCHR has underscored how a human rights lens and routine access to human rights information can strengthen ADB's due diligence and clients' risk management practices. 151

In this context, the EU has launched a **Just Transition Platform**. The platform consists of a single access point and helpdesk providing technical and advisory support, including opportunities, relevant regulatory updates, and

sector specific initiatives. The Platform also promotes the exchange of best practices among stakeholders involved, including through regular physical and virtual gatherings.¹⁵²

The **C40 Coalition** – an international network of mayors of nearly 100 world-leading cities collaborating to deliver climate action with numerous members in Asia and Europe¹⁵³ – has adopted a Green and Just Recovery Agenda focusing on addressing climate change and economic and social inequality and on promoting a just transition from fossil fuels to build equitable and sustainable economies.

At the same time, a wave of so-called 'just transition litigation' has materialised all over the world. This term has recently been used in the literature to describe the growing number of human rights complaints objecting to the way in which climate change response measures are implemented and to their impacts on the enjoyment of human rights.¹⁵⁴

International human rights bodies have received complaints challenging climate change response measures. For example, already in 2009 the UN Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination criticised proposed legislation to reduce forest emissions in Indonesia, cautioning against breaches of human rights associated with traditional land uses and culture, as well as the rights of Indigenous Peoples. The Committee's observations led to the revision of the proposed legislation.

More recently, the **Business & Human Rights Resource Centre** has launched a 'Human Rights Benchmark of Renewable Energy Companies'.¹⁵⁷ Its investigations reveal that none of the energy companies analysed are currently fully meeting their responsibility to respect the human rights

III. THEMATIC FOCI

of communities and workers in their operations and supply chains, as defined by the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights.

For example, Indigenous peoples and civil society organisations have filed a lawsuit relying on French due diligence legislation, asking that energy company Electricité de France (EDF) be ordered to suspend the building of a wind farm in Mexico. ¹⁵⁸ In Norway Indigenous peoples have successfully challenged the decision to approve wind farms on traditional reindeer herding sites, alleging violations of their right to enjoy their own culture. ¹⁵⁹ As a result, Norwegian courts have ordered public authorities to reconsider their decision.

This litigation emphasises the importance of safeguarding human rights, and of protecting individuals and groups from the arbitrary and unjust decisions of governments and corporations in the context of the energy transition. Human rights bodies have already underscored the need to give voice to vulnerable

groups who are most likely to be adversely affected by climate policies or projects, and, as a result, risk becoming victims of 'climate apartheid'. ¹⁶⁰

d. Taking stock of national and international human rights regimes to protect against the consequences of climate change

The UN Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and the Environment has underscored how States' human rights obligations require that they ensure the effective enforcement of environmental law against public and private actors. ¹⁶¹ In particular, States should also implement training programmes for law enforcement and judicial officers and take effective steps to prevent corruption from undermining the implementation and enforcement of environmental laws. States must regulate business enterprises to protect against human rights abuses resulting from environmental harm and provide for remedies for such abuses¹⁶² – see *Textbox 4*.

Textbox 4

Human Rights Remedies and Corporate Responsibilities

Under the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights, the corporate responsibility to respect human rights includes that to identify, prevent, mitigate and account for how they address environmental impacts, and enable the **remediation** of any adverse environmental human rights impacts they cause or to which they contribute. 163 However, in 2019 the UN

Working Group on the issue of human rights and transnational corporations and other business enterprises noted how individuals or communities seeking to obtain remedy continue to face significant challenges stemming from multiple and concurrent factors, including 'fragmented, poorly designed or incomplete policy and legal regimes on accountability for business-related human rights abuses, a lack of awareness of the scope and operation of accountability regimes, and a lack

of enforcement'. 164 The Committee further noted how both judicial and non-judicial institutions should possess the necessary powers, expertise and resources to be able to provide a 'bouquet of remedies' (preventive, redressive and deterrent) for victims of business-related human rights abuses.

Ongoing UN negotiations on a Legally Binding Instrument to Regulate the Activities of Transnational Corporations and Other Business Enterprises provide an opportunity to bridge this accountability gap. The treaty is meant to complement and go beyond the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights. It also provides an opportunity to mainstream businesses' human rights and corporate responsibilities. In this context, NGOs have specifically highlighted the widespread direct and indirect human

rights abuses associated with the operations of fossil fuel companies. 166

Non-judicial mechanisms – such as national human rights institutions and the national contact points in States that adhere to the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises, seen under III (a) and (c) – are increasingly used as an avenue to provide access to remedies against corporate human rights abuses. However, these mechanisms are faced with challenges, such as inadequate policy coherence, insufficient funding, a lack of independence and inadequate personnel training. In recognition of the limitations faced by national contact points, in 2019 the labour and employment ministers of the G7 committed to stepping up efforts to strengthen mechanisms providing access to remedies.167

With specific regard to climate change, **States** must provide access to remedies for climate-related human rights violations. States must furthermore protect individuals and groups against abuse by third parties, including **business enterprises**, by taking steps to prevent, investigate, punish, and redress such abuse through effective policies, legislation, regulations and adjudication.¹⁶⁸

Litigation all over the world has become a complementary tool to address climate concerns and put pressure on governments to adopt adequate climate change response measures. ¹⁶⁹ On 31 May 2021, the world's most established climate litigation databases ¹⁷⁰ listed 112 lawsuits that relied in whole or in part on

human rights.¹⁷¹ To put this data in perspective, on the same date the same databases reported 1,841 cases raising questions of law or fact regarding climate science, climate change mitigation or adaptation, which were brought before international or domestic judicial, quasijudicial and other investigatory bodies. 172 While both databases are admittedly incomplete, the data they report suggests that presently rights-based climate litigation remains comparatively rare, but has increased dramatically in recent years.

Rights-based climate cases have been predominantly filed in Europe, followed by North America, Latin America, the Asia-Pacific, and Africa. Roughly 13% of rights-based complaints

III. THEMATIC FOCI

have been lodged before international and regional human rights bodies. The vast majority of these lawsuits targeted states, with only 16 cases filed against businesses.¹⁷³

These human rights complaints are typically formulated in two main ways:

- Applicants complain that failure to take adequate climate change response measures has resulted in human rights violations (e.g. a failure to adopt and/or enforce climate change legislation)
- Applicants may complain that certain actions (e.g. permits or licenses to extract fossil fuels or log forests) have led to human rights violations.

In most cases applicants and courts rely on states' substantive human rights obligations, either to take climate action or to avoid harmful activities, such as oil concessions and logging concessions. As already seen in section III(b), individuals and groups around the world increasingly rely on human rights law and institutions to complain about harms associated with the impacts of climate change.¹⁷⁴

Most rights-based climate cases remain pending at the time of writing, but a few have been successful. One of the most notable examples is the famous case Urgenda Foundation v The State of the Netherlands, 175 where a group of individuals and NGOs relied in part on human rights law to challenge the Dutch government's inadequate legislation on climate change. The applicants argued that substantive obligations associated with human rights enshrined in international law - namely, the rights to life and to respect for family life — impose upon States a positive duty to adopt legislation and other measures to mitigate climate change. The Dutch courts heavily relied on substantive obligations under the European Convention of Human Rights to set the contours of the Dutch state's duty of care, finding that it had fallen short. The case resulted in the adoption of new climate law in the Netherlands and has been followed by another 37 cases building on similar litigation strategies in other countries. 176

In Asia too, national courts increasingly rely on constitutional rights to reach similarly important far-reaching decisions, questioning the adequacy

In most cases applicants and courts rely on states' substantive human rights obligations, either to take climate action or to avoid harmful activities, such as oil concessions and logging concessions. As already seen in section III(b), individuals and groups around the world increasingly rely on human rights law and institutions to complain about harms associated with the impacts of climate change.

of climate change response measures, in light of the State's obligation to respect, protect and fulfil human rights. For example, in Shrestha v. Office of the Prime Minister et al. 177 the applicant alleged that the government's failure to address climate change had violated his right to life and the right to healthy environment, as enshrined in the Nepalese Constitution, as well as Nepal's international obligations under the UNFCCC and the Paris Agreement. The Court ordered the government to enact a new climate change law, specifying that the absence of climate legislation infringed the right to a clean environment. Like in the Netherlands, the lawmakers subsequently passed legislation which sets out the institutional arrangements for climate responses in Nepal. 178

Similarly, in Ashgar Leghari v. Federation of Pakistan et al., a farmer claimed that the lack of enforcement of existing national policies and strategies concerning climate change adaptation was in breach of the right to life. 179 The court relied on established caselaw recognising the right to a healthy environment in Pakistani law, and specifically applied to climate change related concerns. The Lahore High Court similarly relied on the unwritten Right to a Healthy Environment as recognised by the Pakistani Supreme Court as arising from Article 9 of the Constitution (right to life and liberty) in a climate related case. 180 The Court said that the right to a healthy environment was included in the right to life, as enshrined in the Constitution of Pakistan. 181 The court ordered the creation of a Climate Change Commission, with representatives from government, NGOs and experts, tasked to monitor the appropriate implementation of the National Climate Change Policy. 182 The court subsequently required regular update reports from the committee and only terminated it when the government

had achieved 66% of the priority items within Pakistan's climate policy framework.

These milestone judgements do not only concern state, but also corporate, responsibility for climate action. In Milieudefensie et al v Royal Dutch Shell, 183 a group of activists and NGOs successfully argued that the multinational oil company Shell should reduce its emissions and align with the temperature goal enshrined in the Paris Agreement. 184 The Dutch court construed the corporate duty of care and due diligence under tort law on the basis of human rights obligations associated with the protection of the right to life and the right to privacy, as enshrined in the ECHR. The court found that Shell has a specific duty to prevent the serious risks caused by the emissions they generate. 185 The Court specifically cited 'the widespread international consensus that human rights offer protection against the impacts of dangerous climate change and that corporations must respect human rights'.186 The Court went as far as saying that the responsibility of business enterprises to respect human rights 'is a global standard of expected conduct for all business enterprises wherever they operate'.187 These findings are pathbreaking, given that Shell does not have formal obligations under international human rights law. 188 Unlike Urgenda, however, this judgement is presently under appeal and may be reversed.

In the meantime, however, similar judicial cases against businesses have been brought elsewhere. For example, in *Notre Affaire à Tous and Others v. Total*, the applicants requested French courts to issue an injunction ordering Total to prevent environmental damage, which they linked to corporate human right duties under French due diligence legislation.¹⁸⁹

IV. THE WAY FORWARD

a. Future prospects for better integration of human rights in climate change action

This paper has shown that there are a number of initiatives to mainstream human rights considerations into climate action.

At the international level, the creation of a new UN Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and Climate Change represents an important milestone. As noted above, the Rapporteur will build on extant work, defining the contours of a human rights-based approach to the race to net zero emissions, and to the complex justice questions associated with it. ASEM Partner countries should seize the opportunity to engage with the mandate holder and take heed of the guidance that he/she will develop. At the same time, ongoing UN negotiations on a Legally Binding Instrument to Regulate the Activities of Transnational Corporations and Other Business Enterprises potentially provide an important avenue to remedying corporate environmental harms. ASEM Partner countries should engage vigorously with this process and support its successful completion. Partners should also continue to engage with international financial institutions, ensuring that they build human rights considerations in the allocation and distribution of climate finance.

At the **regional level**, ongoing law and policy-making initiatives – and most saliently those by ASEAN, the COE, and the EU – provide crucial opportunities to mainstream climate change into the work of established human rights bodies and institutions. At the same time, ongoing climate litigation before the ECtHR might establish important benchmarks guiding the development of regional practice on human rights and climate change, fleshing out the contents of state obligations under the ECHR. Similarly, ongoing

EU efforts to better integrate and regulate environmental and human rights due diligence might establish new benchmarks and practices to ensure that businesses mainstream climate change and human rights concerns in their operations. Again, ASEM Partner countries should engage with these efforts and support ambitious outcomes.

At the national level, the initiatives described in this paper - like climate assemblies and just transition commissions - might be replicated and become the focus of capacity building activities in ASEM Partners. At the same time, established institutions and processes, like OECD NCPs and national human rights institutions, could be used more systematically to detect and address the human rights impacts of climate change and of climate change response measures. ASEM Partner countries should support these bodies in becoming institutionalised pathways to monitor and sanction human rights violations associated with climate change, and with the implementation of climate change response measures. Finally, ASEM Partners should ensure that their NDCs adequately factor in human rights considerations and ensure that they are prepared in a participatory manner.

b. Recognising new human rights

The right to a clean, healthy, and sustainable environment is formulated with various phraseologies in the law of more than 150 States, in regional human rights treaties, 190 and in 'sectoral' treaties concerning access to information, justice, and public participation in environmental matters. 191 A growing body of national and international caselaw and practice has delineated the content and scope of this right and its relationship with other human rights. This practice has been amply reported

and analysed by academic literature and has been thoroughly mapped by the Independent Expert on Human Rights and the Environment.

After reviewing a substantial body of this evidence, the UN Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and the Environment has concluded that the right to a clean, healthy, and sustainable environment contributes to improved implementation and enforcement of environmental laws. ¹⁹² When applied by the judiciary, this right helps to provide a safety net to protect against gaps in statutory laws and creates opportunities for better access to justice. ¹⁹³ In numerous ASEM Partners, especially in Asia, the right is already frequently invoked to ask for remedies to address the violation of constitutional rights.

At the **international level**, in 2021 the HRC adopted a resolution recognising 'the right to

a clean, healthy and sustainable environment' as important for the enjoyment of all human rights. The resolution corroborates the idea that the right to a healthy environment should be universally protected and may therefore embolden progressive judges in the adjudication of environmental disputes all over the world. The UN Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and the Environment has recommended that the HRC support the recognition of the right in a global instrument, such as a UN General Assembly Resolution. 195 ASEM Partner countries should support such a resolution and international efforts towards its adoption and, more generally, support international cooperation and capacitybuilding for the implementation of the right.

At the **regional level**, while the ASEAN Declaration already recognises the right to a healthy environment, the European Convention

After reviewing a substantial body of this evidence, the UN Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and the Environment has concluded that the right to a clean, healthy, and sustainable environment contributes to improved implementation and enforcement of environmental laws. When applied by the judiciary, this right helps to provide a safety net to protect against gaps in statutory laws and creates opportunities for better access to justice. In numerous ASEM Partners, especially in Asia, the right is already frequently invoked to ask for remedies to address the violation of constitutional rights.

IV. THE WAY FORWARD

on Human Rights does not. ASEM Partner countries should therefore support ongoing efforts concerning the adoption of an additional protocol to the European Convention on Human Rights to anchor the right to a safe, clean, healthy, and sustainable environment in the European human rights system. They should furthermore share good practices in fulfilling human rights obligations relating to the enjoyment of a clean, healthy, and sustainable environment, including by exchanging knowledge and ideas, building synergies between the protection of human rights and the protection of the environment.

At the national level, ASEM Partners should continue to recognise the right to a healthy environment in their domestic laws. Countries that already recognise this right should adopt policies to support its implementation and protect, respect, and fulfil this right in law and decision-making processes concerning climate change and climate change response measures.

c. Areas for future collaboration

While there is growing recognition of the importance of human rights in relation to climate change, there is a chasm between the invocation of rights and their actual influence on the substance of climate laws and policies.

At the **international level**, many NGOs have criticised the design and implementation of international cooperation mechanisms designed to facilitate the reduction of emissions and the transfer of climate finance for excluding Indigenous Peoples and local communities and encroaching on their land rights. As this paper has reported, these criticisms have been levelled also at the mechanisms that meant to enable state parties to the Paris Agreement to cooperate in the mitigation of greenhouse gas emissions, while supporting sustainable

development. Loss and damage are another area of the multilateral cooperation that would significantly benefit from greater alignment with human rights norms and principles. ASEM Partner countries should cooperate at the climate negotiations to ensure that human rights considerations are mainstreamed into international climate cooperation, ensuring that no perverse outcomes are engendered in the pursuit of climate objectives.

At the regional level, ASEM Partners should be vigilant of the human rights implications of climate policies and measures that are adopted by regional organisations. They should support the mainstreaming of human rights in regional climate action, and they should engage with bodies like the ADB and the EIB to ensure that their policies concerning climate finance fully align with human rights concerns.

At the national level, ASEM Partners should ensure that their official development assistance targets climate friendly activities which align with human rights obligations. They should furthermore be vigilant about extraterritorial human rights violations associated with climate change response measures, and support initiatives aimed to assist those groups that are particularly affected by the impacts of climate change.

V. CONCLUSION

This paper has shown that by now it is widely recognised that human rights obligations, standards, and principles have the potential to inform and strengthen international, regional, and national law policy making on climate change and their enforcement. Human rights obligations and remedies are increasingly used to put pressure on state and businesses to take more ambitious climate action and to remedy harm caused by climate change. These developments have recently culminated with the creation of a new UN Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and Climate Change, entrusted, amongst others, to delineate the contours of a human-rights based approach to climate change.

The primary advantages for adopting such a human-rights based approach are:

- Provides an analytical focus on the human impacts of climate change and of climate change response measures.
- Emphasises that certain segments of the population are disproportionately affected by climate change, especially women, children, the elderly, Indigenous Peoples, minorities, and persons with disabilities.
- Emphasises the importance of public participation, access to information, and access to justice to ensure that climate decision-making processes are fair, transparent, and inclusive.
- Seeks to ensure that climate law and policy realise human rights and abide by relevant international and domestic

- obligations and standards.
- Translates climate change concerns in terms of obligations owed directly to individuals and communities and provides access to remedies that may not otherwise be available.
- By highlighting principles of universality and non-discrimination, the rights of future generations and of those living outside of a state's territory, a human rights-based approach can contribute to engendering momentum to deal with climate change in more inclusive and equitable ways.

Much more could be done going forward. Human rights mechanisms at the national, regional, and international level can be used as institutionalised pathways to monitor and sanction human rights violations associated with climate change, and with the implementation of climate change response measures.

The practice reported in this paper shows ways in which the relationship between human rights and climate action may be furthered. ASEM Partner countries should ensure greater efforts towards capacity building and knowledge sharing on the matters covered in this paper. The global energy transition away from fossil fuels and the race toward net zero emissions by 2050 require mutual learning and cooperation in sharing what works and what does not, including the sharing of lessons learnt through the innovative practices shared in this paper.

THE AUTHOR

Dr. Annalisa SAVARESI is Associate Professor of International Environmental Law at the Center for Climate Change, Energy and Environmental Law, University of Eastern Finland, where she serves as Director for the Joint Nordic Master Programme in Environmental Law. She also holds a senior research post at the University of Stirling, UK and visiting professorships at the University of Bologna (Italy) and the University of La Sabana (Colombia). Annalisa is an expert in environmental law, with 20 years' experience working with international and nongovernmental organisations. She has written extensively on the relationship between human rights and climate change law. Her work has been cited widely, including by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Annalisa currently is Director for Europe of the Global Network on Human Rights and the Environment, associate editor of the Review of European, Comparative and International Law, and member of the IUCN World Commission on Environmental Law. She has given evidence to the UK, the EU, and Scottish Parliaments and sits on the Board of Environmental Standards Scotland, the body scrutinising Scottish public authorities' compliance with environmental law established by the UK Withdrawal from the European Union (Continuity) (Scotland) Act 2021.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Dr. Stellina JOLLY contributed to the drafting of sections II b and III of this paper. The author is grateful to the Steering Committee of the Informal ASEM Seminar on Human Rights, Stellina JOLLY, and Briony EALES for comments on early drafts of this paper, and to Guyree LEE for research assistance. The usual disclaimers apply.

REFERENCES

ACT Alliance EU, 'NGOs Urge the EIB to Raise the Bar on Human Rights' https://actalliance.eu/news-post/ngos-urge-the-eib-to-raise-the-bar-on-human-rights/ accessed 12 February 2022

ADB, 'A Region at Risk: The Human Dimensions of Climate Change in Asia and the Pacific' (Asian Development Bank 2017) https://www.adb.org/publications/region-at-risk-climate-change accessed 2 March 2022

—, 'Climate Change, Coming Soon to a Court Near You: National Climate Change Legal Frameworks in Asia and the Pacific' (Asian Development Bank 2020) https://www.adb.org/publications/national-climate-change-legal-frameworks-asia-pacific accessed 11 February 2022

—, 'Climate Change, Coming Soon to a Court Near You: Climate Litigation in Asia and the Pacific and Beyond' (Asian Development Bank 2020) https://www.adb.org/publications/climate-litigation-asia-pacific accessed 19 April 2021

AICHR, 'Report of the Workshop on Human Rights, Environment and Climate Change Organised by the ASEAN Intergovernmental Commission on Human Rights' (2014)

—, 'Report of the Workshop on Rights-Based Approach to Regional Management Strategy for an Effective Environmental Impact Assessment Organised by the ASEAN Intergovernmental Commission on Human Rights' (2017) https://aichr.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/ Report-AICHR-3rd-Environment-Workshop Yangon 2017-pdf>

——, 'The ASEAN Intergovernmental Commission on Human Rights Annual Report 2021'

Amnesty International, 'Just Transition towards Greener Economies: Submission to the UN Special Rapporteur on Extreme Poverty and Human Rights' (2020) https://www.amnesty.org/en/documents/ior40/2503/2020/en/> accessed 11 February 2022

Anderson MR, 'Human Rights Approaches to Environmental Protection:
An Overview' in A Boyle and MR Anderson (eds), *Human rights*approaches to environmental protection (Oxford University Press 1998)

ARAIBA, 'Code of Conduct' https://www.araiba.org/code-of-conduct-accessed 2 March 2022

ASEAN, 'ASEAN Multi-Sectoral Framework for Climate Change: Agriculture and Forestry towards Food and Nutrition Security and Achievement of SDGs (Proposed Integrated Framework for AFCC Component 4)' (2018) https://asean.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/05/ASEAN-Multisectoral-Framework-for-climate-change.pdf

——, 'ASEAN Joint Statement on Climate Change to the 26th Session of the Conference of the Parties to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change' (2021) https://asean.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/10-ASEAN-Joint-Statement-to-COP26.pdf

—, 'Summary of Recommendations Prepared for ASEAN Intergovernmental Commission on Human Rights -United Nations Joint Expert Meeting on Human Rights and the Environment June

2021' (2021) https://www.unescap.org/sites/default/d8files/event-documents/ESCAP%20Summary%20Asssessment%20of%20Access%20Rights%20ASEAN.pdf

BIMSTEC, 'Fourth BIMSTEC Summit Declaration, Kathmandu, Nepal (August 30-31, 2018) (2018) https://mea.gov.in/bilateral-documents.htm?dtl/30335/Fourth_BIMSTEC_Summit_Declaration_August_3031_2018> accessed 2 March 2022

Business & Human Rights Resource Centre, 'Renewable Energy & Human Rights Benchmark' (Elsevier 2009) https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/B9780080449104090040 accessed 9 September 2021

—, 'Renewable Energy & Human Rights Benchmark' (2021) human-rights-benchmark/

—, 'EU Corporate Accountability Draft Directive: Driver of Business Respect for People & Planet or Missed Opportunity?' (Business & Human Rights Resource Centre, 2022) https://www.business-humanrights.org/en/blog/eu-corporate-accountability-draft-directive-driver-of-business-respect-for-people-planet-or-missed-opportunity/ accessed 2 March 2022

CEDAW, 'Statement of the CEDAW Committee on Gender and Climate Change' (2009)

—, 'General Recommendation No. 37: Gender-Related Dimensions of Disaster-Risk Reduction in the Context of Climate Change' (2018)

CIEL, 'At COP26, A Failure of Vision, Action, Equity and Urgency' (Center for International Environmental Law) https://www.ciel.org/news/atcop26-a-failure-of-vision-action-equity-and-urgency/ accessed 24 January 2022

ClientEarth, ""Hard-Won Victory" - European Parliament Opens EU Courts to Environmental Defenders' https://www.clientearth.org/latest/ press-office/press/hard-won-victory-european-parliament-opens-eu-courts-to-environmental-defenders/> accessed 8 February 2022

COE, 'Final Declaration by the Georgian Presidency of the Committee of Ministers' (2020) https://www.coe.int/en/web/human-rights-rule-of-law/final-declaration-by-the-presidency-of-the-committee-of-ministers-accessed 2 March 2022

—, 'Combating Inequalities in the Right to a Safe, Healthy and Clean Environment' (2021) https://pace.coe.int/en/files/29523 accessed 2 March 2022

—, 'Manual on Human Rights and the Environment' (2022) https://rm.coe.int/manual-environment-3rd-edition/1680a56197 accessed 4 February 2022

—, 'PACE Launches a New Network of Parliamentarians to Press for a Healthy Environment' (2022) https://environment accessed 2 March 2022

REFERENCES

Doelle M and Seck SL (eds), Research Handbook on Climate Change Law and Loss & Damage (2021)

—, 'COP26: Climate Loss & Damage' (Global Network on Human Rights and the Environment) https://gnhre.org/climate-change-2/cop26-climate-loss-damage/ accessed 12 February 2022

Duyck S and others, 'Human Rights and the Paris Agreement's Implementation Guidelines: Opportunities to Develop a Rights-Based Approach' (2018) 12 Carbon & Climate Law Review 191

European Center for Constitutional and Human Rights, 'Case Report: Wind Farm in Mexico - French Energy Firm EDF Disregards Indigenous Rights' (2020) https://www.ecchr.eu/fileadmin/Fallbeschreibungen/20201013_Case_report_EDF_EN.pdf accessed 6 February 2021

European Court of Human Rights, 'Practical Guide on Admissibility Criteria' 2021 109

Greenpeace Luxembourg, 'Administrative judge rules partly in favour of Greenpeace Luxembourg in dispute over the climate-damaging investments of Luxembourg's sovereign pension fund' (2019) accessed 2 March 2022

Hartmann J and Savaresi A, 'Corporate Actors, Environmental Harms and the Draft Un Treaty on Business and Human Rights: History in the Making?' [2021] QIL QDI https://www.qil-qdi.org/corporate-actors-environmental-harms-and-the-draft-un-treaty-on-business-and-human-rights-history-in-the-making/ accessed 15 August 2021

'Human Rights Abuses by Fossil Fuel Companies' (350.org 2020) https://350.org/climate-defenders/>

Humphreys S, 'Competing Claims: Human Rights and Climate Harms', Human Rights and Climate Change (Cambridge University Press 2010)

International Labour Organisation, 'ILO Guidelines for a Just Transition Towards Environmentally Sustainable Economies and Societies for All' (2015) https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/-ed_emp/-emp_ent/documents/publication/wcms_432859.pdf> accessed 11 February 2022

—, 'Global Call to Action for a Human-Centred Recovery from the COVID-19 Crisis' (2021) https://wcms_806092.pdf accessed 12 February 2022

IPCC, 'Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change' (Cambridge University Press 2014)

ITUC, 'Scorecards: NDCs – Just Transition for Climate Ambition' https://www.ituc-csi.org/scorecards-ndcs accessed 12 February 2022

Jodoin S, Forest Preservation in a Changing Climate: REDD+ and Indigenous and Community Rights in Indonesia and Tanzania (Cambridge University Press 2017)

Jodoin S, Savaresi A and Wewerinke-Singh M, 'Rights-Based Approaches to Climate Decision-Making' (2021) 52 Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability 45

Knox JH, 'Mapping Human Rights Obligations Relating to the Enjoyment of a Safe, Clean, Healthy and Sustainable Environment. Individual Report on Global and Regional Environmental Agreements' (Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights 2013) http://www.ohchr.org/EN/Issues/Environment/SREnvironment/Pages/MappingReport.aspx accessed 14 December 2015

—, 'Mapping Human Rights Obligations Relating to the Enjoyment of a Safe, Clean, Healthy and Sustainable Environment. Mapping Human Rights Obligations Relating to the Enjoyment of a Safe, Clean, Healthy and Sustainable Environment Focus Report on Human Rights and Climate Change' (Human Rights Council 2014) https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Environment/Mappingreport/ClimateChangemapping15-August.docx

Lewis B, 'Balancing Human Rights in Climate Policies' in Ottavio Quirico and Mouloud Boumghar (eds), Climate Change and Human Rights: An International and Comparative Law Perspective (Routledge 2016)

Maher Sattar, Yap Swee Seng, Sarah Muzart, 'SAARC and Human Rights: Looking Back and Ways Forward' (SAARC 2012) http://library.nhrc.or.th/ULIB/dublin.php?ID=5934> accessed 2 March 2022

Markell D and Ruhl JB, 'An Empirical Assessment of Climate Change in The Courts: A New Jurisprudence or Business as Usual?' (2012) 64 Florida Law Review 15

Ministry of Corporate Affairs, 'National Guidelines on the Economic, Social and Environmental Responsibilities of Business', (2018) https://www.mca.gov.in/Ministry/pdf/DraftNationalGuidelines2018_20062018.pdf

Ministry of Environment, Forestry and Climate Change, 'Office Memorandum, Corporate Environmental Responsibility, F.No.22-65/2017, IA.III' (2018) http://environmentclearance.nic.in/writereaddata/public_display/circulars/OIEBZXVJ_CER%200M%2001052018.pdf

Mountford H and others, 'COP26: Key Outcomes from the UN Climate Talks in Glasgow' (WRI, 17 November 2021) https://www.wri.org/ insights/cop26-key-outcomes-un-climate-talks-glasgow> accessed 3 March 2022

Nolan A, 'Children's Rights and Climate Change at the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child: Pragmatism and Principle in Sacchi v Argentina' (E/IL: Talkl, 20 October 2021) https://www.ejiltalk.org/childrens-rights-and-climate-change-at-the-un-committee-on-the-rights-of-the-child-pragmatism-and-principle-in-sacchi-v-argentina/ accessed 24 January 2022

Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, 'Report of the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for

REFERENCES

Human Rights on the Relationship Between Climate Change and Human Rights' (Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights 2009) A/HRC/10/61

—, 'Memorandum Comments on the Review and Update of the ADB Safeguard Policy Statement' (2021) https://www.ohchr.org/
Documents/Issues/Development/DFI/ADB_SPS_29April2021.pdf>
accessed 12 February 2022

Pedersen OW, 'The Janus-Head of Human Rights and Climate Change: Adaptation and Mitigation' (2011) 80 Nordic Journal of International Law 403

SAARC, 'Thimphu Statement on Climate Change, Sixteenth SAARC Summit (28-29 April 2010)' (2010) https://mea.gov.in/Uploads/PublicationDocs/3808_30th-april-2012-bil.pdf

Saini K, 'Corporate Environmental Responsibility: An Uncharted Territory in the Indian Environmental Landscape' (*Bar and Bench*, 2020) https://www.barandbench.com/apprentice-lawyer/corporate-environmental-landscape accessed 2 March 2022

Savaresi A, 'The Human Rights Dimension of REDD' (2012) 21 Review of European Comparative & International Environmental Law 102

—, 'Climate Change and Human Rights: Fragmentation, Interplay and Institutional Linkages' in Sébastien Duyck, Sébastien Jodoin and Alyssa Johl (eds), Routledge Handbook of Human Rights and Climate Governance (Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group 2018) https://ssrn.com/abstract=2902662

——, 'Human Rights and the Impacts of Climate Change: Revisiting the Assumptions' (2021) 11 Oñati Socio-Legal Series 231

Savaresi A and Hartmann J, 'Using Human Rights Law to Address the Impacts of Climate Change: Early Reflections on the Carbon Majors Inquiry' in Jolene Lin and Douglas Kysar (eds), Climate Change Litigation in the Asia Pacific (Cambridge University Press 2020) https://papers.ssm.com/abstract=3277568> accessed 28 August 2019

Savaresi A and Setzer J, 'Rights-Based Litigation in the Climate Emergency: Mapping the Landscape and New Knowledge Frontiers' (2022) 13 Journal of Human Rights and the Environment 7

Savaresi A and Wewerinke-Singh M, 'Friends of the Earth (Netherlands) v Royal Dutch Shell: Human Rights and the Obligations of Corporations in the Hague District Court Decision -' (31 May 2021) -https://gnhre.org/2021/05/31/friends-of-the-earth-netherlands-v-royal-dutch-shell-human-rights-and-the-obligations-of-corporations-in-the-hague-district-court-decision/> accessed 4 June 2021

Setzer J and Higham C, 'Global Trends in Climate Litigation: 2021 Snapshot.' (London London School of Economics and Political Science School of Economics 2021) https://www.lse.ac.uk/granthaminstitute/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/Global-trends-in-climate-change-litigation_2021-snapshot.pdf

UN Special Rapporteur on Extreme Poverty and Human Rights, 'Climate

Change and Poverty' (2019) A/HRC/41/39

UN Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and the Environment, 'Report of the Special Rapporteur on the Issue of Human Rights Obligations Relating to the Enjoyment of a Safe, Clean, Healthy and Sustainable Environment' (OHCHR 2016) A/HRC/31/52 https://undocs.org/A/HRC/31/52

—, 'Report of the Special Rapporteur on the Issue of Human Rights Obligations Relating to the Enjoyment of a Safe, Clean, Healthy and Sustainable Environment' (OHCHR 2018) A/HRC/37/59

—, 'Report of the Special Rapporteur on the Issue of Human Rights Obligations Relating to the Enjoyment of a Safe, Clean, Healthy and Sustainable Environment' (2019) A/74/161 https://undocs.org/A/74/161

UNEP, 'Principles and Policy Guidance on Children's Rights to a Safe, Clean, Healthy and Sustainable Environment in the ASEAN Region' (2021) http://www.unep.org/resources/publication/principles-and-policy-guidance-childrens-rights-safe-clean-healthy-and> accessed 2 March 2022

United Nations and Regional Environmental Center for Central and Eastern Europe (eds), The Aarhus Convention: An Implementation Guide (Second edition, United Nations 2014) https://unece.org/DAM/env/pp/Publications/Aarhus_Implementation_Guide_interactive_eng.pdf

UN-REDD Programme, 'Guidelines on Free, Prior and Informed Consent' (2013) https://www.un-redd.org/Launch_of_FPIC_Guidlines/tabid/105976/Default.aspx accessed 25 May 2015

Westminster Foundation for Democracy, 'How Has the UK Climate Assembly Impacted Parliament?' (Westminster Foundation for Democracy) https://www.wfd.org/commentary/how-has-uk-climate-assembly-impacted-parliament> accessed 8 February 2022

Wewerinke-Singh M, State Responsibility, Climate Change and Human Rights under International Law (Hart Publishing 2019)

- 1 The 1992 UN Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC), Article 1, defines climate change as: 'a change of climate which is attributed directly or indirectly to human activity that alters the composition of the global atmosphere and which is in addition to natural climate variability observed over comparable time periods.'
- Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, 'Report of the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights on the Relationship Between Climate Change and Human Rights' (Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights 2009) A/HRC/10/61 16.
- 3 IPCC, 'Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change' (Cambridge University Press 2014) 811.
- 4 UN Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and the Environment, 'Report of the Special Rapporteur on the Issue of Human Rights Obligations Relating to the Enjoyment of a Safe, Clean, Healthy and Sustainable Environment' (2016) A/HRC/31/52 paras 65–68.
- 5 ibid 50-64
- 6 Business & Human Rights Resource Centre, 'Renewable Energy & Human Rights Benchmark' (2021) human-rights-benchmark/>.
- Ole W Pedersen, 'The Janus-Head of Human Rights and Climate Change: Adaptation and Mitigation' (2011) 80 Nordic Journal of International Law 403; Barbara Lewis, 'Balancing Human Rights in Climate Policies' in Ottavio Quirico and Mouloud Boumghar (eds), Climate Change and Human Rights: An International and Comparative Law Perspective (Routledge 2016); Annalisa Savaresi, 'Climate Change and Human Rights: Fragmentation, Interplay and Institutional Linkages' in Sébastien Duyck, Sébastien Jodoin and Alyssa Johl (eds), Routledge Handbook of Human Rights and Climate Governance (Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group 2018).
- 8 Paris Agreement, Preamble.
- 9 See A/HRC/Res/7/23 (2008); A/HRC/Res/10/4 (2009); A/HRC/Res/18/22 (2011); A/HRC/Res/26/27 (2014); A/HRC/Res/29/15 (2015); A/HRC/RES/32/33 (2016); A/HRC/34/20 (2017); A/HRC/RES/38/4 (2018); A/HRC/42/21 (2019); A/HRC/Res/44/7 (2020); A/HRC/Res/44/7 (2019);
- 10 Savaresi, 'Climate Change and Human Rights: Fragmentation, Interplay and Institutional Linkages' (n 7) 42.
- 11 A/HRC/RES/19/10 (2012).
- 12 A/HRC/RES/28/11 (2015); A/HRC/RES/37/8 (2018); and A/HRC/RES/46/7 (2021).
- UN Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and the Environment (n 4); UN Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and the Environment, 'Report of the Special Rapporteur on the Issue of Human Rights Obligations Relating to the Enjoyment of a Safe, Clean, Healthy and Sustainable Environment' (2019) A/74/161.
- 14 UN Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and the Environment (n 4) paras 16–18; UN Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and the Environment (n 13) paras 17–18.
- UN Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and the Environment (n 4) paras 16–15.
- UN Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and the Environment (n 13) paras 71-72.
- More information concerning these OHCHR activities is available at https://www.ohchr.org/EN/Issues/HRAndClimateChange/Pages/UNFCCC. aspx>
- 18 See for example the OHCHR 2020 submission on the Warsaw International Mechanism for Loss and Damage, available at https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/OHCHR%20Input.pdf
- See for example the OHCHR 2017 submission on the Terms of reference of the Independent Redress Mechanism of the Green Climate Fund, available at https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/ClimateChange/GCF2Feb2017.pdf
- 20 A/HRC/RES/48/14 (2021).
- 21 Ibid., at 2.
- 22 Sébastien Jodoin, Annalisa Savaresi and Margaretha Wewerinke-Singh, 'Rights-Based Approaches to Climate Decision-Making' (2021) 52 Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability 45.
- 23 UNFCCC, article 2.
- Paris Agreement, article 2.1(a).
- 25 Glasgow Climate Pact (unreported, 2021), at 21.
- The Cancun Agreements: Outcome of the Work of the Ad Hoc Working Group on Long-Term Cooperative Action Under the Convention, Decision 1/CP16, UN Doc. FCCC/CP/2010/7/Add.1 (15 March 2011), at 8.
- 27 Ibid. Appendix, at 2(c).
- 28 See the review of practice in Savaresi, 'Climate Change and Human Rights: Fragmentation, Interplay and Institutional Linkages' (n 7); Jodoin, Savaresi and Wewerinke-Singh (n 22).
- 29 UN-REDD Programme, 'Guidelines on Free, Prior and Informed Consent' (2013) http://www.un-redd.org/Launch_of_FPIC_Guidlines/tabid/105976/Default.aspx accessed 25 May 2015.
- 30 See e.g., Adaptation Fund, Environmental and Social Policy (2013) 15; and Green Climate Fund, Guiding Framework and Procedures for Accrediting

National, Regional and International Implementing Entities and Intermediaries, Including the Fund's Fiduciary Principles and Standards and Environmental and Social Safeguards, GCF/B.07/02 (2014) 1.7.

- 31 Paris Agreement, Preamble.
- Paris Agreement, articles 7(5), 11(2), and 12.
- Annalisa Savaresi and Jacques Hartmann, 'Using Human Rights Law to Address the Impacts of Climate Change: Early Reflections on the Carbon Majors Inquiry' in Jolene Lin and Douglas Kysar (eds), Climate Change Litigation in the Asia Pacific (Cambridge University Press 2020); Annalisa Savaresi, 'Human Rights and the Impacts of Climate Change: Revisiting the Assumptions' (2021) 11 Oñati Socio-Legal Series 231.
- Decision 1/CP21, Adoption of the Paris Agreement (2016) FCCC/CP/2015/10/Add.1, 135–136; and Report of the Conference of the Parties on its Twenty-second Session, Held in Marrakech from 7 to 18 November 2016 (2017) FCCC/CP/2016/10, 135.
- Decision 3/CP23, Establishment of a Gender Action Plan (2018) FCCC/CP/2017/11/Add.1.
- 36 Sébastien Duyck and others, 'Human Rights and the Paris Agreement's Implementation Guidelines: Opportunities to Develop a Rights-Based Approach' (2018) 12 Carbon & Climate Law Review 191.
- 37 See for example CIEL, 'At COP26, A Failure of Vision, Action, Equity and Urgency' (Center for International Environmental Law) https://www.ciel.org/news/at-cop26-a-failure-of-vision-action-equity-and-urgency/ accessed 24 January 2022.
- se e.g. the NDCs of Bolivia, Brazil, Chad, Chile, Costa Rica, Ecuador, Georgia, Guatemala, Guyana, Honduras, Malawi, Marshall Islands, Mexico, Morocco, Philippines, South Sudan, and Uganda.
- 39 See e.g. the NDCs of Cuba, El Salvador, Indonesia, Nepal, Venezuela, Yemen, and Zimbabwe.
- 40 Duyck and others (n 36).
- 41 A/HRC/Res/7/23, p. 1
- 42 Note 9 above.
- 43 A/HRC/Res/44/7, p.2.
- 44 General Comment No. 36 (2018) CCPR/C/GC/36, para 61.
- 45 Views adopted by the Committee under article 5 (4) of the Optional Protocol, concerning communication No. 2728/2016 (2020) CCPR/ C/127/D/2728/2016, 9.11 (emphasis added).
- 46 General Comment No.15 (2013) CRC/C/GC/15
- 47 Decisions adopted by the Committee under the Optional Protocol to the Convention on the Rights of the Child on a communications procedure, concerning communications No. 104-108/2019 CRC/C/88/D/104-108/2019 (2021).
- 48 Ibid
- Asife Nolan, 'Children's Rights and Climate Change at the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child: Pragmatism and Principle in Sacchi v Argentina' (EJIL: Talkl, 20 October 2021) https://www.ejiltalk.org/childrens-rights-and-climate-change-at-the-un-committee-on-the-rights-of-the-child-pragmatism-and-principle-in-sacchi-v-argentina/ accessed 24 January 2022.
- 50 CEDAW, 'Statement of the CEDAW Committee on Gender and Climate Change' (2009).
- 51 CEDAW, 'General Recommendation No. 37: Gender-Related Dimensions of Disaster-Risk Reduction in the Context of Climate Change' (2018).
- ADB, 'Climate Change, Coming Soon to a Court Near You: National Climate Change Legal Frameworks in Asia and the Pacific' (Asian Development Bank 2020) https://www.adb.org/publications/national-climate-change-legal-frameworks-asia-pacific accessed 11 February 2022.
- 53 ASEAN Human Rights Declaration, 2012, Art 28(f).
- 54 AICHR, 'Report of the Workshop on Human Rights, Environment and Climate Change Organised by the ASEAN Intergovernmental Commission on Human Rights' (2014).
- 55 Ibid, 6.
- AICHR, 'The ASEAN Intergovernmental Commission on Human Rights Annual Report' (2021).
- 57 UNEP, 'Principles and Policy Guidance on Children's Rights to a Safe, Clean, Healthy and Sustainable Environment in the ASEAN Region' (2021) http://www.unep.org/resources/publication/principles-and-policy-guidance-childrens-rights-safe-clean-healthy-and accessed 2 March 2022.
- ASEAN, 'ASEAN Multi-Sectoral Framework for Climate Change: Agriculture and Forestry towards Food and Nutrition Security and Achievement of SDGs (Proposed Integrated Framework for AFCC Component 4)' (2018) https://asean.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/05/ASEAN-Multisectoral-Framework-for-climate-change.pdf.
- ASEAN, 'ASEAN Joint Statement on Climate Change to the 26th Session of the Conference of the Parties to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change' (2021) https://asean.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/10-ASEAN-Joint-Statement-to-COP26.pdf.
- 60 BIMSTEC, 'Fourth BIMSTEC Summit Declaration, Kathmandu, Nepal (August 30-31, 2018)' (2018) https://mea.gov.in/bilateral-documents.htm?dtl/30335/Fourth_BIMSTEC_Summit_Declaration_August_3031_2018> accessed 2 March 2022.
- 61 SAARC, 'Thimphu Statement on Climate Change, Sixteenth SAARC Summit (28-29 April 2010)' (2010) https://mea.gov.in/Uploads/PublicationDocs/3808_30th-april-2012-bil.pdf.
- 62 SAARC Social Charter (2004), article I.3.

- Maher Sattar, Yap Swee Seng, Sarah Muzart, 'SAARC and Human Rights: Looking Back and Ways Forward' (SAARC 2012) http://library.nhrc.or.th/ULIB/dublin.php?ID=5934> accessed 2 March 2022.
- 64 ADB, 'A Region at Risk: The Human Dimensions of Climate Change in Asia and the Pacific' (Asian Development Bank 2017) https://www.adb.org/publications/region-at-risk-climate-change accessed 2 March 2022.
- ADB, 'Climate Change, Coming Soon to a Court Near You: Climate Litigation in Asia and the Pacific and Beyond' (Asian Development Bank 2020) https://www.adb.org/publications/climate-litigation-asia-pacific accessed 19 April 2021.
- 66 ARAIBA, 'Code of Conduct' https://www.araiba.org/code-of-conduct accessed 2 March 2022.
- 67 ibid
- Ministry of Environment, Forestry and Climate Change, 'Office Memorandum, Corporate Environmental Responsibility, F.No.22-65/2017, IA.III' (2018) http://environmentclearance.nic.in/writereaddata/public_display/circulars/OIEBZXVJ_CER%200M%2001052018.pdf.
- 69 Ministry of Corporate Affairs, 'National Guidelines on the Economic, Social and Environmental Responsibilities of Business', (2018) https://www.mca.gov.in/Ministry/pdf/DraftNationalGuidelines2018_20062018.pdf.
- 70 Kunal Saini, 'Corporate Environmental Responsibility: An Uncharted Territory in the Indian Environmental Landscape' (Bar and Bench, 2020) https://www.barandbench.com/apprentice-lawyer/corporate-environmental-responsibility-an-uncharted-territory-in-the-indian-environmental-landscape accessed 2 March 2022.
- 71 COE, 'Final Declaration by the Georgian Presidency of the Committee of Ministers' (2020) https://www.coe.int/en/web/human-rights-rule-of-law/final-declaration-by-the-presidency-of-the-committee-of-ministers accessed 2 March 2022.
- 70 ihid
- 73 COE, 'Combating Inequalities in the Right to a Safe, Healthy and Clean Environment' (2021) https://pace.coe.int/en/files/29523 accessed 2 March 2022.
- 74 COE, 'PACE Launches a New Network of Parliamentarians to Press for a Healthy Environment' (2022) https://pace.coe.int/en/news/8598/pace-launches-a-new-network-of-parliamentarians-to-press-for-a-healthy-environment accessed 2 March 2022.
- 75 COE, 'Manual on Human Rights and the Environment' (2022) https://rm.coe.int/manual-environment-3rd-edition/1680a56197 accessed 4 February 2022.
- 76 Ibid. 183-228.
- Duarte Agostinho and Others v Portugal and 32 other States (Application no 39371/20) was lodged on 7 September 2020, given priority and communicated to the respondent States on 13 November 2020. For more information, see https://youth4climatejustice.org/ accessed 10 April 2021.
- 78 Verein Klimaseniorinnen v Switzerland was lodged on 26 November 2020, given priority and communicated to the respondent States on 6 April 2021. For more information and submissions, including submissions, see https://klimaseniorinnen.ch accessed 6 October 2021.
- Swiss Federal Court, Verein KlimaSeniorinnen Schweiz gegen Eidgenössisches Departement für Umwelt, Verkehr, Energie und Kommunikation, Generalsekretariat, Doc 1C_37/2019 (5 May 2020).
- Mex M v Austria was lodged on 12 April 2021. For more information and the submission see https://klimaklage.fridaysforfuture.at/ accessed 6 October 2021.
- 81 Norway's Supreme Court, HR-2020-2472-P, (case no. 20-051052SIV-HRET) Appeal against Borgarting Court of Appeal's judgment, 22 December 2020
- 82 European Court of Human Rights, 'Practical Guide on Admissibility Criteria' (2021) 109.
- ${\tt 83} \quad \text{For more information, see <https://ec.europa.eu/clima/eu-action/climate-strategies-targets/2030-climate-energy-framework_en>.}$
- 84 EU Commission Communication, The European Green Deal, COM/2019/640 Final.
- 85 Proposal for a Directive of the European Parliament and of the Council on Corporate Sustainability Due Diligence and amending Directive (EU) 2019/1937.
- Business & Human Rights Resource Centre, 'EU Corporate Accountability Draft Directive: Driver of Business Respect for People & Planet or Missed Opportunity?' (Business & Human Rights Resource Centre, 2022) https://www.business-humanrights.org/en/blog/eu-corporate-accountability-draft-directive-driver-of-business-respect-for-people-planet-or-missed-opportunity/ accessed 2 March 2022.
- 87 Proposal for a Regulation on the making available on the Union market as well as export from the Union of certain commodities and products associated with deforestation and forest degradation and repealing Regulation (EU) No 995/2010
- Proposal for a Directive amending Directive 2013/34/EU, Directive 2004/109/EC, Directive 2006/43/EC and Regulation (EU) No 537/2014, as regards corporate sustainability reporting COM/2021/189 final.
- 89 Ibid. Article 19b.
- 90 Ibid
- 91 Regulation (EU) 2020/852 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 18 June 2020 on the establishment of a framework to facilitate sustainable investment and amending Regulation (EU) 2019/2088.
- 92 Ibid. Article 18.1

- 93 Ibid. Articles 10 and 11.
- 94 UN Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and the Environment, 'Report of the Special Rapporteur on the Issue of Human Rights Obligations Relating to the Enjoyment of a Safe, Clean, Healthy and Sustainable Environment' (OHCHR 2018) A/HRC/37/59 para 3.
- 95 Ibid., 63
- 96 Ibid., 59
- 97 ibid, footnote 1.
- 98 The Convention on Access to Information, Public Participation in Decision-Making and Access to Justice in Environmental Matters (adopted in Aarhus, Denmark, on 25 June 1998) was elaborated within the United Nations Economic Commission for Europe (UN/ECE).
- 99 Aarhus Convention, Articles 4 and 5.
- 100 Aarhus Convention, articles 6-8.
- 101 United Nations and Regional Environmental Center for Central and Eastern Europe (eds), The Aarhus Convention: An Implementation Guide (Second edition, United Nations 2014) https://unece.org/DAM/env/pp/Publications/Aarhus_implementation_Guide_interactive_eng.pdf; COE (n 75).
- AICHR, 'Report of the Workshop on Rights-Based Approach to Regional Management Strategy for an Effective Environmental Impact Assessment Organised by the ASEAN Intergovernmental Commission on Human Rights' (2017) https://aichr.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/Report-AICHR-3rd-Environment-Workshop_Yangon_2017.pdf.
- ASEAN, 'Summary of Recommendations Prepared for ASEAN Intergovernmental Commission on Human Rights -United Nations Joint Expert Meeting on Human Rights and the Environment June 2021' (2021) https://www.unescap.org/sites/default/d8files/event-documents/ESCAP%20Summary%20Asssessment%20of%20Access%20Rights%20ASEAN.pdf.
- 104 UN Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and the Environment (n 94) para 17.
- 105 Ibid
- 106 UN Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and the Environment (n 4) paras 13-15.
- 107 Jodoin, Savaresi and Wewerinke-Singh (n 22).
- 108 National Environmental Education Action Plan 2018-2040, Philippines http://eeid.emb.gov.ph/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/National_ Environmental_Education_Action_Plan__NEEAP_.pdf
- 109 Greenpeace Luxembourg v. Schneider (2016).
- Greenpeace Luxembourg, 'Administrative judge rules partly in favour of Greenpeace Luxembourg in dispute over the climate-damaging investments of Luxembourg's sovereign pension fund' (2019) accessed 2 March 2022.
- Development YES Open-Pit Mines NO v. Group PZU S.A. (2016).
- Market Forces v. Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, Mitsubishi UFJ Financial Group and Mizuho Financial Group (2018).
- UN Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and the Environment (n 94) paras 23–24.
- UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights, 18–19
- Jodoin, Savaresi and Wewerinke-Singh (n 22).
- 116 For more information, see: < https://www.climateassembly.uk/>
- 117 Westminster Foundation for Democracy, 'How Has the UK Climate Assembly Impacted Parliament?' (Westminster Foundation for Democracy)
 https://www.wfd.org/commentary/how-has-uk-climate-assembly-impacted-parliament> accessed 8 February 2022.
- For more information, see: https://globalassembly.org/about-2
- 119 Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.
- 120 Findings and recommendations with regard to communication ACCC/C/2012/68 concerning compliance by the United Kingdom and the European Union (2013) ECE/MPPP/C.1/2014/5.
- Regulation (EU) 2021/1767 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 6 October 2021 amending Regulation (EC) No 1367/2006 on the application of the provisions of the Aarhus Convention on Access to Information, Public Participation in Decision-making and Access to Justice in Environmental Matters to Community institutions and bodies PE/63/2021/REV/1 0J L 356, 8.10.2021, p. 1–7
- 122 ClientEarth, "Hard-Won Victory" European Parliament Opens EU Courts to Environmental Defenders' https://www.clientearth.org/latest/ press-office/press/hard-won-victory-european-parliament-opens-eu-courts-to-environmental-defenders/> accessed 8 February 2022.
- 123 Annalisa Savaresi and Joana Setzer, 'Rights-Based Litigation in the Climate Emergency: Mapping the Landscape and New Knowledge Frontiers'
 (2022) 13 Journal of Human Rights and the Environment 7.
- 124 Paris Agreement, Article 8.
- 125 Decision 1/CP21 (FCCC/CP/2015/10/Add.1)
- Meinhard Doelle and Sara L Seck, 'COP26: Climate Loss & Damage' (Global Network on Human Rights and the Environment) https://gnhre.org/climate-change-2/cop26-climate-loss-damage/ accessed 12 February 2022.

- 127 ibid.
- 128 Glasgow Climate Pact 25, paras 73-74
- Helen Mountford and others, 'COP26: Key Outcomes from the UN Climate Talks in Glasgow' (WRI, 17 November 2021) https://www.wri.org/insights/cop26-key-outcomes-un-climate-talks-glasgow> accessed 3 March 2022.
- 130 For more information see https://www.cjrfund.org/
- UN Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and the Environment (n 4) paras 16–18; UN Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and the Environment (n 13) paras 17–18.;
- UN Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and the Environment (n 4) paras 13–15.
- 133 UN Special Rapporteur on Extreme Poverty and Human Rights, 'Climate Change and Poverty' (2019) A/HRC/41/39 51.
- Margaretha Wewerinke-Singh, State Responsibility, Climate Change and Human Rights under International Law (Hart Publishing 2019); Savaresi, 'Human Rights and the Impacts of Climate Change' (n 33); Meinhard Doelle and Sara L Seck (eds), Research Handbook on Climate Change Law and Loss & Damage (2021).
- 135 Re Greenpeace Southeast Asia and Others Petition Requesting Investigation of the Responsibility of the Carbon Majors for Human Rights Violations, 2015
- 136 Human Rights Committee (HRC), loane Teitiota v New Zealand UN Doc CCPR/C/127/D/2728/2016 (24 October 2019)
- 137 ibid para 9.14.
- 138 ibid para 9.4.
- 139 Billy et al v Australia, Communication No. 3624/2019.
- 140 Ibid
- 141 BELA v. Bangladesh, WP No. 57 of 2010, D-/01-02-2012; Asian Development Bank, Climate Change, Coming Soon to a Court Near You: National Climate Change Legal Frameworks in Asia and the Pacific (2020).
- Savaresi, 'Human Rights and the Impacts of Climate Change' (n 33).
- 143 MR Anderson, 'Human Rights Approaches to Environmental Protection: An Overview' in A Boyle and MR Anderson (eds), Human rights approaches to environmental protection (Oxford University Press 1998) 21.
- Stephen Humphreys, 'Competing Claims: Human Rights and Climate Harms', Human Rights and Climate Change (Cambridge University Press 2010) 45.
- International Labour Organisation, 'ILO Guidelines for a Just Transition Towards Environmentally Sustainable Economies and Societies for All' (2015) https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/-ed_emp/-emp_ent/documents/publication/wcms_432859.pdf accessed 11 February 2022
- Amnesty International, 'Just Transition towards Greener Economies: Submission to the UN Special Rapporteur on Extreme Poverty and Human Rights' (2020) https://www.amnesty.org/en/documents/ior40/2503/2020/en/> accessed 11 February 2022.
- For more information, see: https://www.gov.scot/groups/just-transition-commission/ accessed 11 February 2022.
- 148 International Labour Organisation, 'Global Call to Action for a Human-Centred Recovery from the COVID-19 Crisis' (2021) https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/ed_norm/-relconf/documents/meetingdocument/wcms_806092.pdf accessed 12 February 2022.
- 149 ITUC, 'Scorecards: NDCs JustTransition for ClimateAmbition' https://www.ituc-csi.org/scorecards-ndcs accessed 12 February 2022.
- ACT Alliance EU, 'NGOs Urge the EIB to Raise the Bar on Human Rights' https://actalliance.eu/news-post/ngos-urge-the-eib-to-raise-the-bar-on-human-rights/ accessed 12 February 2022.
- Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, 'Memorandum Comments on the Review and Update of the ADB Safeguard Policy Statement' (2021) https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Development/DFI/ADB_SPS_29April2021.pdf accessed 12 February 2022.
- 152 For more information see:
- 153 For more information see: https://www.c40.
 org/?gclid=CjwKCAiA9aKQBhBREiwAyGP5IToMXfto8NLljh5h2dZs3lzZ4IYYUp82tsKGrUUEXwYykWdqvPm5XxoCAmUQAvD_BwE>
- 154 Savaresi and Setzer (n 123).
- See for example Concluding Observations of the Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination: Indonesia, CERD/C/IDN/CO/3, as adopted in Report of the Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination Seventieth session (19 February-9 March 2007) and Seventy-first session (30 July-17 August 2007) General Assembly Official Records, Sixty-second session, Supplement No. 18 (A/62/18).
- 156 As reported in Annalisa Savaresi, 'The Human Rights Dimension of REDD' (2012) 21 Review of European Comparative & International Environmental Law 102; Sébastien Jodoin, Forest Preservation in a Changing Climate: REDD+ and Indigenous and Community Rights in Indonesia and Tanzania (Cambridge University Press 2017).
- Business & Human Rights Resource Centre, 'Renewable Energy & Human Rights Benchmark' (Elsevier 2009) https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/B9780080449104090040 accessed 9 September 2021.

- European Center for Constitutional and Human Rights, 'Case Report: Wind Farm in Mexico French Energy Firm EDF Disregards Indigenous Rights' (2020) https://www.ecchr.eu/fileadmin/Fallbeschreibungen/20201013_Case_report_EDF_EN.pdf accessed 6 February 2021.
- 159 HR-2021-1975-S, (sak nr. 20-143891SIV-HRET), (sak nr. 20-143892SIV-HRET) og (sak nr. 20-143893SIV-HRET)
- 160 UN Special Rapporteur on Extreme Poverty and Human Rights (n 133) para 51.
- 161 UN Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and the Environment (n 94) para 34.
- 162 Ibid
- 163 Ibid, 35
- 164 A/74/198.41.
- Jacques Hartmann and Annalisa Savaresi, 'Corporate Actors, Environmental Harms and the Draft Un Treaty on Business and Human Rights:
 History in the Making?' [2021] QIL QDI https://www.qil-qdi.org/corporate-actors-environmental-harms-and-the-draft-un-treaty-on-business-and-human-rights-history-in-the-making/ accessed 15 August 2021.
- 166 See for example Savaresi and McVey 'Human Rights Abuses by Fossil Fuel Companies' (350.org 2020) https://350.org/climate-defenders/.
- 167 A/74/198, 41, 42.
- UN Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and the Environment (n 4) paras 13–15.
- ADB, 'Climate Change, Coming Soon to a Court Near You' (n 65).
- 170 These databases may be accessed at http://www.climate-laws.org.
- 171 Savaresi and Setzer (n 123)
- 172 This definition of climate litigation relies on that provided in the widely cited article David Markell and JB Ruhl, 'An Empirical Assessment of Climate Change in The Courts: A New Jurisprudence or Business as Usual?' (2012) 64 Florida Law Review 15.
- 173 Savaresi and Setzer (n 123).
- 174 Ibid
- Urgenda Foundation v The State of the Netherlands C/09/456689 / HA ZA 13-1396 (2015).
- Joana Setzer and Catherine Higham, 'Global Trends in Climate Litigation: 2021 Snapshot.' (London London School of Economics and Political Science School of Economics 2021) https://www.lse.ac.uk/granthaminstitute/wpcontent/uploads/2021/07/Global-trends-in-climate-change-litigation 2021-snapshot.pdf>.
- 177 Shrestha v. Office of the Prime Minister et al
- Environment Protection Act 2019 (2076).
- Ashgar Leghari v Federation of Pakistan et al., Lahore High Court, W.P. No. 25501/2015, Order of 4 September 2015.
- 180 Sheikh Asim Farooq v. Federation of Pakistan, Writ Petition No.192069 of 2018, Lahore High Court, Judgement of 30 August 2019.
- 181 Ashgar Leghari v Federation of Pakistan et al., para. 7.
- 182 Ibid., para. 11
- 183 See e.g., Milieudefensie et al v Royal Dutch Shell plc, Hague District Court, C/09/571932 / HA ZA 19-379, 2021.
- 184 Friends of the Earth Netherlands et al v Royal Dutch Shell PLC
- 185 Ibid at 4.4.37.
- 186 ibid para 4.1.3.
- 187 ibid para 4.4.13.
- 188 Annalisa Savaresi and Margaretha Wewerinke-Singh, 'Friends of the Earth (Netherlands) v Royal Dutch Shell: Human Rights and the Obligations of Corporations in the Hague District Court Decision –' (31 May 2021) https://gnhre.org/2021/05/31/friends-of-the-earth-netherlands-v-royal-dutch-shell-human-rights-and-the-obligations-of-corporations-in-the-hague-district-court-decision/> accessed 4 June 2021.
- Notre Affaire à Tous and Others v. Total, 2.4 and 2.3.2.
- See Additional Protocol to the American Convention on Human Rights in the Area of Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, 14 November 1988, 28 ILM 161, Article 11 of the; African Charter on Human and Peoples' Rights, 27 June 1981, 1520, UNTS 447, Article 24; ASEAN Human Rights Declaration, 18 November 2012, Article 28.
- Aarhus Convention, Article 1; Regional Agreement on Access to Information, Public Participation and Justice in Environmental Matters in Latin America and the Caribbean Escazú, 4 March 2018, LC/CNP10.9/5, particularly Articles 1 and 4; and Convention on the Rights of the Child, 20 November 1989, 1577 UNTS, 3 Article 24.2.(c).
- 192 Ibio
- 193 A/HRC/37/59 para 13.
- 194 A/HRC/RES/48/13.
- 195 Ibid.

EUROPE AND ASIA HAVE A COMMON RESPONSIBILITY TO MANAGE CLIMATE CHANGE AND HELP THE MOST VULNERABLE

Eamon GILMORE

EU Special Representative for Human Rights

(Closing remarks at the 21st Informal ASEM Seminar on Human Rights)

It is a privilege to have been invited to deliver remarks at this, the closing discussion of the 21st ASEM Seminar on Human Rights.

Here in Europe, the world as we know it has changed dramatically over the course of the last few weeks. The events in Ukraine took many by surprise; and a humanitarian catastrophe is unfolding in front of our eyes. While the situation in Ukraine will continue to be our primary focus over the course of the next few weeks and months, the climate crisis has not gone away.

There is no doubt that we are in the middle of an unprecedented environmental crisis with climate change affecting every region across the globe, in Asia, Europe and elsewhere.

Climate change and environmental degradation has and will continue to have an adverse impact on the full and effective enjoyment of human rights, such as the right to life, the right to health, the right to safe drinking water and sanitation, the right to food, to adequate housing and standard of living.

The European Union recognises this and has made climate change a central element in its policies both internally and externally.

The European Green Deal, adopted in 2019, sets out a roadmap for a climate neutral continent by 2050. It identifies biodiversity conservation as an essential objective for sustainable development at the European and at the global level and aims to protect the health and wellbeing of people from environmental related risks and impacts.

The EU Action Plan on Human Rights and Democracy [2020 - 2024], firmly establishes the EU's commitment to supporting measures to address the high risks of environmental degradation, biodiversity loss, and water scarcity on the exercise of human rights.

We are implementing this Action Plan, mainly through our 143 EU Delegations and the hundreds of Member State embassies across the world, including in the Asia Pacific region.

The strength of our policies lies in our ability to cooperate with partners both at the bilateral and

multilateral level.

Many actions are based on cooperation and partnership, and we need to listen and work closely with other stakeholders, the UN, regional organisations, civil society organisations, and of course our Asian partners, to improve and to address our common problems.

Respect for human rights is already an important part of the ASEM partnership, with leaders of ASEM countries across Asia and Europe reasserting the universal, indivisible, interdependent and interrelated nature of human rights at their Summit last November.

I am glad that ASEM has also become an active forum for discussions on climate change. Asia is one of the world's most vulnerable regions when it comes to global warming and natural disasters and is the source of over half of carbon dioxide emissions worldwide, with its global share having grown since 2000, accounting for almost all of the global increase in the last two decades.

The theme of this year's 21st Informal ASEM Seminar on Human Rights - human rights and climate change - shows that both human rights and climate change, are an important aspect of our partnership.

Last September, the European Union adopted the Indo-Pacific Strategy. Through the Indo-Pacific Strategy, the EU intends to increase its engagement with the region to build partnerships that reinforce the rules-based international order, address global challenges, and lay the foundations for a rapid, just, and sustainable economic recovery that creates long-term prosperity for us all.

Our engagement will be based on promoting democracy, the rule of law, human rights, and universally agreed commitments such as the 2030 Agenda and its Sustainable Development Goals, and the Paris Agreement on Climate Change.

The Indo-Pacific region is home to three-fifths of the world's population, produces 60% of global GDP, contributed two-thirds of pre-pandemic global economic growth and is at the forefront of the digital economy. The EU is the world's largest trading bloc with transparent rules and regulations. The futures of the EU and the Indo-Pacific are inextricably linked given the interdependence of our economies and our common global challenges.

Our approach to the Indo-Pacific region is one of cooperation and partnership. The EU's renewed commitment to the region is inclusive of all partners wishing to cooperate with the EU. We will adapt this cooperation according to specific areas where partners share principles, values, or mutual interest. The Strategy is an invitation to our partners in the region to dialogue and to address the issues at stake, upholding international law and defending values and principles to which we are committed, with democracy and human rights at the forefront.

The EU Indo-Pacific Strategy highlights concrete actions in seven priority areas, one of which focuses

on green transition. As part of the Indo-Pacific Strategy, we will conclude Green Alliances with likeminded partners that have signed up to the goal of climate neutrality by 2050 and other ambitious climate and environmental objectives. Last May for example, we signed the first such Green Alliance with Japan.

Europe and Asia have a common responsibility for translating our climate change commitments into reality and helping the most vulnerable. Addressing the human cost of climate change and integrating human rights into our actions implies higher levels of ambition from all of us.

It is only by doing so that we'll be able to fulfil our responsibilities towards our planet, and towards present and future generations.

I hope that today's discussion, and indeed the discussions which have taken place over the course of the last few days, will contribute to enhancing the partnership between Asian and European countries when it comes to the addressing the impact of climate change on human rights.

Thank you.

HUMAN RIGHTS AND THE EFFECTS OF CLIMATE CHANGE GO HAND IN HAND

Carole DIESCHBOURG

Minister for the Environment, Climate and Sustainable Development, Grand Duchy of Luxembourg

(Closing remarks at the 21st Informal ASEM Seminar on Human Rights)

Excellencies,
Distinguished colleagues and friends,
Dear participants,

On behalf of Luxembourg, let me thank you for being here the past three days to discuss, exchange and elaborate concrete action points to address the complex – and yet so obvious – intersection of climate change and human rights, as we aim to re-build better to a fairer post-pandemic world.

At this moment, we have a war at our doorstep that shows just how fragile human rights and human security actually are. How important it is to do our utmost to not let situations or realities escalate. And how much work and efforts lie ahead of us when we fail to do so! This does not only apply to armed conflict and all the injustice that comes with it, but it is also applicable to a reality that affects each and every one of us, right here and right now: the climate change crisis. Because we all know that the consequences of climate change are directly affecting our fundamental human rights and human security.

I once compared Luxembourg to a rice grain, due to its size. I hope you've been able to explore some areas of this beautiful, tiny country. But just because it is a small country, doesn't mean it can't have an important impact. When we redesigned our International Climate Finance Strategy last summer, we decided to place a more important focus on human rights and gender issues in our climate financing, because those are transversal themes that we see as intrinsically linked to climate – both in terms of the impact of climate change, but also in terms of solutions to the climate crisis. A new funding theme has been dedicated to the issue of climate-induced migration – which has been discussed during a panel session on day one. This topic, which has a clear impact on peoples' human rights, will need our closest attention at present and in the future.

This is also important for me to mention, because Luxembourg's international climate finance is given on top of its ODA. Thus, this shows that we take inclusive, holistic climate action very seriously, and ultimately understand that a human rights-based approach is the only way to achieve it and ensure the sustainability of our decisions and actions.

Public participation in this process is key – because it is only through first-hand experiences that we learn what is really needed to find solutions to problems. It is also the only way to make solutions –

and their uptake – hold in the long-term. Sometimes we get caught up in our political agendas, and we really must do our best to ensure public participation at all levels.

Luxembourg places very high importance on stakeholder engagement. Locally, we also engage with citizens directly (for example through our recently launched Citizens Climate Council) to make sure they can help shape our climate policy – because at the end of the day, they know what they need – and we as policy makers are responsible to provide them with actionable, sustainable solutions. We are happy to work with established organisations to ensure that our national and international climate actions and policies are based on sound human rights principles and really strengthen them in our countries of intervention.

Much has happened in the past years, things that are non-negligible: for example, the principle of do no significant harm to the environment and human rights is much more enshrined in policymaking than even just a few years ago. Much has also happened in terms of the human rights due diligence obligations of companies as well. And let's of course not forget last year's adoption by the Human Rights Council of the two resolutions regarding the right to a clean, healthy, and sustainable environment and the appointment of a Special Rapporteur on the promotion and protection of human rights in the context of climate change.

There really is a paradigm shift. Our government also actively pursues an inclusive and just energy transition. All of this wouldn't have happened if it weren't for the increasing awareness and understanding in society and among policy makers that human rights are deeply impacted by the effects of climate change, and both can really go hand in hand – be it positively or negatively.

I would like to also highlight that all of these activities need to be pursued both at the national, but also on the international level – because the climate crisis does not know borders, and time is pressing. Last summer, in Luxembourg, we had torrential floodings that we had not seen in over a century. The weather, even here, is always getting more extreme. We have known for a long time that the Asia-Pacific region is particularly vulnerable to the effects of climate change, and has been dealing with these types of issues, unfortunately, quite regularly.

At COP26, I was co-facilitating the negotiation session on loss & damage. The loss & damage area is something Luxembourg wishes to pursue further, by also getting involved in the Santiago Network in an established manner. Here also, the link between human rights and climate is undeniably clear.

I have talked a lot now, so I will wrap up my thoughts.

Firstly, I would like to take the opportunity again to thank you all for joining us, either in-person or virtually, to discuss these important topics and I am sure you could gain many new insights to move the needle forward on human rights and climate change.

I thank my colleague, Minister Jean ASSELBORN, and his team at the Ministry of Foreign and European Affairs, for hosting this event and for inviting me to address you.

On behalf of Luxembourg, I also would like to thank Ms Michelle BACHELET and Dr David BOYD again for their enlightening keynote addresses, as well as all our distinguished speakers, rapporteurs, moderators, participants, and co-Organizers who shared their expertise over the past three days.

It is time we step up our responsibility. And as Dr Boyd put it during his keynote address – and I completely agree: "Time for talk is over! Time for action is now!"

I wish you a pleasant rest of the day, and safe travels back.

THE DISCUSSION ABOUT CLIMATE CHANGE AND HUMAN RIGHTS CANNOT TAKE PLACE IN SILOS

Achsanul HABIB

Director for Human Rights and Humanitarian Affairs, Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Republic of Indonesia

(Closing remarks at the 21st Informal ASEM Seminar on Human Rights)

Excellencies, Ladies and Gentlemen

A very good afternoon to you.

First of all, I would like to take this opportunity to thank the organisers of this event. Amidst all the challenges, you have arranged a very important and comprehensive programme on Human Rights and Climate Change, with excellent contributions from distinguished speakers.

I am very happy that we can finally meet in-person, after a fully virtual Seminar last year.

This year marks the 25th year since the first ASEM Human Rights Seminar was first held in Lund in 1997. In this light, I would like to congratulate the organisers for the tireless effort in planning and holding the Seminar each and every year, as well as ensuring the implementation of the Seminar's recommendations. May this Seminar continue to enrich the global human rights discourse and inspire further collaboration and innovation in the promotion and protection of human rights.

This year's Seminar, themed "Human rights and climate change" could not be held at a better time.

Climate change is indeed one of the biggest challenges that the world is facing today. It continues to affect the enjoyment of a wide range of human rights, such as the right to food, clean water, adequate housing, education, and right to development.

The international community's biggest homework is to turn the tide on climate change and mitigate its impact so it does not hinder the enjoyment of human rights. On the flip side, the international community also needs to ensure that climate change response measures do not negatively impact human rights.

This titanic task is becoming even harder given the COVID-19 pandemic. The economic impact of the pandemic has limited states' capability to implement its human rights obligations, particularly with regards to climate change.

During the past three days, we have discussed extensively about this complex interplay between human rights and climate change and how to better integrate human rights perspective in climate change policies and actions.

I will not give any recap of the Seminar discussion, because it has been elaborately explained by our distinguished rapporteurs but allow me to lay out three key takeaway points from our discussion.

First, is that the discussion on climate change and human rights cannot happen in silos. More often than not, human rights language is placed at the periphery of climate change and environmental discussion.

In this regard, some progress has been made at the international level. In 2021, the UN Human Rights Council passed a landmark resolution which recognizes 'the right to a clean, healthy and sustainable environment' as a right that is important for the enjoyment of other human rights.

The Glasgow Climate Pact, adopted as the outcome of COP26, also stated that human rights considerations should always be at the centre of any climate actions and policies.

ASEM Partner countries should utilise this momentum to continue their endeavours in integrating human rights language in the climate and environmental policies, including at national level.

Second, there is no 'silver bullet', one-size-fits-all recipe in formulating human rights-based climate policies. Developing countries might face different sets of problem compared to developed countries.

In this regard, any climate action must take into account and respect these differences to ensure that no country is being left behind, and to ensure that the climate change response does not adversely impact human rights.

This brings me to my third and last takeaway point, which is multi-stakeholder collaboration at the national, regional, and international level. Multistakeholder collaboration is the key to tackle climate change and mitigate its impact – without sacrificing human rights.

Inclusivity must also be the cornerstone of collaboration in surmounting the climate challenge, including with regards to vulnerable communities. In this regard, ASEM Partners could continue to promote the strengthening of dialogue platforms – like this Seminar – to share knowledge and best practices in formulating human rights-based climate policy. Capacity building through technical cooperation and transfer of technology must also be encouraged.

Furthermore, we should also push for increased participation from the private sector in any climate action. As we are aware, business have the responsibility to respect human rights, including those rights that will be affected by environmental damage caused by business activities.

Going forward, I hope these takeaway points could inspire ASEM Partners in promoting human-rights based climate actions – be it at national, regional, and international level. I believe the organiser will prepare a summary of the outcome of this Seminar and I look forward to receiving it.

Finally, on behalf of the Steering Committee, allow me to thank the participants for their meaningful participation and contribution in this Seminar. I hope you enjoy the rest of your stay in Luxembourg, and I wish you save travels home.

Thank you.

Annex 1: Seminar Programme

DAY 1 - WEDNESDAY, 16 MARCH 2022

Location: The European Convention Center Luxembourg & online

All times are displayed in Luxembourg time (GMT+1)

·····	ayed in Luxembourg time (GMT+1)		
		Welcome Remarks Ambassador Toru MORIKAWA Executive Director, Asia-Europe Foundation (ASEF)	
09:40 - 10:15	Official Welcome	Keynote Address Dr David R. BOYD United Nations Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and the Environment	
		Ms Michelle BACHELET United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights	
		Mr Jean ASSELBORN Minister of Foreign and European Affairs, Grand Duchy of Luxembourg	
		Moderator: Ambassador Leon FABER, Deputy Executive Director, Asia-Europe Foundation (ASEF)	
10:15 – 10:50	Presentation of Background Paper	Lead Rapporteur Dr Annalisa SAVARESI, Associate Professor of International Environmental Law, University of Eastern Finland (UEF)	
		Rapporteur Dr Stellina JOLLY, Associate Professor at the Faculty of Legal Studies, South Asian University (SAU)	
10:50 - 11:10	Plenary discussion with audience		
11:10 - 11:25	Coffee Break		
•••••	ent Bank (EIB)		
11:25 -11:40	Speakers: Ms Mariana RUIZ ALVARADO, Senior Social Development Specialist at the Environment, Climate and Social Office of the European Investment Bank (EIB)		
	Ms Moa WESTMAN, Gender Specialist at Environment, Climate and Social Office of the European Investment Bank (EIB)		
	Moderator: Professor Robert HARMSEN, University of Luxembourg		
•••••	Panel Discussion on Migration, Human Rights and Climate Change (Organised by the Ministry of Foreign and European Affairs of Luxembourg)		
11:40 – 13:00	Speakers: Prof. Vitit MUNTARBHORN, Chulalongkorn University Dr Sara VIGIL, Stockholm Environment Institute (SEI) Maria Theresa LAURON, Rosa Luxemburg Stiftung Mr Atle SOLBERG, Platform on Disaster Displacement (PDD)		
	Moderator Ms Elissa JOBSON, International Crisis Group		
13:00 – 14:00	Lunch		
15:00¬-17:00	For participants in Luxembourg: Visit to the Court of Justice of the Eu	uropean Union	

Seminar Programme

DAY 2 - THURSDAY, 17 MARCH 2022

Venue: The European Convention Center Luxembourg & online

08:30 -12:00 (with two coffee breaks)

Working Group 1

Theme: Reinforcing socio-ecological resilience of communities through information and public participation

Rapporteur

Mr Sébastien DUYCK, Center for International Environmental Law (CIEL)

Moderator:

 $\mathbf{Mr}\ \mathbf{Md}.\ \mathbf{Ekhtekharul}\ \mathbf{ISLAM},$ Independent University, Bangladesh

Working Group 2

Theme: Promoting the full enjoyment of human rights by all persons affected by climate change

Rapporteur

Dr Stellina JOLLY, South Asian University

Moderator:

Dr Sabin BIERI, University of Bern

Simultaneous Working Groups

Working Group 3

Theme: Green, equitable and inclusive: Innovative ideas on international cooperation to address the impacts of climate change on human rights

Rapporteur

Dr Linda Yanti SULISTIAWATI, National University of Singapore

Moderator:

Professor Robert HARMSEN, University of Luxembourg

Working Group 4

Theme: Taking stock of national and international human rights regimes to protect against the consequences of climate change

Rapporteur:

Dr Annalisa SAVARESI, University of Eastern Finland (UEF)

Moderator:

Ms Caleen C. OBIAS, Human Rights Commission of the Philippines

12:00 -13:30	Lunch & Networking
15:00	For participants in Luxembourg: Visit to Esch-sur-Alzette, European Capital of Culture 2022
19:00	For participants in Luxembourg: Dinner at KUFA, Esch-sur-Alzette

Seminar Programme

DAY 3 - FRIDAY, 18 MARCH 2022

Venue: The European Convention Center Luxembourg & Online

08:30 -12:00	Closing Plenary The European Convention Center Luxembourg	Chair: Mrs Jenny PIAGET, Head of Human Rights Diplomacy Section, Federal Department of Foreign Affairs of Switzerland
09:30 – 10:15	Rapporteurs' Summary on Each Workshop	Rapporteur: Mr Sébastien DUYCK Theme: Reinforcing socio-ecological resilience of communities through information and public participation – 10 min
		Rapporteur: Dr Stellina JOLLY Theme: Promoting the full enjoyment of human rights by all persons affected by climate change – 10 min
		Rapporteur: Dr Linda Yanti SULISTIAWATI Theme: Green, equitable and inclusive: Innovative ideas on international cooperation to address the impacts of climate change on human rights – 10 min
		Rapporteur: Dr Annalisa SAVARESI Theme: Taking stock of national and international human rights regimes to protect against the consequences of climate change – 10 min
10:15 – 11:00	Q&A Session	
11:00 –11:15	Coffee Break	
11:15 – 12:15	Closing Discussion – Human Rights and Climate Change: Defining opportunities and prospects for joint action in Asia and Europe Moderator: Mr Rolf RING, Deputy Director, Raoul Wallenberg Institute Speakers: (7-10 min each) Mr Eamon GILMORE, European Union's Special Representative for Human Rights Ms Irum AHSAN, Lawyer and environmental and climate rights specialist Mr Roberto Eugenio CADIZ, Commissioner, Commission of Human Rights of the Philippines Ms Marie-Claire GRAF, Swiss representative of Youth Constituency of the UNFCCC (YOUNGO)	
12:15 – 12:30	Official Closing	Closing remarks on behalf of the Host: Ms Carole DIESCHBOURG, Minister for the Environment, Climate and Sustainable Development
		Closing remarks on behalf of the Host: Mr Achsanul HABIB, Director for Human Rights and Humanitarian Affairs, Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Republic of Indonesia
12:30	End of Programme	
About #ASEMHRS21	The Asia-Europe Meeting (ASEM) is an intergovernmental forum for dialogue and cooperation established in 1996 to deepen relations between Asia and Europe. It presently comprises 53 Partners: 30 European and 21 Asian countries, the European Union and the ASEAN Secretariat. ASEM addresses political, economic, social, cultural, and educational issues of common interest, in a spirit of mutual respect and equal partnership.	
Asia-Europe Meeting	The 21st Informal ASEM Seminar on Human Rights (ASEMHRS21) provides a platform for various stakeholders working in the area of human rights and climate change across ASEM Partner countries with the aim of contributing to a better understanding of the interplay between human rights and climate change and sharing best practices and innovative ideas for better integration of human rights in climate change policies and actions.	

Annex 2: List of Participants

21st Informal ASEM Seminar on Human Rights

Human Rights and Climate Change 16 – 18 March 2022, Luxembourg

SPEAKERS

Ambassador Toru MORIKAWA

Executive Director

Asia-Europe Foundation (ASEF)

Dr David R BOYD

United Nations Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and the Environment

Ms Michelle BACHELET

United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights

Mr Jean ASSELBORN

Minister for Foreign & European Affairs

Grand Duchy of Luxembourg

Mr Eamon GILMORE

European Union's Special Representative for Human Rights

Ms Irum AHSAN

Lawyer

Environmental & Climate Rights Specialist

Mr Roberto Eugenio CADIZ

Commissioner

Commission of Human Rights of the Philippines

Ms Marie-Claire GRAF

Swiss Representative

Youth Constituency of the UNFCCC (YOUNGO)

Ms Carole DIESCHBOURG

Minister for the Environment, Climate and Sustainable Development

Grand Duchy of Luxembourg

Mr Achsanul HABIB

Director for Human Rights and Humanitarian Affairs

Republic of Indonesia

RAPPORTEURS

Dr Annalisa SAVARESI

University of Eastern Finland

Mr Sébastien DUYCK

Center for International Environmental Law (CIEL)

Dr Stellina JOLLY South Asian University

Dr Linda Yanti SULISTIAWATI National University of Singapore

MODERATORS/CHAIR

Ambassador Leon FABER Deputy Executive Director Asia-Europe Foundation

Mr Rolf RING Deputy Director

Raoul Wallenberg Institute

Sweden

Ms Jenny PIAGET

Head of Human Rights Diplomacy

Federal Department of Foreign Affairs, Switzerland

Ms Elissa JOBSON International Crisis Group

Mr Md Ekhtekharul ISLAM Independent University, Bangladesh

Dr Sabin BIERI

Director of Centre for Development and Environment

University of Bern

Dr Robert HARMSEN Professor of Political Science University of Luxembourg UNESCO Chair in Human Rights

Ms Caleen C. OBIAS Legal Specialist

Human Rights Commission of the Philippines

PANELISTS

Professor Vitit MUNTARBHORN Chulalongkorn University

Dr Sara VIGIL

Stockholm Environment Institute (SEI)

Ms Maria Theresa LAURON Rosa Luxemburg Stiftung

Mr Alte SOLBERG

Platform on Disaster Displacement (PDD)

PARTICIPANTS

AUSTRALIA Ms Christina MEYERS

Project Officer

Australian Earth Laws Alliance

Ms Huong TRAN

Inter-Governmental Mechanisms Project Manager Asia Pacific Forum of National Human Rights Institutions

AUSTRIA

Dr Gertraud WOLLANSKY Senior Expert on Climate Ministry for Climate Action

BANGLADESH

Ms Marjan BEGUM Assistant Secretary Ministry of Foreign Affairs

Ms Nadia CHOWDHURY Affiliate Principal Investigator Global Insight

alobal Illaight

Mr Aslam Hossain JONY ActionAid Bangladesh

Mr Shahanur ISLAM Honorary Executive Director

Bangladesh Institute of Human Rights (BIHR)

Mr Sadril Islam KHAN

Faculty Member

Daffodil International University

Ms Tahreem SHAH Faculty Member/Founder

Bhorosha

BELGIUM Mr Stéphane VAN HAUTE

Climate Adaptation & Communications

Friendship Luxembourg

Mr Stein VERSCHELDEN

Desk Officer

European External Action Service (EEAS)

BRUNEI DARUSSALAM Ms Pei Wei KHO Research Officer

Ministry of Foreign Affairs

Ms Sufina SALLEH

Special Duties Officer Brunei Climate Change Secretariat

BULGARIA

Ms Alexandra ALEXANDROVA

Human Rights Expert Ministry of Foreign Affairs

CAMBODIA

Mr Chenda SREANG Director of Department

Cambodian Human Rights Committee

Ms Sophany SAN

Deputy Director

Cambodia Development Resource Institute

Mr Tek VANNARA Executive Director

The NGO FORUM on Cambodia (NGOF)

CHINA

Mr Hongjiang HUANG

Counsellor

Department of International Organizations and Conferences Ministry of Foreign Affairs

willistry of Foreign Affairs

Ms Qun DU

Vice Chair of Academic Committee Law School, Beihang University

Mr Wanhong ZHANG

Professor

Law School, Wuhan University

Mr Zhian Ll

Vice Director, Associate Professor

National Human Rights Education and Training

Law School, Fudan University

CROATIA

Mr Dražen MARGETA

Ambassador

Ministry for Foreign and European Affairs

CZECH REPUBLIC

Ambassador Vladimír BÄRTL

Embassy of Czech Republic in Luxembourg

Dr Hana BRODSKA

UN Human Rights Agenda Coordinator

Ministry of Foreign Affairs

Mr Harald Christian SCHEU Professor of European Law Faculty of Law, Charles University

ESTONIA Ms Maris PEDAJA

Advocacy Expert

Estonian Green Movement / FoE Estonia

DENMARK Ms Karin BUHMANN

Professor and Centre Director & Professor

University of Southern Denmark Copenhagen Business School

Mr Ole PEDERSEN

Professor

Department of Law, Aarhus University

FINLAND Dr Heta HEISKANEN

Secretary General, Senior Specialist

Ministry of the Environment

Mr Kamrul HOSSAIN Research Officer

Arctic Centre, University of Lapland

FRANCE Ms Galland MYRIAM

Desk Officer

Ministry for Europe and Foreign Affairs

GERMANY Ms Nina ESCHKE

Senior Researcher / Policy Adviser German Institute for Human Rights

deiman institute for numan kignt

Ms Christina VOIGT

Chair

IUCN World Commission on Environmental Law

Ms Eva SCHARPF

Head of Communications
European Youth Parliament Norway

European fouth Paniament Norway

Mr Jonas SONNENSCHEIN

Project Leader

Umanotera, Slovenian Foundation for Sustainable Development

Dr Felix EKARDT

Forschungsstelle Nachhaltigkeit und Klimapolitik (Research Unit Sustainability and Climate Policy)

Ms Lea FRERICHS Advocacy Coordinator The ONE Campaign

GREECE Mr Alexandros BOUZIS

First Secretary for Communication / EL ASEM SOM

EU External Relations Directorate

Ministry of Foreign Affairs

HUNGARY Mr Andras HUSZAR

Director

Green Policy Center

Ms Vivien KÖBÖL-BENDA PhD Candidate, Lecturer Faculty of Law and Political Sciences Pázmány Péter Catholic University

Mr Dávid GOTTESMAN

Desk Officer

Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade

INDIA Ms Anita SINHA Joint Secretary

National Human Rights Commission

INDONESIA Ms Amanda HIMAWAN

Foreign Service Officer for Humanitarian Affairs

Ministry of Foreign Affairs

Mr Abraham SITORUS Diplomat

Ministry of Foreign Affairs

Ms Sasi HEMAWARDHANI

Diplomat

Indonesian Embassy in Brussels

Mr Mokhammad ARDAFILLAH Policy and Research Officer

ASEAN-Australia Strategic Youth Partnership

IRELAND Mr Stephen HUMPHREYS

Associate Professor of International Law

London School of Economics

ITALY Professor Cristiana CARLETTI

Senior Advisor - Expert

Inter-Ministerial Committee for Human Rights

Ministry of Foreign Affairs and International Cooperation

Ms Elena FASOLI Associate Professor University of Trento

Ms Antonietta FLIA

Associate Professor of Law - Senior Legal Adviser

University of Santiago de Compostela

JAPAN Ms Yukina TAKAHASHI Chief of Political Section

Embassy of Japan in Luxembourg

Ms Hitomi KIMURA Associate Professor Otsuma Women's University

Mr Jusen ASUKA Professor Tohoku University

KAZAKHSTAN Mr Baurzhan JANGELDINOV

Senior Manager

IGTIPC

LAO PEOPLE'S **DEMOCRATIC**

REPUBLIC

Ms Xaysomphone SOUVANNAVONG

Deputy Director, Climate Change Promotion Division Ministry of Natural Resources and Environment

Mr Phoutthabandith WARINTHRASAK

Deputy Director

Division on Human Rights and International Humanitarian Law

Ministry of Foreign Affairs

Ms Ieva KESKINE **LITHUANIA**

Gender Equality, Disability Inclusion and

Intersectionality Consultant

UN Entity for Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women

LUXEMBOURG

Ambassador Anne GOEDERT

Ambassador-at-large for Human Rights Ministry of Foreign and European Affairs

Ms Cherryl DENTZER

Advisor

Climate and International Climate Finance

Ministry of the Environment

Mr Marc DE BOURCY

COASI Delegate

Perm Rep pf Luxembourg to the EU

Mr Rol REILAND

Deputy Director Ministry of Foreign and European Affairs

Mr Max LAMESCH

Deputy Director Humanitarian Action

Ministry of Foreign Affairs

Ms Françoise BINSFELD

Executive Director

Aide à l'Enfance de l'Inde et du Népal

Mr Pregno GILBERT

Head

Commission consultative des droits de l'Homme du Luxembourg

MALAYSIA

Ms Wan Faizatul Afzan ISMAYATIM Principal Assistant Secretary Ministry of Foreign Affairs

Ms Junaenah SULEHAN

Director

Institute Borneo Studies

MONGOLIA

Ms Anarmaa SHARKHUU

Professor

National University of Mongolia

MYANMAR

Dr May Thida AUNG Senior Legal Adviser

HRER, Danish Institute for Human Rights

Mr Hla MYINT

Chairperson

Myanmar National Human Rights Commission

NETHERLANDS

Ms Rensje TEERINK

Head of Division ASIAPAC1

European External Action Service (EEAS)

Dr Margaretha WEWERINKE-SINGH

Assistant Professor Leiden University

NEW ZEALAND

Ms Clotilde SIPP Policy Advisor

Mission of New Zealand to the EU

NORWAY

Mr Tom Jørgen MARTINUSSEN

Senior Advisor

Royal Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs

Ms Oda ALMAS SMITH Policy Advisor

Forest Peoples Programme

PAKISTAN Mr Sohail AKHTAR

Project Coordinator

Society for the Protection of the Rights of the Child (SPARC)

PHILIPPINES Mr Jonas TURINGAN

Chief of Staff

Commission on Human Rights of the Philippines

Ms Joyleen SANTOS First Secretary and Consul Philippine Embassy in Singapore

Mr John Ray LIBIRAN Professor of Law University of the Cordilleras

Ms Loren Cristina BUSTOS

PhD Researcher

Human Rights Center - Friedrich-Alexander Universität (FAU)

Ms Klarise GRACE Officer-In-Charge

Commission on Human Rights of the Philippines

POLAND Ms Małgorzata BENSON

Second Secretary

Unit for Human Rights and Promotion of Democracy Department of United Nations and Human Rights

Ms Maja BARTCZAK Student Fellow

Maastricht European Institute for Transnational Law

Mr Bartosz KWIATKOWSKI Director of the Branch Frank Bold Foundation

PORTUGAL Ms Ines Horta PINTO

Legal Officer at the Human Rights Division

Ministry of Foreign Affairs

Ms Teresa FIDELIS Assistant Professor

Department of Environment and Planning

University of Aveiro

Ms Sofia FIGUEIREDO

CEO

Akto - Human Rights and Democracy

REPUBLIC OF KOREA

Mr Hang Ryeol NA Professor All Seeds Academy

Mr Byung Do PARK

Director

Legal Studies Institute, Konkuk Law School

SINGAPORE Ms Serina RAHMAN

Visiting Fellow

SEAS-Yusof Ishak Institute

Mr Peter PIEŠT'ANSKÝ **SLOVAKIA**

Counsellor Ministry of Foreign and European Affairs

Ms Michaela UJHÁZYOVÁ

Researcher

Slovak National Center for Human Rights

Ms Natasa BERGELJ **SLOVENIA**

Head of Department Ministry of Foreign Affairs

SPAIN Mr Álvaro González PÉREZ

Expert Group on Youth Rights Member

European Youth Forum

Ms Carmen Marquez CARRASCO

Professor of Public International Law and

International Relations University of Seville

Ms Rocio Albertos GOMEZ-AMAT

Partnership Officer for the Asia and the Middle East region

Action Solidarité Tiers Monde

SWEDEN Mr Andreas JOHANSSON

Senior Advisor

Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency (SIDA)

Ms Claudia ITUARTE-LIMA

Senior Researcher

Environment, Climate Change and Human Rights

Raoul Wallenberg Institute (RWI)

Ms Linnéa NORDLANDER

PostDoc Faculty of Law

University of Copenhagen

Mr Carl SÖDERBERGH

Director of Policy & Advocacy Minority Rights Group International

Mr Matthew SCOTT

Senior Researcher in Human Rights, Disasters and Displacement

Raoul Wallenberg Institute (RWI)

SWITZERLAND Mr Pascal HUBATKA

Human Rights Officer

Federal Dept of Foreign Affairs

Mr Yves LADOR

Representative to the UN in Geneva

Earthjustice

Mr Benny MÜLLER

Deputy Head of Human Rights Policy

Federal Dept of Foreign Affairs

THAILAND

Ms Woranut ON-UBOL

Foreign Relations Officer

Ministry of Social Development and Human Security

Ms Romchat WACHIRARATTANAKORNKUL

Human Rights Officer

Office of the UN High Commissioner for Human Rights

Mr Pornchai NOIBANNGONG

Acting Director

International Human Rights Cooperation Unit National Human Rights Commission of Thailand

Mr Victor BERNARD

Programme Officer Raoul Wallenberg Institute of Human Rights

Mr Ekachai PINKAEW Human Rights Official

National Human Rights Commission of Thailand

UNITED KINGDOM

Mr Stephen TURNER Senior Lecturer University of Essex

VIETNAM

Mr Hai Luu NGUYEN

Deputy Director General

Department of International Organizations

Ministry of Foreign Affairs

Ms Giang DO Bachelor Student

Business School Lausanne

Ms Huong LE

Head of Human Rights Division

ASEAN Secretariat

Annex 3: Concept Note

Introduction

"People who are socially, economically, culturally, politically, institutionally, or otherwise marginalised are especially vulnerable to climate change" (IPCC/ AR5¹).

Climate change is a major global issue of concern to the international community. It is also one of the greatest threats to human rights of our time. The impacts of climate change, the unsustainable management and use of natural resources, the pollution of air, land and water, the unsound management of chemicals and waste, the resulting loss of biodiversity and the decline in services provided by ecosystems, preclude a safe, clean, healthy, and sustainable environment which is integral to the full enjoyment of a vast range of human rights, including the rights to life, health, food, water, and development. At the same time, the exercise of human rights, including the rights to information, participation, and remedy, is vital to the protection of the environment and for mitigation of the impacts of climate change.

Climate change has a direct and universal negative impact on the full enjoyment of human rights. However, despite no region on the planet being exempt from the impacts of climate change, some countries disproportionately suffer from climate-induced disasters. For instance, there are more coastal cities in Asia than in the rest of the world combined, which are also more populated compared to those outside of the continent. Hence, the repercussions of climate change-induced phenomena such as sea level rise, intensified storms, flooding, droughts, biodiversity loss, ocean acidification and coral bleaching, vulnerability to saltwater intrusion, and coastal erosion will have a significant direct effect on the lives and livelihoods of billions of human beings. Europe, on the other hand, will be facing longer lasting droughts, floods and heatwaves that will become more frequent and intense in the years to come.

While climate change affects all human rights, its impact poses a serious and more direct risk to people's rights to life, to health, to food, to a healthy environment, to a proper education, to water and sanitation, to adequate housing, to development and to self-determination in particular.² The World Health Organization (WHO) indicates that between 2030 and 2050, climate change is expected to cause approximately 250,000 additional deaths each year resulting from pollution, malnutrition, scarcity of clean water and heat stress. Furthermore, according to the 2015 Lancet Commission on Health and Climate Change, climate crisis is the biggest global health threat of this century and could reverse five decades of progress in global health, particularly as it endangers the right to food.³

The negative impacts of climate change are disproportionately felt by different communities and groups. Women are generally more vulnerable to the effects of climate change than men. This is so, primarily, because women constitute the majority of the world's poor whose livelihoods are more dependent on natural resources, themselves threatened by climate change.⁴ United Nations Children's Emergency Fund (UNICEF), for instance, estimates that, by 2040, almost 600 million children, especially girls, will be living in areas of extremely high-water stress⁵. In 2019, weather-related hazards triggered some 24.9 million displacements in 140 countries. According to the United

Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR), climate-related disasters could double the number of persons requiring humanitarian assistance to over 200 million each year by 2050⁶. Climate change also impacts persons in vulnerable situations differently, including Indigenous peoples and local communities, persons with disabilities, refugees, and migrants, as well as older adult persons, lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and intersex persons (LGBTI) and persons belonging to national ethnic or other minorities⁷.

Besides these concrete examples of direct effects of climate change, it should also be noted that environmental human rights defenders⁸ are increasingly exposed to violence and harassment because of their peaceful work in defence of a healthy and clean environment.⁹ According to the Global Analysis 2020 by the NGO Frontline Defenders, 69% of human rights defenders killed in 2020 worked on land, environmental or indigenous peoples' rights.¹⁰ Furthermore, over the 2002–2018 period, there have been 150 reported killings of women environmental defenders, with a growing proportion of women defenders killed since 2010.¹¹ Most killings remain unpunished.

In addition, COVID-19 restrictions and lockdowns have reduced transparency and monitoring of human rights violations, and have intensified political intimidation and digital surveillance, while limiting access to justice and the abilities of environmental human rights defenders, local actors, Indigenous communities and others to effectively participate in decision-making processes. Nevertheless, in spite of the COVID-19 pandemic, grassroots environmental activism is on the rise, witnessed by international and national movements such as Friday for Future, in many parts of Asia and Europe.

States have a human rights obligation to prevent the foreseeable adverse effects of climate change and ensure that those affected by it, particularly those in vulnerable situations, have access to effective remedies and means of adaptation to enjoy lives of human dignity. While steps have been taken by the international community to enhance the protection of human rights in the face of climate change, the link between human rights and climate change is relatively recent.

The Male' Declaration on the Human Dimension of Global Climate Change, which was adopted by representatives of Small Island Developing States (SIDS) in 2007, stated for the first time in an international agreement that "climate change has clear and immediate implications for the full enjoyment of human rights [...]¹³. One year later, with its landmark resolution 7/23, the Human Rights Council (HRC) acknowledged that "climate change poses an immediate and far-reaching threat to people and communities around the world and has implications for the full enjoyment of human rights". 14

Another resolution (10/4) was adopted in 2009, stating that "human rights obligations and commitments have the potential to inform and strengthen international and national policymaking in the area of climate change". The most recent resolution (41/21) outlines that the impacts of climate change and continued environmental degradation are already negatively affecting "the effective enjoyment of human rights, including, inter alia, the right to life, the right to adequate food,

the right to the enjoyment of highest attainable standard of physical and mental health, the right to adequate housing, the right to self-determination, the rights to safe drinking water and sanitation, the right to work and the right to development". ¹⁶

However, it was only with the **Paris Agreement to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC)**, adopted in 2015, that human rights became integrated into the field of climate change. The Paris Agreement is also the first legally binding international treaty on climate change to urge States to abide by international human rights obligations. The Preamble states that:

"Parties should, when taking action to address climate change, respect, promote and consider their respective obligations on human rights, the right to health, the rights of indigenous peoples, local communities, migrants, children, persons with disabilities and people in vulnerable situations and the right to development, as well as gender equality, empowerment of women and intergenerational equity".¹⁷

However, the **Katowice rulebook**, agreed at the 24th Conference of the Parties (UNFCCC COP24) held in December 2018 and developed to guide the implementation of the Agreement, omitted any reference to human rights. The continuing negotiations of the rulebook, however, offer an opportunity to remedy this and integrate human rights protections more firmly into the climate commitments. It remains to be seen what role the next conference, COP26, - scheduled to take place in November 2021 – will play in encouraging the interrelation of environment, climate change, and human rights.

However, "addressing the climate crisis cannot be done solely through the UNFCCC, as this effort is connected to other goals, including poverty eradication and sustainable development. Increasing synergies across international agendas, such as the Sustainable Development Goals, can help countries individually and collectively achieve both their development and climate goals." ¹⁹

The **53 Asia-Europe Meeting (ASEM)** members have called for ways to "to build more inclusive, fair and resilient societies where economic recovery goes hand-in-hand with social justice and decent work"²⁰ in the post-pandemic recovery. They also drew attention to the need to put human rights and climate change at the centre of international cooperation and effective multilateralism in their recent ministerial statement on COVID-19.²¹

About the Seminar

The **Asia-Europe Meeting (ASEM)** is an inter-governmental forum for dialogue and cooperation established in 1996 to deepen relations between Asia and Europe on the interpersonal and governmental levels. It addresses political, economic, and socio-cultural issues of common concern.

The Informal ASEM Seminar on Human Rights series was launched in 1997 to strengthen relations between civil society actors and governments in Asia and Europe on human rights issues. The Seminar series is co-organised by the Asia-Europe Foundation (ASEF), the Raoul Wallenberg Institute (nominated by the Swedish Ministry of Foreign Affairs), the French Ministry for Europe and Foreign Affairs, the Philippine Department of Foreign Affairs, the Swiss Federal Department of Foreign Affairs, and the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the People's Republic of China. By providing a platform for discussion among relevant stakeholders, including government officials from ASEM Partners, academic experts, and members of civil society, the 21st Informal ASEM Seminar on Human Rights (ASEMHRS21) aims at contributing to a better understanding of the interplay between human rights and climate change and to jointly formulate and put forward recommendations for better integration of human rights in climate change policies and actions.

The 21st Informal ASEM Seminar on Human Rights (ASERMHRS21) will be hosted by the Ministry of Foreign and European Affairs of the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg and is scheduled to take place in March 2022 in Luxembourg. The Seminar will be followed by outreach and capacity-building activities to disseminate the outcomes of the Seminar and to improve the knowledge and capacity of relevant actors in Asia and Europe on the theme of the Seminar. The follow-up activities will also be delivered in the same year.

Working Groups

Participation in the 21st Informal ASEM Seminar on Human Rights will take place in 4 simultaneous working group discussions (on Day 2) on the 4 following topics:

- 1. Reinforcing socio-ecological resilience of communities through information and public participation
- 2. Promoting the full enjoyment of human rights by all persons affected by climate change
- 3. Green, equitable and inclusive: Innovative ideas on international cooperation to address the impact of climate change on human rights
- 4. Taking stock of national and international human rights regimes to protect against the consequences of climate change.

In addition to the guiding questions specific to each working group, there are cross-cutting questions which are valid across all the 4 working groups. The cross-cutting questions and the working group questions are the following:

Cross-cutting questions:

1. In light of a possible global recession due to the COVID-19 pandemic, how can the principle of non-regression of human rights and environmental obligations be implemented, and delays or changes of states' commitments best be avoided? How can we ensure that human rights protections and climate commitments will not become COVID-19 collateral?

- 2. How can we ensure the meaningful participation of women with diverse backgrounds in relevant decision-making processes and the integration of a gender perspective into climate related policies and programmes in order to guarantee that the rights of women and girls including their Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights (SRHR) are respected? What about other vulnerable groups, including indigenous peoples and local communities?
- 3. What is the role of **human rights education** (what, how and to whom) in ensuring transparency and accountability in climate change related policies?
- 4. How would you assess the current **dialogues** on the interlinkages between human rights and climate change between regions (Europe, Asia, SIDS etc.)? Where do you see potential to further strengthen these dialogues? What role can the **Asia-Europe Meeting (ASEM)** play in advancing the respect of human rights in climate actions?
- 5. How can the **obligations of States** in the context of climate change and other environmental harms be extended to all rights holders?

1. Reinforcing socio-ecological resilience through information and public participation

There is widespread consensus that climate action cannot be dealt with by governments alone but that decision-making processes need to be transparent and inclusive in order to scale up efforts and support actions to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, build resilience and decrease vulnerability to the harmful effects of climate change. Meaningful public participation in decision-making is a human right and as such forms an important element of the **United Nations Declaration** of the **Right to Development**²² and a procedural element of human rights obligations concerning a healthy environment.²³

Stakeholders' consultation in the climate change process is fundamental and it is not new. Many countries have set up National Councils for Sustainable Development (NCSDs) or other bodies serving a similar purpose following the first Rio Summit in 1992. Chapter 10 of the **Rio Declaration**, in particular, promotes public participation in environmental decision-making and access to information and justice in environmental matters:

"Environmental issues are best handled with the participation of all concerned citizens, at the relevant level. At the national level, each individual shall have appropriate access to information concerning the environment that is held by public authorities, including information on hazardous materials and activities in their communities, and the opportunity to participate in decision-making processes. States shall facilitate and encourage public awareness and participation by making information widely available. Effective access to judicial and administrative proceedings, including redress and remedy, shall be provided." ²⁴

A few years later, in 1998, the United Nations Economic Commission for Europe (UNECE) Convention on Access to Information, Public Participation in Decision-Making and Access to

Justice in Environmental Matters was adopted in the Danish city of Aarhus (Århus) with the aim of empowering the role of citizens and civil society organisations in environmental matters. The Aarhus Convention, as it came to be known, establishes a number of rights of the public with regard to the environment and obligates parties to the convention to make the necessary provisions so that public authorities at a national, regional, or local level will contribute to these rights to become effective. While originally a European agreement, the Aarhus Convention is now open for global signature and has several Central Asian nations as parties. Around the beginning of the 21st century, the debate on sustainable development appeared to lose momentum and, in many countries, the NCSDs were losing traction and influence. However, the launch of the 2012 UN Conference on Sustainable Development and the adoption of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development and its Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) started to put inclusive and sustainable development and climate change back on the international agenda. After the adoption of the 17 SDGs, with standalone goal number 13 focusing exclusively on climate action, the international community came to a historic agreement with the adoption of the Paris Agreement in 2015. Article 7 places a special accent on a "participatory and fully transparent approach":

"Parties acknowledge that adaptation action should follow a country-driven, gender-responsive, participatory and fully transparent approach, taking into consideration vulnerable groups, communities and ecosystems, and should be based on and guided by the best available science and, as appropriate, traditional knowledge, knowledge of indigenous peoples and local knowledge systems, with a view to integrating adaptation into relevant socioeconomic and environmental policies and actions, where appropriate."²⁵

It has long been established that participation enables the advancement of all human rights. With the climate agenda encountering renewed global interest, active and meaningful participation of all stakeholders also became a key tool for climate action. In this working group we will discuss three principles that are essential to addressing climate change and strengthening human rights by means of participation: 1. Participation and special care for persons in vulnerable situations; 2. Freedom of expression, association, and access to information; and 3. Knowledge sharing.

First, special care should be taken in terms of the **participation of persons in vulnerable situations and indigenous peoples** in decision-making processes in order to enhance positive environmental outcomes and comply with relevant human rights obligations. Meaningful participation with vulnerable sectors will help to ensure that climate adaptation and mitigation efforts address the specific vulnerabilities of each group and do not adversely impact their basic human rights. Indigenous peoples and local communities are, for instance, disproportionally affected by climate change as they often live in fragile ecosystems that are particularly exposed to extreme weather events. The 2030 Agenda and the Paris Agreement have recognised the unique and important role of indigenous peoples and local communities as key actors in achieving their goals.

The same is often true for women who do not merely bear the greatest burden of climate change-induced effects but additionally have to face multiple and intersecting forms of discrimination, gender-based violence, and marginalisation due to, inter alia, a lack of educational and professional opportunities.

A study by the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR) found that the "inclusion of women with diverse backgrounds in climate action and decision-making processes was critical for meaningful, effective and informed action that respected women's rights"²⁶.

As among those most affected by climate change, persons with disabilities, through their representative organisations, must also be actively included in shaping climate policies and actions. Youth are generally under-represented in political institutions, but children and young persons should also play an important role in climate justice. The Fridays for Future movement, for example, has shown that young people want to have a say in the decision-making pertaining to environment, climate change, and human rights. These are just four examples that need particular attention in decision making related to climate change.

Second, the right to freedom of expression and association in general and access to reliable and accessible information on climate change are fundamental for all, including journalists writing science-based articles to fight climate change denial, smallholder farmers relying on access to weather forecast information, and environmental human rights defenders. The latter in particular have been experiencing a dramatic shrinking of their civic space worldwide, which was further accelerated by the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic. In recent years, governments across all continents have imposed unnecessary and disproportionate restrictions on the right to protest, freedom of speech, access to information and freedom of association – an action that disproportionally affects human rights defenders, including those who are working on environmental and land issues. Moreover, women activists suffer from gender-specific forms of violence and intimidation which are a source of grave concern.²⁷

Third, **knowledge transfer and sharing** are increasingly recognised as means of mobilising the knowledge and capacities needed to respond to complex and changing realities, such as the challenges posed by climate change. Improved access to internet and new technologies such as web-based platforms and social media allow for increased access to data. However, information must be easy to understand and tailored to specific needs of stakeholders to strengthen adaptation action and decision-making. Public participation must also provide opportunity for affected persons to voice their concerns.

The International Court of Justice (ICJ) and a number of regional human rights courts have argued that "states have an obligation to assess and disclose foreseeable environmental risks as part of their positive duties to protect, respect, and fulfil various human rights". ²⁸ The UNFCCC also states in Article 6 the need for the assessment and disclosure of information related to climate change and hence to promote and facilitate "public access to information on climate change and its effects". ²⁹

Guiding questions

1. What are the lessons learned about **public participation** since the Rio Summit in 1992 and how can we capitalise on them now that there is an increased global awareness of climate change?

- 2. The precise standard of what constitutes 'adequate' or 'effective' public participation is not always clear. What should 'adequate' public participation in relation to discussion on climate change be at a minimum? Can you share any examples of good practices of inclusive public participation in climate change action?
- 3. Given that persons in vulnerable situations face greater risks and threats from climate change, it is particularly important that the right to meaningful and informed participation in decisions is respected. How is this being realised in relation to e.g., Indigenous peoples? Local communities? Marginalised communities living in coastal areas or geographically isolated and disadvantaged areas (GIDA)? Youth? Future generations?
- 4. The United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, through its Article 6 on Education, Training and Public Awareness, calls on governments to implement educational and training programmes on climate change to educate, empower, and engage all stakeholders. What are some of the actions that governments could and should take in order to provide further opportunities for youth and child participation? What are the best practices that can be emulated to ensure the most marginalised and those with no formal education are consulted or sufficiently informed in order to develop resilience to the effects of climate change?
- 5. How can government policies build better on demands from grassroots movements?
- 6. Are there initiatives undertaken in your country or region to support and protect **environmental human rights defenders**? Are the current programmes to support and protect them, and especially **women** environmental human rights defenders, effective enough to have a real impact on the ground?
- 7. What are your experiences with **knowledge sharing platforms** and networks in your country or region? Have new technologies given a new momentum to the creation of these instruments and hence to the sharing of climate relevant information?

2. Promoting the full enjoyment of human rights by all persons affected by climate change

Social vulnerability in the context of climate change response is an important factor because some populations may have less capacity to prepare for, respond to, and recover from climate-related hazards and effects. Climate change is slowing down economic growth, eroding food security, and creating new poverty traps, particularly in urban, coastal, and agricultural areas. The effects of slow-onset disasters tend to have gradual impacts on livelihoods and health, including through declining agricultural yields. Sudden-onset disasters have immediate adverse impacts in terms of injury, death, displacement, and damage to assets. Vulnerability to climate change is not just determined by external, climatic factors alone but also by factors such as marginalisation, social status, livelihood situation, revenue, social coverage, and access to insurance.

Research indicates that the impact of climate change and natural disasters for **women and girls**, in particular, are far-reaching as the majority of the world's poor are women. According to the WHO, "globally, natural disasters such as droughts, floods and storms kill more women than men, and tend

to kill women at a younger age "30". Most of the time, women play a key role in family care, children's education, and food production and provision, as well as in the spreading of grassroots knowledge on food and nutrition. Due to climate change, however, food production becomes less predictable and family revenues less secure. Water and food collection also become difficult, and as women will need to walk further distances, they may become more exposed to physical dangers and sexual violence. Also, women and girls tend to have less access to or control over assets, including the resources necessary to cope with hazardous events, such as information, education, health, and wealth. Other climate-sensitive health impacts, such as undernutrition and malaria, also show important gender differences. Besides, climate change leads to more violence against women and girls as crises and resource scarcity increase the risk that women and girls will be victims of violence or forced marriage.

But while the impacts of climate change may disproportionately affect women and girls, women and girls are also important agents and leaders of change and often possess particular skills and knowledge useful for climate change adaptation. According to the OHCHR, "promoting women's education, participation in decision-making are among the most effective ways of reducing future emissions of carbon dioxide." While there is a greater global commitment and understanding of the need to incorporate gender perspectives into climate change policy, there are still considerable gender-based barriers across the major pillars of international and national policy processes on climate change. The still considerable gender-based barriers across the major pillars of international and national policy processes on climate change.

According to Internal Displacement Monitoring Centre (IDMC), an average of 25.3 million **displacements** have been recorded each year since 2008 by sudden-onset disasters alone.³⁶ The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) has argued that the greatest impact of climate change could be on human migration and has predicted that 200 million people will have migrated from their place of origin by 2050 for this reason³⁷. It should be recognised that climate is just one of the factors influencing migration, the consequences of climate change for human population distribution being unclear and unpredictable and the people most vulnerable to climate change are not necessarily the ones most likely to migrate. In some cases, however, climate change can be the sole factor prompting migration. Even though climate migration and displacement remain mostly internal, there are some countries that are at risk of completely disappearing, and whose residents are in danger of displacement. Some of these examples can be found in Small Island Developing States (SIDS). However, there is considerable resistance to the idea of expanding the definition of political refugees – as outlined in the Geneva Conventions - to incorporate "climate refugees."

Informal sector workers are playing an important role in climate change mitigation. For instance, the International Labour Organization (ILO) estimates that 15 million persons worldwide earn their living from recycling waste.³⁹ According to the NGO Women in Informal Employment: Globalizing and Organizing (WIEGO), around 1% of the urban workforce in developing countries is engaged in recycling. While recycling is one of the cheapest, fastest ways to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, it is also a labour-intensive model of waste management. In addition, the carbon footprint of informal workers and enterprises is often smaller than that of their formal counterparts, but they are at significant risk from the increased impacts of climate change effects.⁴⁰

According to OHCHR, "persons with disabilities - an estimated 1 billion individuals worldwide - [...] are often among those most adversely affected in an emergency, sustaining disproportionately higher rates of morbidity and mortality, and are among those least able to access emergency support". 41 Crosscutting forms of discrimination based on gender, age, displacement, indigenous origin, or minority status can further heighten the risk of persons with disabilities, even more so for persons with invisible disabilities, suffering from the negative impacts of climate change. There is little research on their exacerbated vulnerabilities in disaster situations and their limited access to knowledge about the effects of climate change. In addition, climate change is itself a driver of disabilities.

Indigenous peoples, even though they contribute the least to greenhouse gas emissions, are among the first to face the direct consequences of climate change, due to their dependence upon, and close relationship with, the land, ocean, and natural resources. Given the scale of the risks they face, which include specific threats to their livelihoods, cultures, and ways of life, their situation is different from what the poor, or those in vulnerable situations, experience. According to the International Labour Organisation (ILO), "indigenous peoples must be seen as powerful agents of change, accorded access to decent work opportunities and the ability to participate in the development, implementation and evaluation of sustainable policies and measures aimed at combating climate change".

Climate change also affects **young people** in all aspects of their lives. Young people between 10 and 24 years constitute over 1.5 billion people in the world, of which 70% live in developing countries.⁴⁴ Due to climate change, more children, and young girls in particular, will lack access to education and to the labour market later on. Moreover, children born today will face a lifetime of climate change-related health problems everywhere in the world.

The impacts of climate change disproportionally affect those who are already marginalised across the world, including **LGBTIQ communities**. People identifying as LGBTIQ are more likely to be socially isolated and face discrimination in settings such as emergency shelters. Moreover, in the aftermath of natural disasters, members of the LGBTIQ communities are more likely to be excluded from response, relief, and recovery efforts. ⁴⁵ They are also more likely to have trouble crossing borders to escape conflict and disaster. It is therefore important that humanitarian organisations make their disaster prevention and response activities accessible to the LGBTIQ communities.

Older persons who may be physically, financially, and emotionally less able to deal with a changing climate are also in a vulnerable situation. The world's population is ageing and by 2050 over 21% of the global population will be 60 years or older. According to HelpAge International, "growing proportions of older people are increasingly exposed to risks, especially in low- and middle-income countries, which are the most vulnerable to the impacts of climate change."46 Older persons are also more vulnerable to the effects of extreme temperature rises and have a significantly higher mortality risk in extreme weather events. At the same time, and as pointed out by OHCHR, it needs to be recognised that older persons have an abundance of knowledge, experience, and resilience, making their participation, inclusion, and leadership key to human rights-based global efforts to adapt to and mitigate the adverse effects of climate change.⁴⁷

In the face of global climate change, persons in vulnerable situations must have their rights protected, be able to live in safety and dignity, obtain access to measures of adaptation and resilience, and receive the support of the international community. At the same time, it must be recognised that persons in vulnerable situations are active participants in society and agents of their own rights, whose meaningful participation must be ensured.

Guiding questions

- 1. What can be done to ensure that **forced climate migrants** do not fall through the cracks of international refugee and immigration policy? Can initiatives such as the Nansen Initiative be revitalised?
- 2. How can the **health and welfare of workers in the informal sector** be protected in view of their increased exposure to climate change impacts?
- 3. How can meaningful integration of **persons with disabilities** in climate-related education, training, public awareness, and public participation be ensured?
- 4. Being on the front line of climate change, how can the capacities of **Indigenous peoples** be built? How can they become agents of change, while making best use of their traditional knowledge in the fight against climate change?
- 5. Are there initiatives undertaken in your country or region to support and protect environmental human rights defenders and to fight impunity?
- 6. How can humanitarian organisations make services accessible to those most in need, including LGBTIQ persons, and make sure that protection measures are integrated in their relief operations?
- 7. How can the engagement and participation of young and older persons on climate change issues be enhanced?

3. Green, equitable and inclusive: Innovative ideas on international cooperation to address the impacts of climate change on human rights

International cooperation is critical to the success of addressing climate change. International human rights instruments, such as the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights impose on States the duty to cooperate in order to ensure the realisation of all human rights. Climate change requires a global response as its impact has cross-border consequences. Hence, states should share resources, knowledge, and technology in order to address climate change. In Madrid in December 2019, ASEM Foreign Ministers underlined "that priority challenges for enhanced **ASEM cooperation** include the need for ambitious climate action". 50

The Rio Conventions, the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD), the United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification (UNCCD), and **the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate**

Change (UNFCCC), which all derive from the 1992 Earth Summit, are all important legally binding international agreements that establish framework for international cooperation on environmental and sustainable development issues. Of the three conventions, the UNFCCC is the primary framework for international climate change cooperation, and it has been updated by subsequent agreements including the **1997 Kyoto Protocol** and the 2015 **Paris Agreement**. Its overarching objective is to stabilise greenhouse gas concentrations at a level that would prevent dangerous human induced interference with the climate system. While the UNFCCC Convention does not refer to human rights directly, it has recognised, by extension, that states must ensure that their responses to climate change do not themselves violate human rights.

The international community took a historic step in 2011 when it adopted the **Cancun Agreements**, which explicitly call on Parties to respect human rights when taking actions to address climate change. It also states the need for enhanced "international cooperation, [...] innovation and the transfer of appropriate technologies."⁵¹ In 2015, the Paris Agreement also highlighted the need for respect for human rights and for international cooperation on adaptation efforts by the parties. In the same year, 18 countries⁵² signed the **Geneva Pledge for Human Rights in Climate Action** in order to facilitate, amongst others, "the exchange of expertise and best practice between our human rights and climate experts to build our collective capacity to deliver responses to climate change".⁵³

Regional cooperation is also crucial to advance the climate and human rights agendas. On the 1st of December 2020, the EU and ASEAN elevated their longstanding relationship to a strategic partnership. The current ASEAN-EU Plan of Action contains multiple references to international cooperation in the fields of human rights and climate change under 1.7 (Promote cooperation on human rights and good governance) and 3.5 (Address regional and global environmental challenges and promote sustainable development). Also, during the 3rd Human Rights Policy Dialogue in November 2019, the EU and ASEAN discussed issues related to women's rights, children's rights, impact of climate change on human rights, and business and human rights.

Bilateral and multilateral providers of development co-operation are still the major contributors to international climate change mitigation and adaptation programming. For their outcomes to be sustainable, however, cooperation on adaptation and human rights programmes must be based on principles of equality and non-discrimination. Furthermore, pursuant to relevant human rights principles, climate assistance should be adequate, effective, and transparent; it should be administered through participatory, accountable, and non-discriminatory processes; and it should be targeted toward persons most in need.

According to the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), although "some providers are already working towards embedding stronger climate action in their mandates, strategies and operations, evidence shows that, overall, they have yet to fully accomplish this".⁵⁵ It concludes that development co-operation providers are not yet adequately set up to address the climate emergency and that a broader scope is needed if development co-operation providers are to align all of their activities, including policy support and capacity development, with the objectives of the Paris Agreement. Disaster risk reduction, transfer of technology, and research collaborations are also

important aspects of development cooperation as they are crucial in the fight against climate change and the promotion of human rights and fundamental freedoms.

The UN Guiding Principles on **Business and Human Rights** (UNGP) confirm that businesses also have human rights responsibilities. They reaffirm that "all responsible actors should be held accountable for the negative impacts of their activities and that all actors share responsibility for remedying these impacts." While the Guiding Principles do not address climate change directly, they are relevant to the climate mitigation efforts of states, businesses, and other stakeholders. There is growing consensus that all states have a duty to protect against human rights abuse by business within their territory and/or jurisdiction, including with respect to climate change. In parallel, companies are encouraged to implement due diligence practices across their supply chains to identify, prevent, and address human rights-related risks of their activities and business relationships. In 2011, the European Parliament adopted a resolution on corporate due diligence with recommendations to the European Commission setting out principles on mandatory corporate due diligence for human rights, environmental and governance impacts through value chains. At the same time, an increasing number of countries in Asia are in the process of developing policy frameworks to implement the UNGR⁵⁸

In order to mobilise resources, knowledge, and innovation for addressing climate change and promoting green growth, engagement with the private sector is critical. While companies play an increasingly important role in driving green growth in both developing and developed countries by promoting greener behaviour across their supply chains, there are no concrete instruments within the Paris Agreement that hold state and corporate actors accountable for their impact on climate change and the exercise of human rights.⁵⁹ While a set of implementation guidelines - initially described as the 'Paris Rulebook'- (partially) adopted⁶⁰ at the 24th Conference of the Parties (COP24) in Katowice 2018, are critical in enhancing accountability, trust, and compliance, as well as ensuring that the Paris Agreement contributes to mitigating the impact of climate change on the enjoyment of human rights⁶¹, it remains unclear to what extent non-state actors are accountable and expected to contribute to the achievement of the objectives of the Agreement.⁶² The role of nonstate actors is part of the continuing negotiations on Article 6 concerning creation of a cooperation framework for the implementation of international emissions trade. The negotiations on Article 6, which are expected to continue at the COP26 in 2021, offer an opportunity to integrate human rights protections such as stakeholder consultations, environmental and social safeguards, and an independent redress mechanism which allows communities to seek remedy when projects under the mechanism cause harm.

Transitioning from the current development pathway to a low-carbon, climate-resilient one will require significant **investment and innovation**. At the Climate Change Summit in Copenhagen in 2009, a clear promise was made to provide financial support to developing countries. The so-called \$100 billion target was adopted at that point. However, **climate finance** still lacks an agreed upon definition despite some international initiatives. A human rights-based approach to⁶³ climate finance would mean respect for human rights, as well as human rights-based principles such as non-discrimination and participation, that must be maintained at every stage of climate-related efforts

and processes.⁶⁴ It would also entail that international assistance for climate change mitigation and adaptation be additional to existing **Official Development Assistance (ODA)** commitments. However, climate finance and green technologies promised in 2009 under the Paris agreement have not met their agreed targets, and as raised at the recent UN-ECOSOC Development Cooperation Forum, the current levels of funding available for climate actions in developing countries are not sufficient nor geared towards meeting the goals of the Paris Agreement.⁶⁵

However, the immense public funds committed to support the economic recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic present an unprecedented opportunity to design and invest in a just recovery that is Parisaligned, environmentally sound, and human rights-compatible.⁶⁶

The need for innovative solutions in the areas of climate change mitigation and adaptation is an opportunity for companies to develop new products and services and serve new markets. In addition, investors and banks are potential sources of investment for clean infrastructure. **Green and sustainable finance** are innovative solutions that take into account environmental, social, and governance (ESG) considerations and include climate change mitigation and adaptation, as well as human rights issues. In this respect, initiatives such as the International Platform on Sustainable Finance (IPSF) aim at strengthening international cooperation and scaling up the mobilisation of private capital towards environmentally sustainable investments.

Guiding questions

- 1. Having been recognised as a 'common' concern' of humanity since the late 1980s⁶⁷, climate change is an issue in respect of which all States have common concerns and shared obligations. Going forward, how can the recognition of the link between climate change and human rights in the Paris Agreement be strengthened in order to give human rights concerns greater weight within the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) negotiating process? What is the best way to convince the UNFCCC to develop guidelines on how to integrate the human rights dimensions into Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs)?
- 2. Are the existing frameworks conducive enough to encourage international cooperation on combined action regarding climate change and human rights? Is there a common interest to revitalise the **Geneva Pledge for Human Rights in Climate Action**?
- 3. Given that many countries have to respond to the adverse effects of climate change at the local and national levels, what are the implications for regional and international cooperation (institutions and resources) for both human rights and climate change concerns? How can the strategic partnership between Europe and Asia be strengthened in terms of cooperation on human rights and climate change?
- 4. Given their broad and flexible mandate, National Human Rights Institutes (NHRIs) are well placed to seek remedies to human rights violation concerns resulting from the adverse impacts of climate change and national climate change-related frameworks. One good example being the inquiry by the Commission on Human Rights of the Philippines (CHR) calling for an

investigation into the responsibility of 47 fossil fuel companies, 'the Carbon Majors', for fuelling catastrophic climate change resulting in human rights violations. ⁶⁸ **How can the role of NHRIs** as an interface between civil society, government, the private sector, and the international community be strengthened and supported? Can you share other good examples of NHRI collaborations in promoting and protecting human rights in relation to climate change?

- 5. How can international development cooperation providers better integrate the climate imperative into their mandate and systems for the purpose of ensuring inclusive and sustainable development, while respecting a human rights-based approach? Are there any flagship projects promoted by international cooperation relevant to climate action and human rights that could be highlighted here?
- 6. How can a **principle-oriented approach** in climate action and human rights-based programming be ensured?
- 7. In view of a **post-COVID economic recovery**, what can be done to build back greener and fairer while taking into account the need to enhance **due diligence in supply chain processes**?
- 8. **Scaling up funding for sustainable programmes** and involving the **private sector** is not an easy task. However, there are a growing number of pilot projects that lead the way. Which are the major flagship projects in this respect to be highlighted in the ASEM region? What are the main existing hurdles for the private sector involvement?
- 9. Is there a way to spur international and regional initiatives to better define **climate finance** and its relationship with human rights?

4. Taking stock of national and international human rights regimes to protect against the consequences of climate change

Climate change threatens the future of human rights and risks undoing the last 50 years of progress in development, global health, and poverty reduction. The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change and the Human Rights Council (Resolution 41/21) highlighted that climate change has an impact on, among others, the rights to life, self-determination, development, health, food, water and sanitation, adequate housing, and a range of civil and political rights. Along with other international organisations and experts, the UN is therefore calling for the global recognition of the right to a healthy, sustainable, and safe environment as a universal right.

There is the widespread view that climate change should be considered an emergency, that governments should act accordingly and that human rights experts could play an important role in clarifying access to justice and the legal requirements around climate action and holding states accountable for their actions.

As the principal United Nations intergovernmental body responsible for promoting and protecting human rights, the **Human Rights Council (HRC)** has addressed the issue of the impact of climate

change on human rights. Its resolution 44/7, adopted in 2020, clearly states that "human rights obligations, standards and principles have the potential to inform and strengthen international, regional and national policymaking in the area of climate change, thereby promoting policy coherence, legitimacy and sustainable outcomes". ⁶⁹ The Council has contributed to raising awareness on the links between climate change and human rights by adopting a number of resolutions since 2008, with the most recent one recognising the disproportionate impacts of climate change on older persons. ⁷⁰

Since 2008, the **UN special procedures** mandates, i.e., independent human rights experts, have reported on human rights from a geographical or a thematic perspective. Several of them have been actively involved in addressing the impacts of climate change on human rights. For example, the Special Rapporteur on the issue of human rights obligations relating to the enjoyment of a safe, clean, healthy and sustainable environment wrote, in its 2016 report, that "states have obligations to adopt legal and institutional frameworks that protect against, and respond to, environmental harm that may or does interfere with the enjoyment of human rights".⁷¹ The appointment of a UN Special Rapporteur specifically focused on human rights and climate change has been a longstanding request from various civil society organisations (CSOs), but this has gained momentum among states in the past two years. During the 46th session of the Human Rights Council (HRC) in March 2021, a cross-regional group of 56 States joined Bangladesh in a statement that called upon Council members to consider creating this new mandate and to establish a new Special Rapporteur on human rights and climate change at the 47th session of the Human Rights Council.⁷²

The **human rights treaty bodies**, on the other hand, have addressed climate change and human rights in a number of statements, concluding observations, and general comments. Out of all the treaty bodies, the **Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (CESCR)** has produced the most extensive and focused account to date and affirmed in 2018 that the "failure to prevent foreseeable human rights harm caused by climate change, or a failure to mobilise the maximum available resources in an effort to do so, could constitute a breach of its legal obligations".⁷³ In the same year, 42% of the Committee's Concluding Observations on States' reports addressed climate change.⁷⁴

In its general comment No. 36 (2018) on the right to life, the United Nations **Human Rights Committee** broke important new ground by recognising that "environmental degradation, climate change and unsustainable development constitute some of the most pressing and serious threats to the ability of present and future generations to enjoy the right to life". The A case brought by Torres Strait Islanders against Australia accusing the government of failing to take action to reduce emissions or pursue adaptation measures was submitted to the Committee in 2019. Furthermore, in its first ruling on a complaint by an individual seeking asylum from the effects of climate change, the Committee concluded in 2020 that countries may not deport individuals who face climate change-induced conditions that violate the right to life under article 6 of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR).

In its general recommendation No. 37, issued in 2018, the **Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW)** highlighted the steps needed to mainstream gender in the prevention of and response to climate change and environmental disasters. It also underscored the

key principles of non-discrimination and equality, participation and empowerment, accountability, and access to justice. For its part, the **Committee on the Rights of the Child (CRC)** has highlighted in its general comment No.15 the impacts of climate change and environmental degradation on children's right to health.

However, despite these important remarks and observations, an in-depth analysis of the three most engaged treaty bodies (CESCR, CRC, CEDAW) shows that just 9% of references to climate change since 2008 have dealt with mitigation, the issue of greatest importance for reversing the current trajectory.⁷⁷

An increasing number of national courts in the EU hold member states accountable for the climate crisis. At the **regional level**, the **European Court of Human Rights** has clearly established that various types of environmental degradation can result in violations of substantive human rights, such as the rights to life, private and family life, and the peaceful enjoyment of the home, and the prohibition of inhuman and degrading treatment. The European Court of Human Rights is currently, for example, considering a case initiated by four Portuguese children and two young adults against 33 governments – all EU states as well as Norway, Russia, Switzerland, Turkey, Ukraine, and the United Kingdom – on the grounds that heat waves and forest fires interfere with their right to life and harm their physical and mental wellbeing. While the lawsuit is in its early stages, and no decision on its admissibility or substance has been made yet, the court has decided to fast-track the case, recognising the importance and urgency of the issues raised.

Climate litigation is an emerging phenomenon. Indeed, according to the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP), more than 850 climate change cases have been filed in 24 countries and "as of 1 July 2020, the number of cases has nearly doubled with at least 1,550 climate change cases filed in 38 countries".⁸⁰

Climate litigation is compelling governments and corporate actors to pursue more ambitious climate change mitigation and adaptation goals, as was the case in *Urgenda Foundation v. State of Netherlands*, whereby a group of Dutch citizens successfully challenged the Dutch Government for not taking sufficiently ambitious action to reduce greenhouse gas emissions based on tort and human rights law arguments. Besides the overall increase in the number of climate litigation cases, human rights arguments are being used as support in an increasing number of cases.⁸¹ At the time of writing, the Grantham Research Institute on Climate Change and the Environment at the London School of Economics lists a total of 33 climate litigation cases in Asia and Europe that make some reference to human rights.⁸²

As citizens are increasingly turning to courts in order to access justice and exercise their right to a healthy environment, it becomes clear that the justice system has an essential role to play in addressing the climate crisis.

Despite the increasing number of climate change litigation cases, it seems that the United Nations as well as the human rights institutions have not yet fully explored the advantages of a human

rights-based approach to climate change. By approaching climate change from a human rights perspective, the discussion moves from the political arena to the area of legally binding instruments under international law.

Guiding questions

- 1. What ways are there to promote the adoption and strengthening and implementation of legislation aligned with a comprehensive human rights-based approach to climate action? What are the key challenges in this regard?
- 2. How can one ensure that **measures** of climate change mitigation and adaptation are **ambitious**, **non-discriminatory**, **and compliant with fundamental human rights obligations**?
- 3. Is there a need for an international authority within the UN system to regulate and provide coordinated focus on climate change issues? Would, for example, appointing a UN Special Rapporteur on Human Rights and Climate Change ensure greater consistency in the way human rights and climate change are addressed, as has been suggested by civil society organisations⁸³?
- 4. The independence of National Human Rights Institutes (NHRI) can enable them to pursue human rights cases that might be overlooked by government bodies or the prosecution due, for example, political or bureaucratic complacency. How can the role of NHRIs in planning and implementing national climate commitments, laws and policies be further strengthened? Any examples of good practices of NHRI involvement on climate change that could be highlighted here?
- 5. Are there viable initiatives in your country/region that push for the recognition of the right to a healthy and safe environment as a universal right? What lessons can be learned from the environment-related cases and the jurisprudence developed by constitutional courts in some countries?
- 6. To what extent have **climate litigation** cases been effective in bringing about change in attitudes of courts and lawmakers, and providing remedies where other areas of law do not?
- 7. The principle of equity, including intergenerational equity, is recognised in the UNFCCC which calls for all parties to "protect the climate system for the benefit of present and future generations of humankind, on the basis of equity and in accordance with their common but differentiated responsibilities and respective capabilities." Is the current human rights and climate change framework adequate in protecting the rights of future generations from climate change related threats? What can be done to encourage more countries to recognise their rights?

Endnotes

- https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/2018/02/ar5_wgll_spm_en.pdf (p.6)
- 2 https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/FSheet38_FAQ_HR_CC_EN.pdf
- 3 https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(15)60854-6/fulltext#back-bib1
- 4 According to the Food and Agriculture Organisation (FAO), the nearly 80 percent of the world's poor who live in rural areas and typically rely on agriculture, forestry and fisheries for their survival are particularly affected by climate change. http://www.fao.org/3/CA3204EN/ca3204en.pdf (o. N.)
- 5 https://www.unicef.org/media/49621/file/UNICEF_Thirsting_for_a_Future_ENG.pdf (p.8)
- 6 https://www.unhcr.org/news/latest/2020/11/5fbf73384/climate-change-defining-crisis-time-particularly-impacts-displaced.html
- 7 https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/FSheet38_FAQ_HR_CC_EN.pdf (p. 19)
- 8 "Individuals and groups who, in their personal or professional capacity and in a peaceful manner, strive to protect and promote human rights relating to the environment, including water, air, land, flora and fauna", https://www.unep.org/explore-topics/environmental-rights-and-governance/what-we-do/advancing-environmental-rights/who
- 9 https://undocs.org/A/71/281; 5
- https://www.frontlinedefenders.org/sites/default/files/fid_global_analysis_2020.pdf; See also report by the Special Rapporteur on the situation of human rights defenders (2020) at https://undocs.org/en/A/75/165. The report highlights that human rights defender working on the climate crisis are among most exposed groups to violent attacks and violations.
- 11 Le Billon, Philippe & Lujala, Päivi. (2020). Environmental and land defenders: Global patterns and determinants of repression. Global Environmental Change. 65. 10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2020.102163.
- 12 https://www.europarl.europa.eu/doceo/document/TA-9-2021-0245_EN.pdf (p.6, para R)
- 13 https://www.ciel.org/Publications/Male_Declaration_Nov07.pdf
- 14 https://ap.ohchr.org/documents/E/HRC/resolutions/A HRC RES 7 23.pdf
- https://ap.ohchr.org/documents/E/HRC/resolutions/A HRC RES 10 4.pdf
- 16 https://undocs.org/A/HRC/RES/41/21 (p.2)
- 17 https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/english_paris_agreement.pdf
- 18 particularly on key points related to the rules for Article 6 on international carbon markets and cooperation measures.
- 19 https://www.ciel.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/Rights-in-a-Changing-Climate_SinglePage.pdf (p. 32)
- 20 https://cdn.aseminfoboard.org/documents/1-Final_Version_of_the_Ministerial_Statement_on_COVID_19.pdf (p. 6)
- 21 Ibid
- 22 https://www.ohchr.org/en/professionalinterest/pages/righttodevelopment.aspx
- 23 Boyd (2019) Report of the Special Rapporteur on the issue of human rights obligations relating to the enjoyment of a safe, clean, healthy, and sustainable environment. UN General Assembly. Report number: A/74/161
- 24 http://www.un-documents.net/rio-dec.htm (Chapter 10)
- 25 https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/english_paris_agreement.pdf
- 26 https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/FSheet38_FAQ_HR_CC_EN.pdf (p.22)
- 27 https://www.europarl.europa.eu/doceo/document/TA-9-2021-0245_EN.pdf (p.7, para W)
- 28 https://web.law.columbia.edu/sites/default/files/microsites/climate-change/climate_change_and_human_rights.pdf (p.16)
- 29 https://unfccc.int/resource/docs/convkp/conveng.pdf
- 30 https://www.who.int/globalchange/GenderClimateChangeHealthfinal.pdf (p.2)
- 31 Gender, climate change and health (2014). World Health Organization (WHO) report, available at: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/144781/9789241508186_eng.pdf;jsessionid=D67F3D2064D697FD8B1C0081FA8CB075?sequence=1
- 32 https://portals.iucn.org/library/sites/library/files/documents/2020-002-En.pdf
- 33 https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/ClimateChange/materials/2PGenderLight.pdf (p.2)
- COP 18 decision 23/CP18 on "Promoting gender balance and improving the participation of women in UNFCCC negotiations and in the representation of Parties in bodies established pursuant to the Convention or the Kyoto Protocol"; and COP 20 decision 18/CP20 on "Lima work programme on gender".
- 35 "Gender and Climate Change. Overview of linkages between gender and climate change" (2016). Policy Brief. UNDP
- 36 https://www.internal-displacement.org/disasters-and-climate-change
- 37 file:///C:/Users/JHI333/Downloads/5866%20(3).pdf
- 38 "Migration and Climate Change" (2015) in the IOM Migration Research Series. No. 31, p. 10
- 39 https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/-ed_dialogue/-sector/documents/publication/wcms_208090.pdf
- ${\tt 40} \qquad https://www.wiego.org/sites/default/files/resources/files/WIEGO_Urban_Informal_Workers_\ Green_Economy.pdf$
- 41 https://undocs.org/A/HRC/44/30
- 42 Indigenous peoples and climate change: from victims to change agents through decent work / International Labour Office, Gender, Equality and Diversity Branch. Geneva: ILO, 2017. Available at: https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/-dgreports/-gender/documents/publication/wcms_551189.pdf
- 43 Ibid

Endnotes

- 44 https://www.uncclearn.org/wp-content/uploads/library/unfpa25.pdf
- 45 See e.g., Pride in the Humanitarian System Consultation Report (2018), Available at: https://asiapacific.unwomen.org/en/digital-library/publications/2018/12/pride-in-the-humanitarian-system-consultation-report#view
- 46 https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/COP21 HelpAge PositionPaper Final 0.pdf
- 47 https://www.ohchr.org/EN/Issues/HRAndClimateChange/Pages/RightsOlderPersons.aspx
- 48 https://www.nanseninitiative.org/
- 49 https://www.ohchr.org/en/professionalinterest/pages/cescr.aspx (articles 1, 2, 11)
- 50 https://cdn.aseminfoboard.org/documents/2019-12-16-ASEM-FMM-Chairs-Statement.pdf (article 5)
- 51 https://www.cbd.int/cop/cop-13/hls/cancun%20declaration-en.pdf
- 52 Chile, Costa Rica, France, Guatemala, Ireland, Kiribati, Maldives, Marshall Islands, Micronesia, Mexico, Palau, Panama, Peru, Philippines, Uganda, Uruguay, Samoa, and Sweden.
- 53 https://carbonmarketwatch.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/The-Geneva-Pledge-13FEB2015.pdf
- 54 https://asean.org/storage/2017/08/ASEAN-EU-POA-2018-2022-Final.pdf
- 55 https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/sites/5099ad91-en/index.html?itemId=/content/publication/5099ad91-en
- 56 Ibid.
- 57 https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/ClimateChange/COP21.pdf (p. 8)
- https://www.thejakartapost.com/academia/2021/02/19/adopting-human-rights-due-diligence-is-good-business-for-companies.html
- 59 https://www.europarl.europa.eu/doceo/document/TA-9-2021-0245 EN.pdf (p.5)
- 60 Due to be finalised at the 26th Conference of the Parties (COP-26) to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) in 2021.
- 61 https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/903.pdf
- 62 Streck, C. (2021). Strengthening the Paris Agreement by Holding Non-State Actors Accountable: Establishing Normative Links between Transnational Partnerships and Treaty Implementation. Transnational Environmental Law. 1-23. doi:10.1017/S2047102521000091
- 63 Which the UN defines as "a conceptual framework for the process of human development that is normatively based on international human rights standards and operationally directed to promoting and protecting human rights." See https://unsdg.un.org/2030-agenda/universal-values/ human-rights-based-approach
- 64 https://www.svenskakyrkan.se/filer/8385_SK20032-MR-och-klimatfinansiering-eng_utskrift.pdf (p. 8)
- 65 https://www.un.org/press/en/2021/ecosoc7046.doc.htm
- Funding Our Future: Five Pillars for Advancing Rights-Based Climate Finance (March 2021), Center for International Environmental Law (CIEL), p. 2
- 67 See UNGA Resolution 43/53 on Global Climate Change (1988); 1992 Convention on Climate Change (Preamble).
- https://www.business-humanrights.org/en/latest-news/carbon-majors-can-be-held-liable-for-human-rights-violations-philippines-commission-
- 69 https://undocs.org/A/HRC/RES/44/7 (17th preambular para)
- 70 See https://undocs.org/en/A/HRC/RES/44/7 (2020)
- 71 https://undocs.org/A/HRC/31/52 (para 65, p. 16)
- 72 https://www.fidh.org/en/international-advocacy/united-nations/an-open-letter-by-global-civil-society-and-indigenous-peoples-for-the
- 73 https://www.ohchr.org/en/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=23691&LangID=E (para 6)
- 74 https://undocs.org/A/HRC/41/39 (p.7)
- 75 https://undocs.org/A/HRC/41/39
- 76 https://www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=25482
- 77 https://undocs.org/A/HRC/41/39 (p.6)
- 78 https://www.europarl.europa.eu/doceo/document/A-9-2021-0039_EN.pdf (p.7)
- 79 http://climatecasechart.com/climate-change-litigation/non-us-case/youth-for-climate-justice-v-austria-et-al/
- 80 https://www.unep.org/resources/report/global-climate-litigation-report-2020-status-review#:~:text=It%20finds%20that%20a%20 rapid,cases%20filed%20in%2038%20countries.
- 81 https://www.lse.ac.uk/granthaminstitute/publication/global-trends-in-climate-change-litigation-2020-snapshot/
- 82 http://climatecasechart.com/climate-change-litigation/
- 83 https://www.ciel.org/reports/special-rapporteur-on-human-rights-climate-change/

Glossary

ADB Asian Development Bank

AICHR ASEAN Intergovernmental Commission on Human Rights

ARAIBA Responsible and Inclusive Business Alliance
ASEAN The Association of South-East Asian Nations

ASEF Asia-Europe Foundation ASEM Asia-Europe Meeting

ASEMHRS21 The 21st Informal ASEM Seminar on Human Rights

BIMSTEC Bay of Bengal Initiative for Multi-Sectoral Technical and Economic Cooperation

CBD Convention on Biological Diversity

CEDAW Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination Against Women

CER Corporate Environmental Responsibility

CESCR Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights

COE Council of Europe
COP Conference of Parties

CRC Committee on the Rights of the Child

CSO Civil society organisation
DRR Disaster risk reduction

ECHR European Convention on Human Rights
ECtHR European Court of Human Rights
EHRD Environmental human rights defenders
EIA Environmental Impact Assessment
EMP Environment Management Plan

EU European Union

ESG Environmental, Social, and Governance FPIC Free, prior, and informed consent

G7 Group of Seven
GHG Greenhouse gases

GIDA Geographically isolated and disadvantaged areas

HR Human rights

HRC UN Human Rights Council

IDMC Internal Displacement Monitoring Centre

ILO International Labour Organization

IPCC Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change

LGBTIQ Lesbian Gay Bisexual Transgender Intersex and Queer

NAP National Action Plan NCP National Contact Points

NCSD National Council for Sustainable Development

NDCs Nationally Determined Contributions
NGO Non-govrnmental organisation
NHRIs National Human Rights Institutions
ODA Official Development Assistance

OECD Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development

OHCHR Office of the High Commissioner on Human Rights

Glossary

REDD+ Reducing emissions from deforestation and forest degradation; conservation of

forest carbon stocks; sustainable management of forests; enhancement of forest

carbon stocks.

SAARC South Asian Association for Regional Cooperation

SDG Sustainable Development Goals
SIDS Small Island Developing States

SLAPP Strategic Lawsuits Against Public Participation

UN United Nations

UNCCD United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification
UNECE United Nations Economic Commission for Europe

UNEP UN Environmental Programme

UNGP UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights

UNICEF United Nations Children's Emergency Fund
UNFCCC UN Framework Convention on Climate Change
UNHCR United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees

UN-REDD United Nations REDD Programme

UPR Universal Periodic Review

WG Working Group

WHO World Health Organization

Annex 4

ABOUT THE CO-ORGANISERS



The **Asia-Europe Foundation (ASEF)** promotes understanding, strengthens relationships and facilitates cooperation among the people, institutions and organisations of Asia and Europe. ASEF enhances dialogue, enables exchanges and encourages collaboration across the thematic areas of culture, economy, education, governance, public health and sustainable development.

ASEF is an intergovernmental not-for-profit organisation located in Singapore. Founded in 1997, it is the only institution of the Asia-Europe Meeting (ASEM). Together with about 750 partner organisations ASEF has run more than 700 projects, mainly conferences, seminars and workshops. Over 20,000 Asians and Europeans have actively participated in its activities, and it has reached much wider audiences through its networks, web-portals, publications, exhibitions and lectures.

For more information, please visit www.ASEF.org



The **Raoul Wallenberg Institute** of Human Rights and Humanitarian Law is an independent academic institution dedicated to the promotion of human rights through research, training and education. Established in 1984 at the Faculty of Law at Lund University, Sweden, the institute is currently involved in organising in Lund two Masters Programs and an interdisciplinary human rights programme at the undergraduate level. Host of one of the largest human rights libraries in the Nordic countries and engaged in various research and publication activities, the Raoul Wallenberg Institute provides researchers and students with a conducive study environment. The Institute maintains extensive relationships with academic human rights institutions worldwide.

For more information, please visit www.rwi.lu.se



MINISTÈRE DE L'EUROPE ET DES AFFAIRES ÉTRANGÈRES The **Ministry for Europe and Foreign Affairs of France** a founding member of ASEM, is pleased to have supported the Informal ASEM Seminar on Human Rights since its inception in 1997.

For more information, please visit www.diplomatie.gouv.fr/en/

Annex 4



The **Department of Foreign Affairs of the Philippines** is the prime agency of the Philippine government responsible for the pursuit of the State's foreign policy. It is also responsible for the coordination and execution of the foreign policies of the country and the conduct of its foreign relations.

For more information, please visit www.dfa.gov.ph



Federal Department of Foreign Affairs FDFA

The **Federal Department of Foreign Affairs of Switzerland (FDFA)** forms and coordinates Swiss foreign policy on behalf of the Federal Council, pursues foreign policy objectives, safeguards the interests of Switzerland and promotes Swiss values.

For more information, please visit www.eda.admin.ch



The Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Peoples' Republic of China.

For more information, please visit www.fmprc.gov.cn/mfa

ABOUT THE HOST



The **Ministry of Foreign and European Affairs (MFEA)** defines and implements Luxembourg's foreign and European policy. It coordinates the Luxembourg government's external action. It endeavours to promote a coherent approach towards diplomacy, defence, development and immigration.

For more information, please visit https://maee.gouvernement.lu/en.html

ABOUT THE ASIA-EUROPE MEETING (ASEM)



The **Asia-Europe Meeting (ASEM)** is an intergovernmental forum for dialogue and cooperation established in 1996 to deepen relations between Asia and Europe, which addresses political, economic and socio-cultural issues of common concern.

ASEM brings together 53 partners (21 Asian and 30 European countries, the ASEAN Secretariat and the European Union).

For more information, please visit www.aseminfoboard.org

SPONSORS





